Toxicity assessments of nickel and urban road dust by a novel chronic sediment toxicity test using a freshwater benthic ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens*

(淡水産底生カイミジンコ Heterocypris incongruens を用いた新規底質慢 性毒性試験によるニッケルおよび都市道路塵埃の毒性評価)

NIYOMMANEERAT Wilailuk

ニヨマネラット ウィラルク

Toxicity assessments of nickel and urban road dust by a novel chronic sediment toxicity test using a freshwater benthic ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens*

(淡水産底生カイミジンコ Heterocypris incongruens を用いた新規底質慢 性毒性試験によるニッケルおよび都市道路塵埃の毒性評価)

NIYOMMANEERAT Wilailuk

ニヨマネラット ウィラルク

Department of Urban Engineering

Graduate School of Engineering

The University of Tokyo

JAPAN

March 2017

Toxicity assessments of nickel and urban road dust by a novel chronic sediment toxicity test using a freshwater benthic ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens*

(淡水産底生カイミジンコ Heterocypris incongruens を用いた新規底質慢 性毒性試験によるニッケルおよび都市道路塵埃の毒性評価)

by

NIYOMMANEERAT Wilailuk

ニヨマネラット ウィラルク

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate School of Engineering, The University of Tokyo in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Examination committee:

Assoc. Prof. Fumiyuki NAKAJIMA (Chairperson)

Prof. Kazuo YAMAMOTO

Prof. Hiroaki FURUMAI

Assoc. Prof. Ikuro KASUGA

Assoc. Prof. Chihiro YOSHIMURA

Department of Urban Engineering

Graduate School of Engineering

The University of Tokyo

JAPAN

March 2017

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

It would not be possible to conduct this research without the precious support of the various people involved during the research period. First and Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Assoc. Prof. Fumiyuki Nakajima for the continuous support during my Ph.D. study and research, for his patience, motivation, enthusiasm, and immense knowledge. His guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing the thesis. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor in my Ph.D. study.

Besides my advisor, my great appreciation goes to the rest of my thesis committees: Assoc. Prof. Chihiro Yoshimura (Water Environment Lab, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Graduate School of Science and Engineering, Tokyo Institute of Technology, Japan), Prof. Kazuo Yamamoto who also provided me a great opportunity to join his laboratory. Prof. Hiroaki Furumai, Assoc. Prof. Ikuro Kasuga. Special gratitude to all of them for their encouragement, insightful comments, and hard questions which incented me to widen my research from various perspectives. I would like to give special thank for Assist. Prof. Tomohiro Tobino for his comments and suggestions during the various research meetings.

I thank all my labmates in the Department of Urban Engineering for the stimulating discussions during the meetings. I would like to express special thanks to all the members in Yamamoto-Nakajima laboratory, especially Dr. Kyoshiro Hiki, Ms. Meena Yanagihara for their valuable comments and helpful during the laboratory works and meetings. In particular, I am grateful to Dr. Jenyuk Lohwacharin for all his supports and suggestions, Dr. Rajendra Khanal for enlightening me the first glance of research and used his sediment sample also his comments and suggestions on my first manuscript. In addition, I would say thank for Dr. Jatuwat Sangsanont for all his supports and Dr. Jason Torzewski for his help in English editing. Special thanks to my friend Ms. Kultip Suwanteep (Bo) for being supportive, encouragement and always beside me. Special thanks to all of Thai members in our department for their supports and inspiration.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank all my family members who always there for me: my dad, my mom, my aunt, my brother and sister for supporting me spiritually throughout my life. Their love and cheerful always help me overcome a hard time during my study. My grandfather as I wish you were here.

My sincere thanks go to all staff in the Department of Urban Engineering, The University of Tokyo who helps and gave access to the laboratory and research facilities.

To all relatives, friends and others who shared their support either morally and physically, thank you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	i
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ii
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
LIST OF TABLES	vii
ABSTRACT	viii

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	. 1
1.1.Background	. 1
1.2.Statement of the problem	4
1.3.Research Objectives	5
1.4.Structure of the research work	6

CHAPTER 2. REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE AND STUDIES	
2.1. Toxicity testing	
2.1.1. Acute and chronic toxicity testing	
2.1.2. Endpoints of toxicity testing	9
2.1.3. Acute to chronic ratio (ACR)	10
2.2. Sediment toxicity tests	10
2.3. Heavy metals in the aquatic environment and their ecotoxicity	14
2.3.1. Toxicity of nickel in the aquatic environment	15
2.3.2. Toxicity of chromium in the aquatic environment	16
2.3.3. Toxicity of zinc in the aquatic environment	17
2.4. Urban road dust and its toxicity	18
2.5.Summary	20

CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1. Introduction	
3.2. Test medium	
3.2.1. Standard Freshwater (SFW)	
3.2.2. C-medium	

3.3. Test organisms	
3.4.Food for ostracod	
3.4.1. Algae cultivation	
3.4.2. Preparation of algae suspension for ostracod food	
3.4.3. TetraMin	
3.5. Standard ostracod toxicity test (ISO14371)	
3.6. Test chemicals	
3.7. Urban road dust sample	
3.8. Statistical analysis	

CHAPTER 4. METHODOLOGY PROPOSAL OF A CHRONIC SEDIMENT TOXCITY TEST USING THE BENTHIC OSTRACOD HETEROCYPRIS

INCONGRUENS	28
4.1.Introduction	28
4.2. Selection of test organism, test procedure, test conditions and endpoint of chroni ostracod toxicity test	c 30
4.2.1. Test organism	30
4.2.2. Test phases	31
4.2.3. Test conditions	31
4.2.4. Endpoint of a chronic sediment toxicity test	34
4.2.5. Test acceptability criteria	35
4.3. Proposal of the method and detailed procedure of chronic ostracod toxicity test	36
4.3.1. Experimental design	36
4.3.2. Endpoints	37
4.4. Summary	44

CHAPTER 5. EVALUATION OF TEST REPEATABILITY FOR A CHRONIC SEDIMENT TOXICITY TEST USING THE BENTHIC OSTRACOD

HETEROCYPRIS INCONGRUENS	
5.1. Introduction	45
5.2. Materials and methods	46
5.2.1. Test medium	46
5.2.2. Test organisms	46
5.2.3. Test sediment and test preparation	46
5.2.4. Repeatability of chronic ostracod toxicity test	46

5.2.5. Statistical analysis	47
5.3. Results and discussion	48
5.3.1. Repeatability of the chronic ostracod toxicity test	48
5.3.2. Test acceptability criteria	51
5.3.3. Effect of food on <i>H. incongruens</i> reproduction	53
5.3.4. Endpoint variability in the chronic ostracod toxicity test	53
5.4. Summary	55

6.1. Introduction	. 56
6.2. Materials and methods	. 58
6.2.1. Test chemicals	. 58
6.2.2. Test organisms	. 58
6.2.3. Chronic ostracod toxicity test	. 58
6.2.4. Statistical analysis	. 58
6.3. Results and discussions	. 59
6.3.1. Toxicity of nickel on reproduction of a benthic ostracod <i>H. incongruens</i>	. 60
6.3.2. Acute to chronic ratio (ACR) of nickel and sensitivity comparison with	•••••
other test species	. 66
6.4.Summary	. 70

CHAPTER 7. TOXICITY ASSESSMENTS OF URBAN ROAD DUST ON REPRODUCTION OF THE BENTHIC OSTRACOD *HETEROCYPRIS*

INCONGRUENS	72
7.1. Introduction	72
7.2. Materials and methods	74
7.2.1. Test organism	74
7.2.2. Standard ostracod toxicity test (ISO14371)	74
7.2.3. Chronic ostracod toxicity test	74
7.2.4. Toxicity assessment of URD	74
7.2.5. Statistical analysis	75
7.3. Results and discussions	76
7.3.1. Toxicity assessment of URD on <i>H. incongruens</i>	76

7.3.2. Toxicity variability in URD	. 82
7.3.3. Acute to chronic ratio (ACR) of URD	. 84
7.4.Summary	. 85

CHAPTER 8. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	86
8.1. Conclusions	86
8.2. Recommendations	89

 REFERNCES
 APPENDICES
 APPENDIX A
 APPENDIX B
 APPENDIX C
 APPENDIX D

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Ostracod species: <i>Heterocypris incongruens</i> 4
Figure 1.2. Thesis structure7
Figure 3.1. Procedure of 6-day ostracod toxicity test25
Figure 3.2. Road dust collected by cleaning vehicle
Figure 4.1. TetraMin after sieving by 250 µm mesh screen34
Figure 4.2. The hatching of ostracod cysts and procedure of 14-day sediment
exposure phase, the procedure of reproduction phase and hatching test41
Figure 6.1. Dose-response relationships between (a) 14 d mortality of ostracod and (b) 14 d growth inhibition with nickel concentrations. The broken lines show 95% upper and lower confidence limits (95%UCL and LCL). Error bar represents standard error
Figure 6.2 Relationships between reproduction of ostracod and nickel concentrations (a) mean lifespan for all individual and egg-laying ratio, (b) mean lifespan for egg- laying individual, first day of brooding and mean day of egg production, (c) lifetime egg production for all individual and egg-laying individual, (d) hatching ratio and F2 generation rate. Error bar represents standard error
Figure 7.1. Dose-response relationships between 6 d <i>H. incongruens</i> mortality with different concentrations of urban road dust (v/v) in reference sediments. The broken lines express 95% upper and lower confidence limits (95% UCL and LCL). Error bars represent standard errors
Figure 7.2. Dose-response relationships between 14 d <i>H. incongruens</i> mortality with different concentrations of urban road dust (v/v) in reference sediments. The broken lines express 95% upper and lower confidence limits (95% UCL and LCL). Error bars represent standard errors

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. List of standard sediment toxicity test for freshwater invertebrates	12
Table 3.1. Composition of standard freshwater (SFW).	21
Table 3.2. Composition of C medium.	22
Table 3.3. Contents of P _{IV} multi metals solution.	22
Table 4.1. Timeline of ostracod chronic toxicity test	38
Table 4.2. Comparison of test conditions between 6-day ostracod toxicity test and chronic ostracod toxicity test	40
Table 4.3. Endpoints of the ostracod toxicity test	42
Table 5.1. The overlying water quality, 14 d mortality and 14 d body lengths of ostracods in the RF sediment for each batch of the control tests	49
Table 5.2. The life history and reproduction characteristics of ostracods in RF sediments	50
Table 5.3. The summary of 14 d mortality, 14 d body length, life history, andreproduction characteristics of <i>H. incongruens</i> in RF sediments and the testacceptability criteria for the chronic ostracod toxicity test	52
Table 6.1. Test validity: 14 d mortality, 14 d body length and life history reproduction	
characteristics of ostracod <i>H. incongruens</i> under control condition	59
Table 6.2. Life history characteristics of ostracod under control and after exposure to different concentrations of nickel	65
Table 6.3. Freshwater toxicity data of nickel and acute to chronic ratio (ACR)	67
Table 7.1. The overlying water quality, 6 d mortality, and 6 d growth inhibition in 6 d ostracod toxicity test with different URD concentrations	77
Table 7.2. The overlying water quality, 14 d mortality, and 14 d growth inhibition inthe chronic toxicity test with different URD concentrations	80
Table 7.3. The life history and reproduction characteristics of <i>H. incongruens</i> under control conditions and after exposure to different URD concentrations	81

ABSTRACT

Sediment contamination poses significant environmental problems for aquatic ecosystems. Contaminated sediments contain a wide range of chemical substances such as heavy metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and polychlorinated biphenyls that degrade water quality and adversely affect aquatic organisms, particularly benthic organisms. Given that benthic organisms are the most likely to be in direct contact with and ingest the sediments, evaluating the effects of sediment-associated contaminants on benthic organisms is a direct measure of sediment quality and toxicity.

To test freshwater sediments, a cyst-based test using the benthic ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens* was successfully developed to reduce the burden of culturing and maintaining live stocks of organisms. The test was standardized as ISO 14371 in 2012. Toxicity effects on *H. incongruens* were assessed on the basis of their mortality as well as growth inhibition after a 6 d exposure to test sediments. The ISO 14371 endpoint is too short to observe the toxicity of contaminated sediments that may affect reproduction. Furthermore, in terms of aquatic conservation, the sublethal endpoint related to reproduction is required rather than the mortality rate of individual test organisms, which is still lacking in the conventional 6 d ostracod toxicity test.

This study aimed to develop and establish a new chronic sediment toxicity test using a freshwater benthic ostracod *H. incongruens*. The specific objectives include (1) To propose a new chronic sediment toxicity test using the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* by intensive literature surveys, (2) To evaluate the repeatability of the test method based on the coefficient of variation in each endpoint of proposed chronic test and to determine the test acceptability criteria for control sediment. *H. incongruens* reproduction parameters such as egg production, first day of brooding, egg-laying ratio, and hatching ratio were examined in this study. The life history and reproduction characteristics of *H. incongruens* in reference (RF) sediment (supplied from the Ostracodtoxkit) were investigated. The results from control tests would be necessary for future users of the chronic ostracod toxicity test by showing the test acceptability criteria of control sediment, (3) To provide application examples of the proposed chronic test using nickel and urban road dust whose chronic toxicity to ostracod has never been reported yet. At present, fundamental studies for URD toxicity are based on 6 d mortality and growth inhibition of ostracods. In this

study, the toxic effect of URD on ostracod reproduction was carried out in comparison with ISO 14371. The present study is expected to serve as the fundamental study on the chronic toxicity of URD to *H. incongruens*.

The chronic ostracod toxicity test was proposed based on the literature surveys for the suitability of freshwater ostracod H. incongruens as a cosmopolitan and representative benthic species including the advantage as cyst-based toxicity test. The proposed chronic test is composed of three consecutive phases as (1) a 14-day sediment exposure phase, (2) a reproduction phase, and (3) a hatching test. The 14-day sediment exposure phase was considered to expose ostracod in sediment until a few days before the release of the first brood. After that reproduction can be examined for all ostracod lifetime as well as the hatching test. The hatching test was simultaneously conducted in parallel with reproduction phase after ostracod laying the first brood of egg. The test and feeding conditions included a 24 h incubation of multi-well plates in the dark at 25°C, feeding the green algae (*Scenedesmus acutus*) at 3.0×10^7 cells/well during the first week, and feeding a TetraMin suspension for the remainder of the test. Previous studies examined the life history and reproduction characteristics of the ostracod H. incongruens that they can be used as reproductive endpoints. In this study, numerous endpoints were proposed for chronic ostracod toxicity test. Determinations of the 14 d mortality and growth inhibition compared with the controls are the effect criteria at the end of the 14-day sediment exposure period. Fecundity (e.g. life span, first day of brooding and egg-laying ratio etc.) are the measurement endpoints in the reproduction phase. Hatching rate and F2 generation rate of ostracod are the endpoint in the hatching test. However, to date, the repeatability and acceptability criteria of these endpoints have not been established for routine use for chronic ostracod toxicity test.

The test was first validated by determining the repeatability of the test method under seven control performances. The seven batches of the control tests (total 500 ostracods) were conducted using clean reference sediment as a part of the Ostracodtoxkit F (MicroBioTests Inc., Belgium). The results showed good test repeatability of most endpoints, with coefficient of variation (CV) results below 15%. However, lifetime egg production, hatching ratio, and the F2 generation rate were highly variable, with CVs ranging from 29.5% to 51.9%. The results from the control tests would be necessary for future users of the chronic ostracod toxicity test by setting the test acceptability criteria of

control sediment. The test acceptability criteria of control sediment were first proposed and established in this study. The 20% mortality rate was decided as the acceptability threshold for 14 d mortality and at least 900 µm for the 14 d body length of *H. incongruens*. The reproduction of *H. incongruens* in control sediment was regarded acceptable if the egg-laying ratio was in the range of 56.8–76.8%. The mean life span of all individuals was 20.1–29.3 d and 19.7–34.5 d for an egg-laying individual. First day of brooding and mean lifetime egg production were 18.9–22.9 d and 18.5–28.1 d, respectively. However, because the CVs for lifetime egg production, hatching ratio, and F2 generation rate were \geq 30%, no acceptability criteria were defined for those parameters. The proposed test acceptability criteria for control sediment were used to determine the validity of the control test in the following chapters.

After the test validation, nickel was used as a reference toxicant to assess the toxicity effect on the reproduction of the benthic ostracod H. incongruens. The ostracod was exposed with a series of nickel concentrations diluted with standard freshwater (SFW) in 10 times interval. The mortality of ostracod after a 14-day exposure to a highest concentration of nickel (1200 µgNi/l) was 41.7%. Thus, the estimated 14-d LC₅₀ was 2.95 $\times 10^3$ µgNi/l with a no-observed lethal concentration (14-d mortality) of 12 µgNi/l, and a 14-d LC₂₀ of 5.03 µgNi/l. Among the endpoint investigated in 14-day sediment exposure phase, the growth of ostracod was more sensitive than mortality with LOEC ≤ 0.012 µgNi/l for 14-d growth inhibition. Under sublethal concentration of nickel, it has an impact on ostracod reproduction. Mean life span decreased significantly (p < 0.05) in response to 120 and 1,200 µgNi/l. The egg-laying ratio was also significantly lower at these two concentrations. The no observed effect concentration (NOEC) was 12 µgNi/l for the egg-laying ratio and mean lifespan of all individuals. Furthermore, the statistically significant difference in hatching ratio (p < 0.05, Chi-square test) was obtained in 1.2, 12, 120, 1200 µgNi/l. F2 generation rate became lowest in the highest concentration of nickel (C6=1200 μ gNi/l) which the value ≤ 1 in 12, 120, 1200 μ gNi/l indicates the possibility of extinction of the ostracod population. However, C1 (0.012 µgNi/l) cause the higher hatching ratio and statistically significant difference was obtained. Base on the results of this study, the hatching ratio as well as F2 generation rate showed high variation with nickel concentrations and may not be reliable endpoint. Thus, the egg-laying ratio and mean lifespan of all individuals was considered as sensitive, reliable endpoint and further calculate ACR of nickel. The benthic ostracod H. incongruens had the highest ACR

among other test organisms. The high ACR demonstrated a great difference between the chronic and acute toxicities. From this view point, conducting only the acute toxicity test for *H. incongruens* may mislead to underestimate the nickel toxicity to ostracod. This indicates the importance of conducting the chronic toxicity test proposed in this study. However, it has to be considered for the wide-range of nickel concentrations as in 10 time interval. This would have a great effect on accuracy of ACRs in this study.

Urban road dust is one of the potential sources of sediment pollution as solid particles in urban road runoff. Next, an application example of the proposed chronic method was performed using a series of urban road dust (URD) samples diluted with reference sediment and compared to a 6 d H. incongruens toxicity test. After the 6-day exposure with diluted URD samples, the results showed that the 6 d-LC50 and LC20 (with 95% UCL and LCL) of URD sample was 30% (26 - 37%) and 14% (11-17%), respectively with a TU50 of 3.3. Additionally, the results of the proposed chronic test showed that the 14 d-LC50 with 95%CI of URD samples was 15%(3-82%) with a TU50 of 6.67. There was a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in 14 d mortality between the control and 12.5% URD, 25% URD, and 50% URD samples. A statistically significant difference (p <0.05) in 14 d growth inhibition was found for all concentration of URD. Non-observed effect concentrations in 6 d mortality and growth inhibition were 12.5% and 6.25% URD, respectively. On the other hand, a 6.25% URD sample in the proposed chronic test impacted *H. incongruens* reproduction. There were statistically significant differences on the first day of brooding and lowest hatching ratio so that the F2 generation rate became lowest (<1 indicating the possibility of extinction). Overall results suggest that low concentrations of URD were toxic to H. incongruens reproduction, which was not previously identified as toxin by a standard 6 d toxicity test (ISO 14371).

The chronic and acute toxicity data of URD was obtained in this study and further calculated ACR of URD (ACR=6.8; from MATC of first day of brooding= 4.42). Considering chronic toxicity units (TUc = 100/MATC) as the safety threshold, this URD could become non-toxic when it gets mixed with 23 times more clean sediment. ACR of URD can be generalized to use as a factor for estimating chronic toxicity on the basis of acute toxicity to other URDs or dilution ratio required for clean RF sediment of URD to become non-toxic. This approach can be used in the effective management of URD in

urban runoff and to estimate chronic thresholds of URD that protect the benthic community

The conclusion drawn from this study indicates the importance of conducting the chronic toxicity test as proposed in this study. Though, the application examples of chronic ostracod test were limited by using nickel and urban road dust. The study showed the first report of chronic nickel toxicity to *H. incongruens* as NOEC of 12 μ gNi/l for the egg-laying ratio and mean lifespan of all individuals. However, it has to be mentioned for the wide-range of nickel concentrations in 10 time interval. This would have a great effect on accuracy of ACRs. The definitive toxicity test of nickel using the proposed chronic test is recommended. Furthermore, the results of the chronic test using URD demonstrated that low concentrations of URD were toxic to *H. incongruens* reproduction, which was not determined by standard 6 d toxicity test (ISO 14371). It suggested that there was chronic effect of URD when carried out by runoff to water environment. ACR of URD was calculated to estimate chronic thresholds of URD. This finding would be beneficial for effectively managing URD in urban runoff pollution that protective the benthic community.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background

The term of sediment refers to the particles which settle or deposit at the bottom of water bodies. Sediment is important in aquatic ecosystems which is a habitat and food sources for a wide variety of aquatic organisms. The components in sediment are a complex and heterogeneous matrix consisting of solid particles and pore water phase (Kalinowski et al., 2011; Diepens et al., 2014). Solid particles are composed of inorganic and organic materials. Solid particles differ in grain size, chemical compositions, and surface areas such as sand, silt and clay, which influence the adsorption and binding for a number of metals and organic chemical substances. These substances enter water bodies in many ways mostly by anthropogenic activities. They sink to the bottom and become part of the sediment (Mulligan et al., 2009). Therefore, sediments act as an important sink and source for various pollutants such as heavy metal, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) (Middleton et al., 2003; Christensen et al., 2006; Oliveira et al., 2014). Several studies have been reported the effect of sediment-associated contaminants in the aquatic ecosystems, which degrade the water qualities causing adverse effects on aquatic organisms, particularly benthic organisms (Jiang et al., 2007; Karlsson et al., 2008; Koike et al., 2012).

Toxicity of sediment can be associated with acute or chronic depending on the dose of a chemical and the exposure time. Standard method for sediment toxicity tests have developed for short-term and long-term tests (Burton et al., 1996; US EPA, 2000). Acute toxicity test results in mortality effects on the test organisms. In contrast, chronic toxicity represents the long-term exposure to certain contaminants and results in changes in reproduction, growth or other behaviors of biological biota. The chronic tests would be able to provide information for the toxic effect on the population level. In term of ecotoxicology, the decision making on the exposure periods refers to the goal of the

assessment. The selection of the toxicity endpoints is also varying in their sensitivity and ecosystem relevance. The chronic exposure shows more realistic in the environment and therefore more ecologically relevant to determine (Ingersoll and Nelson, 1990; Simpson et al., 2005). The chronic tests with sublethal and reproductive endpoints are usually more preference than a lethal one. These remark the need of chronic toxicity tests against acute toxicity test.

Several approaches are available for evaluating the sediment quality including chemical analysis, sediment toxicity tests, and benthic community structure studies. The chemical analysis may provide some information about the presence of toxicants in sediments, but it is obvious that chemical analysis alone is not sufficient in interpreting toxicity to biota (Mulligan et al., 2009). Benthic community structure is a help to identify the contaminants which cause degradation in the benthic ecosystem. This approach shows more long-term exposure effects of the sediment compared to conventional acute or chronic toxicity tests (Burton et al., 1992). Additionally, sediment toxicity testing provides a more direct means of assessing the potential adverse effects of contaminated sediment (Chapman et al., 2002; Fernandez-Alba et al., 2002; Hartl et al., 2005; Reinier et al., 2009). The sediment toxicity test does not require specific knowledge for pathways of interactions among sediments and test organisms. It is a directly-measured response between interactive toxic of complex contaminants in the sediment and exposed organisms (US EPA, 1994a). Sediment bioassays are used to evaluate the toxicity of sediments which test organisms exposed to whole sediment and or pore water. Whole sediment toxicity tests shows more realistic exposure predictions than pore water test and sediment physicochemical conditions include the different exposure routes (Liß and Ahlf, 1997; Bebon R., 2013; Diepens et al., 2014).

Previous studies proposed the diversity of organisms in the sediment toxicity test; for example, amphipod (*Melita plumulosa*) (Mann et al., 2009), midge larvae (*Chironomus tentans*) (Cui et al., 2010), marine bacteria (*Vibrio fischeri*) (Guzzella, 1998), green algae (*Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*) (Nie et al., 2015). However, benthic organisms show more preferential selection as test organisms in solid phase tests on whole-sediment. They are important in the aquatic food web as low-level consumers and serve as a food source

for the higher trophic level of aquatic organisms. The benthic biotas inhabit in direct contact with sediment, expose to dissolved contaminant in sediment pore-water or ingest sediment which eventually poses a risk to them (Davoren et al., 2005). Considering these aspects, a whole–sediment test with benthic species is needed for a meaningful ecological evaluation to assess the overall effect of sediment on biological communities (Burton, 1992; Havel and Talbott, 1995; US EPA, 2000; Dekker et al., 2006; Turesson et al., 2007; Reinier et al., 2009).

A variety of benthic species such as midge larvae (Chironomus riparius, Chironomus tentans) and amphipods (Hyalella azteca) have been employed in whole sediment toxicity tests (US EPA, 2000). However, maintaining such test organisms is a burden to the testing laboratories. To overcome this problem, a cyst-based test using a benthic ostracod Heterocypris incongruens has been successfully developed by Chial and Persoone (2002a, b) to reduce the burden of culturing and maintaining live stocks of organisms. H. incongruens is small benthic species (freshly hatched neonates size 150-200 µm to 1.5 mm in adults) (Figure 1.1) that reproduces parthenogenetically (Cooman et al., 2015). It is capable of swimming in the water phase and is also found crawling on and digging into the sediments, thus representing a true benthic organism that is in direct contact with contaminated sediments (Chial and Persoone 2002a; Cooman et al., 2015). In 2012, a freshwater sediment toxicity test using H. incongruens (6-day toxicity test) was standardized as ISO 14371 (ISO, 2012). This bioassay has been widely applied to various solid samples such as sediments (Torokne and Toro, 2010), soils (Chial and Persoone, 2003; Santorufo et al., 2012) and road dust (Watanabe et al., 2011; Khanal et al., 2014). The sensitivity of *H. incongruens* was found to be comparable with amphipod *H. azteca* (Blaise et al., 2000; Cooman et al., 2015), midge larvae C. riparius (Belgis et al., 2003) and equal or greater than Daphnia magna (Torokne and Toro, 2010). However, toxicity effects on *H*.incongruens were assessed on the basis of their mortality as well as growth inhibition after a 6 d exposure to test sediments. The ISO 14371 (ISO, 2012) endpoint is too short to observe the toxicity of contaminated sediments that may affect reproduction. Moreover, in terms of aquatic conservation, the sub-lethal endpoint related to reproduction is required rather than the mortality rate of individual test organisms, which is still lacking in the conventional 6 d ostracod toxicity test.



Figure 1.1. Ostracod species: Heterocypris incongruens

1.2. Statement of the problem

In aquatic ecosystems, sediments serve as an important sink of numerous substances which has been overlooked in ecotoxicology for many years. Contaminated sediments degrade water quality and adversely affect aquatic organisms, particularly benthic organisms due to their direct contact with and ingest the sediments. For a better understanding of ecological health impact, toxicity of sediment on benthic organisms should be assessed in addition to the water phase toxicity test. Sediment contamination can associate with acute and chronic effects on aquatic life. The chronic exposure is more realistic in the environment and therefore more ecologically relevant to determine (Ingersoll and Nelson, 1990; Simpson et al., 2005). In these aspects, a chronic sediment toxicity test with benthic organism is required. The test is a direct measure of sediment toxicity and to evaluate the effect of long-term sediment exposure to the organism.

Despite the wide variety of benthic species such as the midge *C. tentans* in the life-cycle test and amphipods *H. azteca* in the 42-d test have been employed as whole sediment toxicity testing (US EPA, 2000). However, they require spaces and costs to perform such tests. A new cyst-based 6-day ostracod toxicity test is one of the available direct-contact sediment bioassay which was standardized as ISO 14371 (ISO, 2012). The test using the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* has successfully developed to reduce the burden of culturing and maintaining live stocks of organisms to the testing laboratories (Chial and Persoone 2002a, b). The cyst-based test has major advantages including the requirement of test organisms on demand and low-cost for routine monitoring the freshwater sediments (ISO, 2012). This bioassay has applied to different solid-phase of environmental samples; for

example sediments (Torokne and Toro, 2010), soils (Chial and Persoone, 2003; Santorufo et al., 2012) and road dust (Watanabe et al., 2011, 2013; Khanal et al., 2014). The ISO 14371 endpoint is assessed based on the 6 d- mortality and growth inhibition of ostracod; however, methods to test sublethal chronic effects such as reproduction as a result of long term exposure in sediment is necessary to allow for increased understanding of risk and increased ecological protection. Therefore, the current study is an intention for the development of a new chronic sediment toxicity test method using *H. incongruens*.

1.3. Research objectives

The main objective of this study is to develop and establish a new chronic sediment toxicity test method using a freshwater benthic ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens;* the following specific objectives are given.

The specific objectives,

- To propose a new chronic sediment toxicity test using the benthic ostracod *H*. *incongruens* by intensive literature surveys.
- To evaluate the repeatability of the test method based on the coefficient of variation in each endpoint of proposed chronic test and to determine the test acceptability criteria for control sediment.
- To provide application examples of the proposed chronic test using nickel and urban road dust whose chronic toxicity to ostracod has never been reported yet.

1.4. Structure of the research work

The research structure is divided into eight chapters. A brief outline of each chapter is given below. Figure 1.2 shows thesis structure and title given in each chapter.

Chapter 1. This chapter includes the background, objectives, statement of the problem and the structure of the thesis.

Chapter 2. This chapter reviews related literature and studies about the sediment toxicity test, types, and endpoint used in the toxicity tests and summarizing the toxicity of heavy metals in the aquatic environment including urban road dust.

Chapter 3. This chapter summarizes chemicals and reagents used, test organisms, food cultivation and preparation, brief procedures of 6-day ostracod toxicity and statistical analyses used in this study.

Chapter 4. This chapter proposes the detailed procedures of a chronic sediment toxicity test using the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* and summarizes the test conditions and measurement endpoint used in this study.

Chapter 5. This chapter reports the repeatability of chronic ostracod toxicity test and proposes test acceptability criteria for control sediment

Chapter 6. In this chapter, the aim was to assess the toxicity of nickel on the reproduction of the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* and to compare the sensitivity of ostracod to nickel with other test species

Chapter 7. The application example of proposed chronic test is shown in this chapter. The toxicity assessments of urban road dust on ostracod reproduction were conducted alongside the ISO 14371. The present study is expected to serve as the fundamental study on the chronic toxicity of URD to *H. incongruens*.

Chapter 8. This chapter shows the overall summary and conclusions of this study and recommendation for further studies and future development.



CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE AND STUDIES

2.1. Toxicity testing

2.1.1. Acute and chronic toxicity testing

Toxicity test is one of an essential tool for assessing the effects of toxicants in aquatic ecosystems. It has been widely used as a method to identify suitable bioindicator organisms and to derive water quality standards for certain chemicals (Luoma et al., 2008). Toxicity tests generally assess the ability of a substance to negatively affect morphological, physical, behavioral, and/or reproductive characteristics or death of a test organism (Stankovic et al., 2014; Hering et al., 2015). Toxicity tests are generally divided into acute and chronic toxicity tests, depending on the duration of exposure time and endpoints (US EPA, 2000).

Acute toxicity tests are short-term tests usually at a high concentration of the toxicant in which an immediate response of the test organism is observed. Death of the organism is the measurement endpoint for an acute toxicity test. These tests are generally performed with organisms during a partial life cycle or specific time period (Nikinmaa, 2014). The effect of the chemical is observed within a specific period of time.

In contrast, chronic tests assess the prolonged response of a test organism to a moderate to low dose of the contaminant. Chronic tests last for weeks, months, or years. A test is considered chronic if it encompasses more than 10% of the lifespan of the organism (Radix et al, 2000; Nikinmaa, 2014). Sublethal endpoints are generally evaluated during continuous chronic exposure (Burton et al., 1992). A full lifecycle, multiple generations, and the reproductive cycle of an organism are considered for chronic tests (Sancho et al., 2016). Standardized chronic tests conducted by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM), and the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development are not considered valid if mortality of the control is > 20%. Results are generally reported in sublethal concentrations of the toxicant and sublethal endpoints of the chronic effects. Sublethal effects include reduced growth, reproduction or population size of a test organism (Palma et al., 2016).

2.1.2. Endpoints of toxicity testing

Toxicity endpoints are acute or chronic and are established to observe the effect or degree of harm to organisms.

Acute toxicity endpoints: Lethality is generally used as an endpoint for acute toxicity tests and as the lethal endpoint that is estimated to kill 50% of the test organisms. The half maximal effective concentration (EC50) is often measured in acute tests (Ahlers et al., 2006). The duration of acute toxicity testing is typically 24 or 48 h of exposure time for invertebrates and 96 h for vertebrates. A dose response curve is the most common way to estimate the LC50 and EC50 values.

Chronic toxicity and partial life cycle endpoints: The endpoints used for lifecycle and chronic toxicity tests include the hatching ratio, growth (body length or weight), and long-term survival (%). Other parameters of interest in chronic testing are reproduction, behavior, the total number of eggs produced, and the number of broods released (Ringenary et al., 2007). The no observed effect concentration (NOEC) is the highest concentration in which there is no significant effect from the control test. The lowest observed effect concentration is the lowest concentrations in which there is a significant difference effect from the control test. The *t*-test and analysis of variance (ANOVA) are usually used to determine these chronic test endpoints (Keithly et al., 2004). The approach for assessing such endpoints is to divide the data into two parts or classifications (hatching success, number dead or alive organisms) to use the chi-square or Fisher's exact test. Dunnett's test, which is based on ANOVA for continuous data, can be used for growth variables, reproductive variables, or hatching success and survival data expressed as percentages (Radix et al., 2000).

2.1.3. Acute to chronic ratio (ACR)

The ACR expresses the acute toxicity of an effluent or a toxicant to its chronic toxicity (Raimondo et al., 2007). It is used to determine chronic criteria that would not result to show any adverse effects to population of aquatic organisms (Mebane et al., 2008). In the USA, the ACR is usually used to estimate chronic threshold concentration of an untested species (Raimondo et al., 2007). The ACR is calculated as the ratio of the LC50 to the NOEC or the maximum acceptable toxicant concentration (MATC). The ACR is used if the chronic toxicity mechanisms are the same as those used for acute toxicity. The ACR has been used to derive the U.S. ambient water quality criteria, water quality standards, and risk assessments, which are calculated for species and chemicals that have available acute and chronic test data. The ACR is used to estimate chronic values to different species by the same chemical (Barron et al., 2005) and to estimate chronic toxicity of chemicals with known acute toxicity, but with no chronic toxicity data. Variability in the ACR has been emphasized in aquatic toxicology. The large variation in ACR is related to differences in species, chemical class, chemical mode of action (MOA), and test conditions (Ahlers et al., 2006). The most important determinants of variations in the ACR are chemical MOA and class. For example, higher ACRs are found in heavy metals pesticides, and other chemicals with more specific modes of action than industrial narcotic chemicals (Kenaga et al., 1982; Ahlers et al, 2006).

2.2. Sediment toxicity tests

Sediment toxicity testing is designed to determine whether toxicants or chemical substances in sediment have any effect on living organisms. The main advantage of sediment toxicity testing is that no specific knowledge is required to identify the toxicants, unlike chemical analyses. The tests offer a direct method for assessing toxicity and measuring the potential toxic effects of complex contaminant mixtures in sediments (ASTM, 2005; Palma et al., 2016). The level of toxicity is based on the biological responses and sensitivity of the test organisms (Mann et al., 2009). Dissolved toxicants may have a greater effect on organisms exposed in an aquatic environment, but organisms

can also be susceptible to contaminants adsorbed to suspended solids, particularly benthic organisms (Burton et al., 1992; De Serres and Bloom, 1996).

Sediment toxicity testing was developed during the past few decades because sediment associated contaminants are now acknowledged as a long-term widespread pollutant source. Pore water (interstitial water) toxicity testing is used to identify contaminants in sediment pore water, which can be transported to overlying water by a variety of processes. However, chemical contaminants are disrupted during the pore water toxicity test; thus, bioavailability may be significantly altered. In addition, results of the pore water toxicity test do not represent the effect of the entire sediment, which is caused by ingestion and is a significant exposure route in benthic organisms (Doe et al., 2001). Wholesediment toxicity tests on field-collected and laboratory-dosed sediments are essential to evaluate the adverse effects of contaminated sediments on aquatic organisms, particularly benthic organisms, due to their direct contact with sediment (Burton and Landrum, 2003). Several studies have developed whole-sediment toxicity tests using a variety of benthic organisms, such as the cladoceran Chydorus sphaericus (Dekker et al., 2006) and the copepod Atthevella crassa (Turesson et al., 2007). Additionally, a number of standardized methods for whole-sediment toxicity testing were established within the US EPA and the ASTM by the mid-1990s. Unfortunately, most sediment toxicity test methods involve acute and not chronic studies, such as toxicity in benthic macroinvertebrate using the amphipods Hyalella azteca and Rhepoxynius abronius or the midges Chironomus tentans and Chironomus riparius (US EPA, 1994a,b; ASTM, 200). Chronic effects such as changes or decreased reproduction are of greater concern. Recently developed sediment toxicity test methods (US EPA, 2000, 2001a) focus on long-term chronic studies using sensitive organisms and/or sensitive life stages of test organisms. The guidelines include use of the freshwater amphipods H. azteca and the midges C. tentans and C. riparius as test organisms. These are the most prominent and widely used organisms in wholesediment testing. A list of standardized solid-phase sediment toxicity tests for freshwater invertebrates is shown in Table 2.1.

Species	Duration	Endpoints	References
Heterocypris incongruens	6-day	Mortality and growth inhibition	ISO, 2012 (ISO14371)
Hyalella azteca	10-day	Survival and growth	US EPA, 2002 (Test Method 100.1)
Chironomus dilutus			US EPA, 2002
formerly known as	10-day	Survival and growth	(Test Method 100.2), ASTM-
C. tentans			E1706-05 (2005)
Chironomus riparius	Up to 10 to 14 days if larval survival or growths are monitored. Up to 30 days if emergence of adults is monitored.	Larval survival, growth, and head capsule width, emergence of adults	ASTM-E1706-05 (2005)
<i>Hexagenia</i> spp.	21 day	Nymphal survival and growth (weight or length), molting frequency and behavior (optional)	ASTM-E1706-05 (2005)
Tubifex tubifex	28 day	Survival and reproduction	ASTM-E1706-05 (2005)
Diporeia spp.	28 day	Survival and behavior	ASTM-E1706-05 (2005)
Hyalella azteca	42-day	Survival, growth, and reproduction	US EPA, 2002 (Test Method 100.4)
Chironomus dilutus formerly known as C. tentans	Life-cycle test for measuring the effects of sediment- associated contaminants	Survival (20-day), growth (20-day), emergence (23-day and on), and reproductions as number of eggs per female (23-day and on), and percent hatching success (23-day and on).	US EPA, 2002 (Test Method 100.5) ASTM-E1706-05 (2005)

 Table 2.1 List of standard sediment toxicity test for freshwater invertebrates.

Ideally, sediment toxicity tests should be rapid, simple, reproducible, standardized, sensitive, and ecologically relevant (Bebon R., 2013). Toxicity endpoints vary in their sensitivity and ecosystem relevance. Chronic rather than acute endpoints are usually preferable to understand how chemicals and toxic sediments affect organisms over long periods of time. Chronic whole-sediment toxicity testing can be used to determine the long-term impact of contaminated sediment (Gale et al., 2006). Reproduction is more likely to be linked to an ecotoxicological assessment than growth. Therefore, a test evaluating only growth and mortality may not be sensitive enough to detect loss of a population. Chronic toxicity tests are recommended to evaluate the long-term effects of sediment contamination. "No significant risk" of potentially contaminated sediment can only be demonstrated using chronic tests; however, their long effort and high cost may obstruct their widespread use (MADEP, 2006). Although chronic toxicity tests are often preferable, they do have certain drawbacks. Longer tests allow more time for unknown biotic and abiotic factors to affect the results. Therefore, the results may be expected to be more variable than those of acute tests. However, chronic exposure is more realistic and more relevant to study than acute exposure (Bebon R., 2013).

Numerous studies have proposed the significant importance of using various test species in evaluation of contaminants in aquatic ecosystems because sensitivity of the species varies among toxicants. Given that benthic organisms are the most likely to be in direct contact with and ingest sediments, evaluating the impact of sediment-associated contaminants on benthic organisms is a direct measure of sediment quality and toxicity (US EPA, 2000; Dekker et al., 2006). Many test species, such as *Daphnia magna*, *Ceriodaphnia dubia*, *Tubifex tubifex*, *Chironomus tentans*, and *Chironomus ripanus*, and endpoints have been determined as useful surrogates in water, effluent, and sediment toxicity studies (Burton, 1991). Differences in sensitivities to contaminants among benthic organisms have been considered based on differences in organism behavior (burrowing and feeding), exposure pathways, and the properties of the contaminants (partitioning and bioavailability). A benthic ostracod has been used in ecotoxicological studies as a freshwater sediment model organism (Chial and Persoone, 2002a,b; Ruiz et al., 2004; Khangarot and Das, 2009). Previous studies have reported that ostracods are highly sensitive to heavy metal, oils, and anoxic conditions (Ruiz et al., 2004) and one study indicated the need to include ostracods in assessments of solid-phase toxicity, such as soils, sewage sludge, sediments, and aquatic ecosystems (Khangarot and Das, 2009). Khangarot and Das (2009) reported that the ostracod *C. subglobosa* is highly sensitive and accurate species to assess the toxicity of metals and reference toxicants.

2.3. Heavy metals in the aquatic environment and their ecotoxicity

Heavy metals are a significant contaminant in the aquatic environment due to their persistence and risk to aquatic organisms. Metals in receiving water originate from natural processes and anthropogenic activities, such as agriculture, mining, fuel combustion, and manufacturing (Luoma et al., 2008). The concentrations of metals in the environment can be very low (non-significant toxicity) to high (high toxicity), which are attributed to the negative effects on receiving water including sediment contamination. The toxicity and exposure routes by which aquatic animals respond to heavy metal exposure have been studied. The toxic responses to metals by aquatic organisms are generally complex and are affected by various factors and/or species sensitivity. The toxicity and bioavailability of metals in the aquatic environment depend on many factors, such as salinity, dissolved organics, pH, hardness, and sedimentation. Metal uptake by aquatic organisms generally involves absorption or surface binding with slow transport into cells (Crist et al., 1988). Metal uptake differs in vertebrates and invertebrates. Invertebrates are exposed to metals via extracellular and intracellular digestion. The metal uptake pathways in benthic invertebrates include ingestion of sediment particles and water.

Sediment is a recognized sink for metals, metalloids, and other contaminants (US EPA, 1998). Heavy metals persist in water and accumulate in sediment after release into the aquatic environment. Therefore, they cause adverse effects on aquatic organisms, particularly in benthic organisms via direct absorption through ingesting water or sediment (Iwasaki et al., 2009; Stankovic et al., 2014; Magalhães et al., 2015). Metals are partitioned in sediments in many soluble, insoluble, and bound complexes with other contaminants, such as soluble-free ions, soluble organic and inorganic complexes, easily exchangeable ions, and precipitates of metal hydroxides with colloidal ferric and manganic oxyhydroxides (Burton, 1991). Additionally, the bioavailability of toxicants that

affect metal speciation in sediment is influenced by many factors, such as the functions of particulate organic carbon and dissolved organic carbon content. Water quality and conditions can also reduce or increase metal bioavailability and toxicity in sediment, such as hardness, pH, and salinity. These characteristics must be considered when assessing the toxicity of sediment contamination.

2.3.1. Toxicity of nickel in the aquatic environment

Nickel is released into the aquatic environment from mining-related activities or anthropogenic sources including burning of coal and other fossil fuels (Eisler, 1998). Concentrations of nickel in the environment range from 1 to 10 μ g/l in uncontaminated freshwater and reach 1,000 μ g/l in highly contaminated waters (Pane et al., 2004). Nickel is essential to aquatic organisms, particularly plants and bacteria; however, nickel can cause respiratory disorders, inhibit magnesium uptake, and cause kidney lesions in fish and other aquatic animals (Wogram et al., 2011; Shuhaimi-Othman et al., 2012). The gut and kidneys play important roles regulating nickel levels in adult rainbow trout (Chowdhury et al., 2008).

Nickel is toxic to aquatic ecosystems and has been defined as a priority pollutant on EPA's Aquatic Life Criteria Table (US EPA, 1986). The sensitivity and chronic toxicity of nickel have been investigated in a number of invertebrate species, such as larvae of *Chironomus riparius* (Powlesland and George, 1986), the cladoceran *Ceriodaphnia Dubia* (Kszos et al., 1992; Keithly et al., 2004), and the amphipod *Hyalella azteca* (Borgmann et al., 2001; Keithly et al., 2004). The chronic effects of nickel vary among aquatic species. The values from chronic tests are essential for establishing aquatic life criteria guidelines and deriving chemical concentration criteria; however, no toxicity data are available on chronic nickel exposure or sensitivity to benthic ostracod species.

2.3.2. Toxicity of chromium in the aquatic environment

Chromium is an essential trace nutrient that is required in small amounts for carbohydrate metabolism, but it becomes toxic at higher concentrations (Czapla, 2015). The most bioavailable and toxic form of chromium is hexavalent Cr (VI) (Kim et al., 2002; Hosseini and Belador, 2009). Therefore, aquatic life must be protected more closely from Cr (VI) than from trivalent chromium Cr (III). Toxicity of chromium to aquatic organisms increases as water temperature increases and as pH and salinity decrease. Additionally, chromium is more toxic in soft water than hard water. The chromium LC50 is 3 mg/l in soft water and hard water of 72 mg/l for fish fathead minnows and for goldfish of 18 mg/l in soft water and 133 mg/l in hard water (Taub, 2004).

Chromium (10 µg/l) reduces survival and fecundity of Daphnia magna after a 32 day exposure (US EPA, 1980) and causes behavioral changes in the midge Chironomus tentans at 100 µg/l in a 48 h test (Catalan, 1982). Trivalent chromium is usually less effective than Cr (VI) for reducing fecundity in Daphnia magna [44 µg/l Cr (III) and 10 µg/l Cr (VI) (US EPA, 1980)]. Benthic invertebrates show limited ability to accumulate chromium from clays or in sediments (Neff et al., 1978). The insoluble oxides, hydroxides, and phosphates form of Cr (III) is generally found which are associated with organic matter in sediments (Cervantes et al., 2001). Cr (VI) is usually associated with oxygen to produce oxyacids, such as chromate ions or dichromate (Singh et al., 2013). These forms are more soluble and more toxic to the aquatic organisms than Cr (III). It is widely accepted that dissolve forms of metals have significant effect and cause toxicity because they are more bioavailable (Magalhaes et al., 2015). One study reported the environmental fate and partitioning of chromium in the environment. Absorption of Cr (III) increases on suspended solids and sediment as pH increases (EU RAR, 2005). In contrast, Cr (VI) adsorption decreases with increasing pH. The acute toxicity of Cr (VI) to invertebrates appears to depend on media properties, such as hardness, pH, and temperature. Persoone et al. (1989) reported a decrease in the EC50 values of Daphnia magna as hardness decreased and temperature increased. Chronic tests appear to show less of an effect of these properties on toxicity (EU RAR, 2005).

2.3.3. Toxicity of zinc in the aquatic environment

Zinc is an essential element of all living organisms. However, it is toxic at high concentrations. Zinc is a common metal in freshwater and saltwater environments. Zinc occurs as dissolved, suspended, or in solid binding with other chemicals. Zinc forms and complexes with hydrated, oxyions or organic ligands (humic and fulvic acids) in freshwater. Adsorption of zinc on soil, sludge, and suspended solids affects the speciation and bioavailability of zinc (Gillis et al., 2006). Speciation of zinc is influenced by water characteristics, such as pH, organic matter content, and redox potential. In 2003, the Environmental Quality Standard for zinc was established in Japan as $30 \mu g/l$ to protect living organisms (Tsushima et al., 2010).

Sensitivity to zinc varies between species and the different endpoints investigated. Muyssen et al. (2006) studied the response of *D. magna* to chronic zinc exposure. They revealed the mechanisms of chronic zinc toxicity to *D. magna*, as zinc inhibits uptake of calcium, which causes hypocalcemia. Zinc freshwater toxicity data are available for algae, crustaceans, and fish, but few reports were found on ostracod species. The LC50 of zinc ranges from 0.070 mg/l to 7,800 mg/l. The lowest LC50 of zinc is found in crustaceans and the highest occurs in fish (SCHER, 2007). Chronic zinc data have been reported for freshwater algae, invertebrates, and fish. Based on these studies, the NOEC values were 17 for algae to 660 µg/l for fish (Bodar, 2007). The NOEC values for invertebrates range from 37 µg/l in *Ceriodaphnia dubia* (reproductive endpoint) to 400 µg/l in the zebra mussel *Dreissena polymorpha* (survival endpoint). Most of the data on freshwater invertebrates include the water flea species *D. magna* and *Ceriodaphnia dubia* (crustaceans) (Bodar, 2007).

2.4. Urban road dust and its toxicity

Urban road dust is a potential source of sediment contamination and may cause adverse effects to benthic organisms and deteriorate the water quality of urban road runoff. Previous studies have reported that urban road dust contains high concentrations of many potentially toxic chemicals, such as hydrophobic organic compounds, heavy metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and perfluorinated surfactants (PFSs) (Fang et al., 2004; Pengchai et al., 2004; Murakami et al., 2005; Murakami and Takada, 2008; Atiemo et al., 2011). The main sources of these pollutants are tire dust, brake dust, road surface wear, and vehicle exhaust (Khanal et al., 2014; Murmullage et al., 2014).

Urban road dust is a particulate source of urban runoff that is toxic to aquatic organisms (Boxall and Maltby et al., 1995; Watanabe et al., 2013; Khanal et al., 2015). The toxicity of urban road dust is attributed to the site-specific nature of the toxicant distribution (Watanabe et al., 2011, 2013; Khanal et al., 2013, 2014). Various authors have reported that traffic characteristics, such as the amount of traffic (annual average daily traffic), type of traffic (commuter, industrial, or construction), and traffic congestion (resulting in brake use) may affect the toxicity of road dust (Grant et al., 2003; NIWA, 2008). The heterogeneity of urban road rust causes wide variability in its toxicity. Mummullage et al. (2014) studied the variability in metal composition and concentrations in four different urban land use areas in Australia. The most abundant heavy metals in road dust from urban land were iron, zinc, aluminum, and magnesium. High concentrations of nickel, titanium, copper, and zinc are found on industrial sites. A factor analysis study revealed that soil and related traffic are key sources of metals deposited on road surfaces in urban areas (industrial, residential, commercial, and mixed areas).

Petroleum hydrocarbons are a major organic contaminant of interest in urban road dust samples. Petroleum hydrocarbons and their derived compounds are referred to as total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs). In addition, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are ubiquitous in the urban environment, including urban road dust. PAHs are an important subset of compounds included in TPH and are both environmentally persistent and potentially toxic to the environment. Sixteen PAHs have been listed as priority pollutants by the US EPA (US EPA, 1982). In this report, TPHs refer to organic contaminants and, in particular, a subgroup of hydrocarbons called PAHs. The significant source of TPHs and PAHs are from vehicle fuels and emission, such as oil and grease. PAHs have been reported in road dust from automobile exhausts, asphalt particles, tire particles, gasoline, and diesel fuel in many studies (Takada et al., 1991; Murakami et al., 2005; Boonyatumanond et al., 2007).

The median TPH concentration is 1000–2000 μ g/g (NIWA, 2008). The highest concentration of TPH in road dust was found in an industrial area with crankcase oil and a small amount of fuel oil. High volumes and the type of road use activities result in high concentrations of TPHs. Thus, TPH concentration appears to be dependent on traffic characteristics. For example, TPH concentrations of 353, 1,680, and 3,490 μ g/g were reported in urban road dust from residential, highway, and industrial sites, respectively (Latimer et al., 1990).

The concentration of PAHs in road dust varies considerably (2–200 mg/kg) (Yang et al., 1995), Interestingly, traffic volume does not appear to be related to PAH concentration, because a Tokyo road with 100,000 vehicles per day contained only 4 mg/kg of PAHs (Takada et al., 1991), whereas a study by Lee and Dong (2010) reported that many road and traffic related characteristics such as pavement type, traffic volume, vehicle speed greatly affected PAH concentrations in road dust. Wang et al. (2009) determined the concentrations, distribution, and sources of PAHs in urban street dust in China. Total PAH concentrations in street dust were 1,890–17,070 ng/g (dry weight) with an average of 7,460 ng/g. A principal component analysis was used to apportion the sources of PAHs in urban street dust. The results showed that pyrogenic and petrogenic sources contributed 70% and 22.4% of total PAHs in street dust and fossil fuels (coal and petroleum); biomass combustion accounted for 64.4%, and 5.6% of total PAHs were from pyrogenic sources (Wang et al., 2009).

Several studies have investigated and identified PCBs, PFSs, herbicides, and pesticides in road dust and road runoff. Murakami et al., (2005) reported that urban highway runoff contains these organic compounds but that they are not directly related to vehicles. PFSs

are at significantly higher concentrations in size-fractioned street dust from a heavily trafficked area than from a residential area (Murakami et al., 2008).

As the sources of urban road dust and it composition are diverse and many factors affect concentrations of toxicants, toxicity assessments of urban road dust must be further investigated. The high variability of potential toxicants in urban road dust makes it difficult to generalize the primary toxicants. Most studies have focused on chemically characterizing urban road dust (Fang et al., 2004; Pengchai et al., 2004; Murakami et al., 2005; Murakami and Takada, 2008; Atiemo et al., 2011; Mummullage et al., 2014). However, a chemical analysis alone cannot predict the biological effects of urban road dust. Toxicity testing is necessary to determine the potential impact of urban road dust on benthic biota. Sediment bioassays with benthic species would be helpful to evaluate the overall effect of urban road dust as a potential source of sediment contamination in biological communities. Toxicity assessments of urban road dust on benthic organisms have been applied to the ostracod direct contact test (Watanabe et al., 2011, 2013; Khanal et al., 2014, 2015). The adverse effects of urban road dust were only assessed based on 6day mortality and growth inhibition, although organisms could be exposed to these contaminants for a longer period of time. However, the long-term effects of urban road dust on the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* have not been reported.

2.5. Summary

Sediment contamination caused by many chemicals and pollutants binds to organic and inorganic particles that eventually settle to the bottom of the aquatic environment to degrade water quality and adversely affect benthic organisms. Whole-sediment toxicity testing is an essential tool to evaluate the overall effect of contaminated sediment on benthic species. Once contaminants bind to particulate matter, biotransformation is rarely occur and desorption is usually very slow. Therefore, contaminants embed or sorb for long periods in sediments. Most sediment toxicity testing has been developed to assess short-term exposure as an acute toxicity test. However, long-term chronic toxicity testing should be considered for an ecologically meaningful evaluation.

CHAPTER 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Introduction

This chapter presents the chemical reagents, test organism, test chemicals, urban road dust sample, algae cultivation, preparation of algae suspension including briefly procedure of standard 6 d ostracod toxicity test (ISO, 2012) and statistical analysis used in this study.

3.2. Test medium

3.2.1. Standard freshwater (SFW)

Standard freshwater was commonly used for culturing ostracod. Table 3.1 shows the composition of SFW according to the formula of moderately hard water in manual's instructions (hardness: 80-100 mg CaCO₃/l and alkalinity 57-64 mg CaCO₃/l) (US EPA, 2002). Thus prepared, the SFW medium has a pH of 7.6 \pm 0.3 (ISO, 2012). The SFW was aerated for 15-20 minutes prior to use.

Component	Weight per 1 l of medium
NaHCO ₃	96 mg
CaSO ₄ ·2H ₂ O	60 mg
MgSO ₄	60 mg
KCl	4 mg

Table 3.1. Composition of standard freshwater (SFW) (US EPA, 2002).

3.2.2. C medium

Green algae *Scenedesmus acutus* Meyen (NIES-94) used as food for ostracod were cultured in the C medium. Tables 3.2 and 3.3 show the composition of the culture medium, which was prepared according to the instruction of the culture collection (NIES, 2004). The pH of the culture medium was adjusted to 7.5 by 2N hydrochloric acid.
Component (concentration in stock s	solutions)	Concentration (per l)	Amount of stock solution or chemical in 1 l of medium		
H ₂ O (Milli-Q water)		-	962.7 ml		
TRIS		500 mg	500 mg		
$Ca(NO_3)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$	(10 mg/ml)	150 mg	15 ml		
KNO ₃	(10 mg/ml)	100 mg	10 ml		
Na · glyceroPO ₄ · 5H ₂ O	(10 mg/ml)	50 mg	5 ml		
$MgSO_4 \cdot 7H_2O$	(10 mg/ml)	40 mg	4 ml		
Vitamin B ₁₂ *	(1 mg/ml)	0.1 mg	0.1 ml		
Biotin (Vitamin B7) *	(1 mg/ml)	0.1 mg	0.1 ml		
Thiamin (Vitamin B_1)*	(100 mg/ml)	10 mg	0.1 ml		
P _{IV} multi metals**			3 ml		

Table 3.2. Composition of C medium (NIES, 2004).

*Three vitamins are added after sterilized C medium by autoclaving under the clean bench

**Contents of P_{IV} metals stock solution is given in Table 3.3.

Component	Weight per 100 ml
FeCl ₃ · 6H ₂ O	19.6 mg
$MnCl_2 \cdot 4H_2O$	3.6 mg
ZnCl ₂	1.05 mg
CoCl ₂ · 6H ₂ O	0.4 mg
$Na_2MoO_4 \cdot 2H_2O$	0.25 mg
Na ₂ EDTA • 2H ₂ O	100 mg

Table 3.3. Contents of P_{IV} multi metals solution (NIES, 2004).

3.3. Test organisms

Heterocypris incongruens were purchased as dormant eggs (cysts) from MicroBioTests Inc., Belgium. The cysts were hatched in standard freshwater (SFW) according to the formula of moderately hard water in manual instructions (US EPA, 2002) followed by incubation at 25°C under fluorescent light (3000–4000 lux) for 52 h. The hatched ostracod neonates were pre-fed with dried Spirulina powder 4 h prior to their use as test organisms. The body length of ostracod neonates ranged from 169 to 223 μ m.

3.4. Food for ostracod

Laboratory-cultured green algae *Scenedesmus acutus* Meyen (NIES-94) and commercial fish food TetraMin (Spectrum brands, Japan) were used for feeding ostracods in both of the acute and proposed chronic ostracod toxicity tests.

3.4.1. Algae cultivation

C medium (section 3.2.) was used for culturing the algae in the laboratory. The pH of medium was adjusted to 7.5 before autoclaving (120° C, 15 minutes). After transferring 100 ml of autoclaved C medium to 300 ml sterilized Erlenmeyer flask (at 135° C for 2 h), 10 ml of algae stock suspension was inoculated to each flask using a sterile pipette. The culturing flasks were put in the incubator of the following culture conditions; temperature: $25\pm2^{\circ}$ C, light: fluorescent light, photoperiod (12h light: 12h dark), light intensity (5000 lux). The above procedure was conducted every 2 weeks to keep the algae stock fresh.

3.4.2. Preparation of algae suspension for ostracod food

The algae stock suspension was centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 15 min to harvest the cells. And then, fresh SFW was added to re-suspend the algae cells by hand-shaking. The rinsing procedure was repeated 2-3 times to remove C medium remaining in the algae suspension. Finally, the settled algae pellets were transferred to a volumetric flask and resuspended in the designated volume of SFW to make the algae cell density of 3.0×10^7 cells/well. Algae cell density was calculated from the absorbance at wavelength 560 nm using Hitachi U-2010 UV spectrophotometer by the equation below.

Algae concentration (cells/ml) = $4.616 \times 10^6 \times$ Dilution rate × Absorbance (This equation was determined by measuring absorbance and counting of cells of algae directly using flow cytometer).

3.4.3. TetraMin

A commercial fish food TetraMin (Spectrum brands, Japan) was also used as ostracod food in this study. Flakes of TetraMin were ground in a mortar and pestle and sieved through 250 μ m screen before feeding to ostracod.

3.5. Standard ostracod toxicity test (ISO14371)

The method and test materials followed ISO 14371 (ISO, 2012) as show in Figure 3.1; the method is hereafter referred to as the 6-day ostracod toxicity test in this study. The hatching of the ostracod cysts was initiated 52 h prior to the toxicity test as described above (section 3.3). The test was started by inoculating 10 hatched neonate ostracods to each well of a 6-well microplate (IWAKI) containing a mixture of 1 ml sediment, 2 ml SFW, and a 2 ml green algae suspension. Laboratory-cultured green algae S. acutus Meyen (NIES-94) were used to feed ostracods at a concentration of 3.0×10^7 cells/well. The algal cultivation and preparation process was described above. Salinity, pH, and conductivity in the overlying water were measured at the beginning and end of the toxicity test using Horiba compact pH meter B212 and Twin compact conductivity meter Horiba B-173. The 6 d ostracod toxicity test was regarded as acceptable when the following two criteria were fulfilled in the control sediment: a) ostracod percentage mortality did not exceed 20%, and b) the mean ostracod length increased by a factor 1.5 compared to the initial mean length, in accordance with the ISO 14371 guidelines (ISO, 2012). The ostracod bioassays endpoints were 6 d mortality and growth inhibition. 6 d mortality is calculated based on the total number of dead ostracods and the total number of ostracod inoculated at the start of the test. 6 d growth inhibition is the second effect criterion of the sublethal toxicity of sediments. Growth inhibition was determined by comparing the length increments of the surviving ostracods in the test sediment with that in the control sediment at the end of the test.

Determination of mortality

% mortality = $(B/C) \times 100$

B = C - A

Where; A: number of surviving ostracods at the end of the test

B: number of dead ostracods

C: number of ostracods at the start of the test (=10)

Determination of growth inhibition

Growth inhibition is usually used when the mortality is below 30% (ISO, 2012). The body length of the ostracod was measured on a digital picture of the ostracods taken under the microscope, using image analysis tool (Image J software, NIH).

% growth inhibition = $100 - (L_{increment} \text{ in the test sediment } / L_{increment} \text{ in control}) \times 100$ Where; $L_{increment} = L_{end} - L_{start}$

 L_{end} : mean body length of surviving ostracods at the end of test in the well L_{start} : mean body length of ostracod neonates at the start of the test (n=10)



Figure 3.1 Procedure of 6-day ostracod toxicity test (ISO, 2012)

3.6. Test chemicals

Analytical grade of nickel chloride hexahydrate (NiCl₂.6H₂O) was used as the reference toxicants. The 100 mg/l stock solution was prepared by dissolving 10 mg NiCl₂.6H₂O, in 100 ml Milli-Q water. Exposure concentrations to 0.012, 0.12, 1.2, 12, 120 and 1200 μ g/l of Ni were used for the ostracod toxicity test. The exposure concentrations were half as much as measured values because of the subsequent dilution by algal food suspension.

3.7. Urban road dust sample

An urban road dust (URD) (<2000 μ m) sample that was previously collected by Khanal et al., (2014) (detail descriptions in Appendix B) from a roadside in Tokyo in 2012, was used in this study, and the clean reference sediment (RF) sediment was used as the control. URD was diluted with the RF sediment to obtain concentrations of 3.125%, 6.25%, 12.5%, 25%, and 50% (v/v). The clean RF was obtained as a part of Ostracodtoxkit F (MicroBioTests Inc., Belgium).



Figure 3.2 Road dust collected by cleaning vehicle (Hiki, 2013)

3.8. Statistical analysis

All data and results were reported with standard deviation. The Grubb's test was applied to test outliers of the control data using Minitab 17 (State College, PA: Minitab Inc.). The CV was calculated as CV = standard deviation/mean \times 100% for each endpoint to determine test repeatability. Dunnett's test was used to determine the significant difference (p < 0.05) between URD samples and control sediment using Minitab 17. Dunnett's test was used in ANOVA to create confidence intervals for differences between the means of control and treatment groups. A chi-square analysis was applied to the hatching ratio. The median lethal concentration (LC50) and/or LC20 of nickel and URD were calculated by using Probit analysis. The NOEC (non-observed effect concentrations) and LOEC (lowest-observed effect concentrations) were estimated by Dunnett's test.

CHAPTER 4

METHODOLOGY PROPOSAL OF A CHRONIC SEDIMENT TOXCITY TEST USING THE BENTHIC OSTRACOD HETEROCYPRIS INCONGRUENS

4.1. Introduction

Sediment is the important compartment in aquatic ecosystems. Taking into account that sediment is the habitat for a wide variety of aquatic biota and feeding ground for all benthic organisms. To determine the potential impact of contaminated sediment on aquatic organisms, the pore water bioassays were originally performed based on the concept of soluble toxicants or called the bioavailability parts. For an ecologically meaningful evaluation, the direct contact tests with benthic organisms are needed. The attention was gradually paid to the evaluation of contaminated sediments on biological communities as a whole-sediment toxicity test (Burton, 1991, 1996; Chial and Persoone 2002a).

The freshwater sediment toxicity test using *H. incongruens* (6 d ostracod toxicity test) is one of the available solid-phase tests and standardized as ISO 14371 (ISO, 2012). The test was developed as a cyst-based test to reduce the burden of culture and maintenance the stocks of test organisms in the laboratory (Chial and Persoone, 2002a, b). The sensitivity of *H. incongruens* has been compared with *H. azteca and C. riparius* in the toxicity testing of rivers sediments (Chial et al., 2003a). The result showed that the sensitivities between the species are quite similar. However, the toxicity criteria of the 6-day ostracod test based on two endpoints: mortality and growth inhibition. For a better understanding of the impact on long-term exposure to contaminated sediment, chronic endpoints are more realistic and relevant to determine which still lack in the conventional 6 d ostracod toxicity test.

Previously, the life history and reproduction characteristics of ostracod H. incongruens (previously name is Cyprinotus incongruens, Karuthapandi et al., 2014). Lifetime fecundity and egg development time were further examined by Havel and Talbott (1995); results showed that these factors were highly variable in contrast to lesser variations in 10 d ostracod body lengths. Angell and Hancock (1989) studied the hatching characteristics of ostracod eggs under different experimental stresses. The eggs of *H. incongruens* could withstand drying and freezing at various temperatures and could be hatched afterwards. In addition, the further study of Tsukahara (2012) investigated the relationship between the concentration of zinc and the life history of ostracod H. incongruens such as lifespan and lifetime egg production, which would be affected when exposed to zinc. Consequently, the results showed the life span and lifetime egg production of ostracod increased under the sublethal concentration of zinc. The chronic effect of zinc to ostracod was reported, but this test was conducted without sediment. Another trial was conducted with sediment for the 28-day test under different feeding frequency and photo-periods. The endpoint for the test was the number of eggs and individuals; however, high mortality of ostracod was observed at the end of the 28-day test even under control condition. The problem to count the eggs under the presence of sediment was also reported (Tsukahara, 2014). Although numerous studies attempted to establish the chronic ostracod toxicity test, but there was a limitation in term of the test method and high variable of ostracod reproduction characteristic. The further improvements of the test procedures and considering the suitability and sensitivity of chronic endpoint are still needed to allow the quantitative measurement on reproduction and to evaluate the chronic toxicity of test sediment.

The main objective of this chapter is to propose a new chronic sediment toxicity test using the freshwater benthic ostracod *H. incongruens*. The intensive literature surveys were done to determine the general conditions and procedure of the proposed chronic test. The selection of test organisms, test phase, test conditions (temperature, feeding, photoperiod) and endpoints for this study were shown. The details procedures and measurement endpoint used in this study were described in details.

4.2. Selection of test organism, test procedure, test conditions and endpoint of chronic ostracod toxicity test

The general conditions and procedure of the proposed chronic test using the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* were selected based on the following descriptions from literature surveys.

4.2.1. Test organism

The selection of test organisms is one of the most crucial steps in the toxicity test. It is a major influence on the relevance, success, and interpretation of a test (US EPA, 2000). Previous studies proposed the diversity of test organisms in their development of sediment toxicity tests, especially benthic organisms due to their habitat in the sediment (Burton et al., 1992; Havel and Talbott, 1995; Turesson et al., 2007; Reinier et al., 2009). The direct contact of benthic species with sediments, interstitial or overlying water for all their life cycle increases the likelihood for more accurate assessment of contaminated sediments (Burton et al., 1992).

The proposed benthic organism which is focusing in this study is ostracod species *H. incongruens*. The benthic ostracod in the aquatic system represents as the detritus feeder and primary and secondary consumer, thus ostracod is important in ecosystems as a food source for many aquatic organisms and their geographical cosmopolitan distribution (Külköylüog O., 2005; Bebon R., 2013). The brief descriptions for morphology, ecology, lifecycle and reproduction of this ostracod species showed in the previous section (section 1.1). Additionally, the great advantages of selection *H. incongruens* in toxicity testing are that easily reared in the laboratory as a cyst-based test, their comparable sensitivity with amphipod *H. aztecea* and midge larvae *C. riparius* (Chial and Persoone, 2002 c, 2003; Cooman et al., 2015). Many studies have investigated the effects and sensitivity of the ostracod to heavy metals, PAHs and organic compounds (Kudlak et al., 2011; Torokne and Toro 2010) and various solid-phase samples (Torokne and Toro, 2010; Watanabe et al., 2011; Santorufo et al., 2012; Khanal et al., 2014). The test with *H. incongruens* was standardized as ISO test (ISO,

2012) confirming the suitability of *H. in*congruens as a test organism for sediment toxicity testing.

4.2.2. Test phases

The first trial for the development of chronic ostracod toxicity test had been proposed previously by our research group (Tsukahara, 2014). The endpoints were limited to 28-day surviving- and hatched-ostracod individuals, due to the difficulty to count the eggs under the presence of sediment. Thus, the further technical development is necessary to separate the sediment and egg produced. The study of Havel and Talbott (1995) reported the first day of ostracod laying eggs at the average on the 19th day ranged from 13th - 25th day. The decision was made to remove sediment phase before ostracod starts laying the first brood of the eggs. As a result, in the present study, the sediment exposure phase and reproduction phase were separated. The test phases were considered to separate into three consecutive parts as (I) a 14-day sediment exposure phase, (II) a reproduction phase and (III) a hatching test, which allow quantifying measurement on ostracod reproduction. The reproductions phase is decided to conduct without sediment which referred to the methodology of H. azteca 42-day test in US EPA (2000). The test design with amphipods is isolated from the sediment exposure phase on day 28th and place into water-only chambers where the reproduction is measured on day 35th and 42nd. Though the test organism might recover from the effects of sediment or acclimate in reproduction phase, they are exposed to toxic sediment during their critical developmental stages, the reproduction impairment occurs before the release of the first brood in clean water (US EPA, 2000).

4.2.3. Test conditions

Many abiotic factors such as temperature, pH, water hardness, feeding and light conditions should be investigated in toxicity test. Due to the healthy, normally behave, well feeding and low mortality of test organisms need to be maintained during the long holding period and in the controls. For benthic ostracod, many factors such as temperature, photoperiod, and feeding are known to affect growth and reproduction including the hatching success (Chial and Persoone, 2002a; Rossi et al., 2011;

Tsukahara, 2014; Aguilar-Alberola et al., 2014). The following sections have described the selection of the test conditions in the proposed chronic test.

Temperature: Development of *H. incongruens* includes eight instars; egg production begins after the final molt (ninth instar) at temperatures of $10-30^{\circ}$ C (Havel and Talbott, 1995). In addition, following the study by Chial and Persoone (2002a), 25°C was selected for suitable rapid growth of the ostracod neonates. The temperature at $25\pm1^{\circ}$ C is used in conducting the ISO 14371 method (ISO, 2012). Thus, the current study was decided to perform at temperatures 25° C.

Photoperiod: 24h-darkness is proposed to be used in the proposed chronic test. Tsukahara (2014) reported that the light increased the algae fed as food. The algal growth affects the level of dissolved oxygen concentrations due to photosynthesis. Previous studied of Tsukahara (2014) observed the growth of algae during the test period of those well-plates without adding the algae except in the well-plate incubated for 24-h dark condition. The algae growth believed to be an excessive amount of spirulina given to ostracod neonate prior to the test. Although algae are not fed after 7 days of sediment exposure phase, the well-plate should keep under the dark condition to avoid the algae growth. Therefore, 24h-darkness was selected as photoperiod condition in this test development

Feeding: In this study, algae are proposed to be fed in the first week of the test and TetraMin in the following weeks. The purpose of feeding during the toxicity test is to maintain the health and quality of test organisms. An overestimation of sediment toxicity due to starvation as well as underestimation in the toxicity test at high food levels (Haas et al., 2004). The food of ostracod was also considered based on Sevilla et al. (2013) which reported the effect of different food on the ostracod growth and sensitivity to the toxicants. The results showed TetraMin could support ostracod growth at least equally with the algal cells and met the criteria in ISO 14371. Tsukahara (2014) proposed the usage of TetraMin fed as food to ostracod after 10-day exposure. Soucek et al., 2016 conducted the water only of a 42-day test of *Hyalella azteca* treatments in different food or combination of foods. The results showed that

the treatment with TetraMin had high survival, weight, and reproduction of amphipod *H. azteca* as well as low variability (coefficient of variation) among replicates.

Figure 4.1 shows ground TetraMin after pass through 250 μ m mesh screen (taken by Image J analysis). The mean particle size of TetraMin was 103±46 μ m ranged from 15-219 μ m. It appeared that TetraMin is larger than algae *S acutus* (less than <10 μ m in size) (NIES, 2004). From this fact, it can be inferred that the ingestion of TetraMin was difficulty when feeding to the ostracod neonates ranged from 169 to 223 μ m. Thus, algae were fed in the first week of the sediment exposure phase. After 1 week of the exposure, the ostracod is larger in size (ranged from 500-700 μ m). It presumed that ostracod can ingest TetraMin at this life stage. Ostracod graze for the food by carapace (shell) is open the appendages can protrude between the valves for feeding, reproduction, and locomotion. For this reason, TetraMin is selected as the feeding during the second week of sediment exposure phase and reproduction phase. The easiness in preparation and frequency of feeding also accounts for this decision.

Food amount and feeding frequency are proposed in this study following the results of two previous studies by Sevilla et al., (2013) and Tsukahara, (2014). The number of ostracod individuals and the number of eggs were relatively high under the 24-hr dark condition when fed with algae at 3.0×10^7 cell/well/week (Tsukahara, 2014). Sevilla et al., (2013) studied the effect of different food on the growth of ostracod in 6-day exposure. The results showed all three different doses of TetraMin could support ostracod growth at least equally with the algal feeding and met the test validation criteria in the ISO protocol. Algae (*S. acutus*) at concentration 3.0×10^7 cell/well during the first week and 2 mg/well of TetraMin in the second week were fed as a food for ostracod in 14-day sediment exposure phase.



Figure 4.1. TetraMin after sieving by 250 µm mesh screen

4.2.4. Endpoint of a chronic sediment toxicity test

Previous sections 1.1 of chapter 1 mentioned the important of conducting chronic toxicity test in the evaluation of sediment contamination. Given that acute tests typically assess mortality over short-term exposures and usually indicate a high level of toxicity in sediment. To investigate the long-term effect of contaminated sediment, chronic test with reproductive endpoints is needed, which can be used to evaluate the moderate and low toxicants over long-term exposure to test organisms.

Previous researches studied the reproduction characteristics of ostracod. The ostracod *H. incongruens* reproduce by parthenogenesis. They produce both resting and non-resting eggs that have no recognizable morphological difference. Egg of ostracod is spherical eggs (about 150-200 μ m in diameter) in the water or in aggregation with several layers of hundreds of eggs attached to any suitable substrate (Rossi et al., 1996, 2004, 2011, 2013, 2015). In addition, life history characteristics of an ostracod *H. incongruens* had studied by Angell and Hancock, 1989; Havel and Talbott, 1995). They showed that ostracod *H. incongruens* had a life span of 14-37 days with an average of 25 days (developed through eight instars) and reproduction start after the final molt (ninth instar). The egg production ranged 13-25th days with 1-4 days between individual broods. Lifetime egg production ranged from 1-36 eggs (means

36.5 eggs/individual). The time between hatching and laying the first brood took a mean of 19.0 days (Havel and Talbott, 1995). These life history characteristic of the ostracod can be used as reproductive endpoints in the present study. In addition, Havel and Talbott (1995) and Angell and Hancock (1989) reported that ostracod produced two types of the eggs: non-resting and resting. Resting eggs were resistant to desiccation and had a highly variable hatching time. Havel and Talbott (1995) reported that the 13% of the egg hatched within the first 10 d of observations. Angell and Hancock (1989) found that 32% of the ostracod eggs hatched within 125 d and half of them hatched within 10 d. From these two studies, it was concluded that 14 d was sufficient as the hatching test observation period. Nevertheless, hatching test in this study is required to do in parallel with the reproduction phase; thus it is necessary to develop a more feasible procedure to determine the hatching rate in order to reduce these kinds of burden. Previous studies showed that the eggs of ostracod could withstand drying and freezing at various temperatures and could be hatched afterwards (Angel and Hancock, 1989; Vandekerkhove et al., 2013). Therefore, the possible further development of the hatching test for the first attempt is pre-incubation the ostracod eggs to preserve them and performs the subsequent hatching test in the later time (the preliminary investigations is shown in Appendix D).

4.2.5. Test acceptability criteria

The acceptability criteria for the toxicity test include the acceptable growth of test organisms in the controls and variation between the replicates. In the guideline for the standard toxicity test method of US EPA stated that it is strongly recommended to conduct the test with control sediment before the test with potentially contaminated sediment. The data for control conditions can be used to determine if the use of the control sediment and other test conditions are resulting in the acceptable performance of the tests including correctly interpretation for the toxicity test results (US EPA, 2002). The following chapter will perform the proposed chronic test with control sediment (reference sediment provide from the ostracodtoxkit) to evaluate the test acceptability under control conditions and to quantify the natural variation of test endpoint. The data of the test repeatability can be used as the test acceptability criteria for control sediment in the proposed chronic test.

4.3. Proposal of the method and detailed procedure of chronic ostracod toxicity test

4.3.1. Experimental design

The following section is the summary of experimental design which composed of three consecutive phases: (I) a 14-day sediment exposure phase (II) a reproduction phase (III) a hatching test. The procedures and timeline for the chronic toxicity test were described in details in Table 4.1.

(I) 14-day sediment exposure phase

14-day sediment exposure phase was designed following the procedures of the 6-day ostracod toxicity test in Table 4.2 (ISO14371), but for a longer period of time (14 days). The hatching of the ostracod cysts was initiated 52 h prior to the toxicity test as described earlier (section 3.5). Toxicity test was started by adding 2 ml of algae suspensions (*S. acutus*) and ten ostracod neonates into each well of the 6-well microplate containing test sediment and SFW, then the microplates were incubated at 25° C under 24h darkness for 14 days. Particularly on the day 7 of the sediment exposure phase, ostracod was fed with 2 ml of 1 mg/ml of TetraMin (a commercial fish food, www.tetra-jp.com) after discarding the 2 ml of overlying water in each well. Special care was taken not to disturb ostracod while changing the overlying water on day 7. Flakes of TetraMin were ground in a mortar and pestle and sieved through 250 µm screen. The pH, conductivity, and salinity of the overlying water were measured at the start of the test, on day 7 and day 14 of the sediment exposure phase (Figure 4.2).

(II) Reproduction phase

Reproduction phase follows 14-day sediment exposure phase and continues until all the ostracods die (Figure 4.2). The reproduction phase was started by transferring each surviving ostracod individually to a well of 12-well microplates (one individual per one well) containing 2 ml of SFW and 1 ml of 1 mg/ml of TetraMin suspension without sediment. Then, the well plates were incubated at 25°C under 24h darkness

until the end of the reproduction phase. Every other day of reproduction phase, mortality and reproduction of ostracod are recorded by counting e number of surviving ostracods and of eggs produced in each well. Then, each surviving ostracod was again transferred into a new 12-well microplate in the same procedure on the 14th day. The pH, conductivity, and salinity in the overlying water are also measured before and after transferring the ostracod. The eggs produced in each well is counted manually under a stereoscopic microscope and collected for the hatching test.

(III) Hatching test

The hatching test was simultaneously conducted in parallel with reproduction phase after first egg production. The produced eggs were collected every other day and further observed their hatching after transferred to new 6-well microplates containing used SFW (ostracod eggs were transferred with used SFW from the reproduction well to hatching well microplate and kept them submerged). Then, the microplates were kept at 25°C under 24h-darkness and checked hatching every other day for 14 days (Figure 4.2).

4.3.2. Endpoints

Table 4.3 shows the endpoints both of 6 d ostracod toxicity test and chronic ostracod toxicity test. The endpoint measurements of chronic ostracod toxicity test in 14-day sediment exposure phase are 14 d mortality and 14 d growth inhibition. Endpoints in the reproduction phase are lifespan, a total number of eggs produced, the first day of brooding, mean day of egg production, lifetime egg production, and egg-laying ratio. The hatching test endpoints are hatching ratio and F2 generation rate. Lifespan is defined as the average day when its death is confirmed in the test although the hatching procedure is started 52 prior to day 0 of the test. In addition to the underestimation, the defined life span includes overestimation due to the observation frequency (every other day) in reproduction phase. First day of brooding is defined as the same under-/overestimation with life span evaluation.

Procedure	Time	Activity	Number of ostracod per well	Sediment	Water	Food	Photoperiod	Temperature
	- 52 hour	Immerse the cysts in SFW to hatch the ostracod	bod sh)	ent		ı		
Hatching (52 hours)	- 4 hour	Pre-feed with Spirulina powder	1 tube of ostrac cysts* (A: per petri di	Without sedim		Spirulina	24L	
-		Prepare the 6-well microplate test (B) with sediment, SFW and						
		food algae						
0 se iys)		Measure pH, salinity and conductivity of the overlying water	plate)	be tested		reen algae 10 ⁷ cells/well		
		Transfer the ostracod neonate from petri dish (A) to the 6-well) micro			3.0 >		
Sediment pha (14 d		microplate test (B) to start chronic toxicity test	1 - well	nent t				
		Measure pH, salinity, and conductivity		sedir	(/			
	Day 7				(SFV	ii Ile		
		Feed with TetraMin			ıwateı	ètraM mg/we		°C
		Measure pH, salinity, and conductivity			d fresl	7 T		25
		Record the number of surviving ostracods and measure body			andar		4D	
		length			st		2	
duction ase	Day 14	Prepare the 12-well microplate test (C) with SFW and TetraMin (no sediment)	1 microplate)	sediment		aMin ¢/well		
Repro		namiser the new ostracods from the o-wen interoplate test (B) to new 12 well microplates (C) (one individual per well) to observe	2-well	thout		Tetra 1 mg		
		the egg production	(C:1)	wi				
		Measure pH, salinity, and conductivity before and after						
		transferring the ostracod						

Table 4.1 Timeline of ostracod chronic toxicity test

		Repeat the procedure of transferring the live ostracods and to				
	Every other	change the water and food				
	day until all					
	the ostracods die. (Day 16,	Record the number of surviving ostracods				
	18, 20,)	Count the number of eggs in each well and collect them for the				
L		hatching test				
Hatching test	Day of egg collection (Day 16, 18, 20,until reproduction phase ends)	Conducted the hatching test in parallel with reproduction phase (start on the first day of brooding) Prepare the 6-well microplate test (D) with used SFW (the overlying water where the eggs were produced) (no sediment and food) Transfer the collected eggs from the 12-well microplate (C) produced on the same day to a well of 6-well microplates to observe hatching	uced (1 to 347 eggs in this study) (D: 6-well microplate)	used SFW	without food	
	Every other day for 14	Record the number of hatched ostracod and remove them from	as prod			
	days (+2, 4, 6,, 14 days).	the well.				

*Freshwater benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* was purchased as dormant eggs (cysts) from MicroBioTests Inc., Belgium (www.microbiotests.be) ** At least each of six replicates for the test and control sediment is recommended to perform in ISO method (Chial and Persoone, 2002b, ISO, 2012).In total: seven replicates (70 ostracod individuals) are prepared. One replicate are for measurement of body length of day 14 and remaining 6 replicates are used for reproduction test.

 Table 4.2 Comparison of test conditions between 6-day ostracod toxicity test and chronic ostracod toxicity test

Test Type	6-day ostracod toxicity test ¹	Chronic ostracod toxicity test			
Temperature	25±1 °C	25±1 °C			
Photoperiod	24h-Darkness	24h-Darkness			
Renewal of overlying	NO	Every other day after day 14			
water	100	for reproduction phase			
Age of organism	0 to 2d at the start of test	0 to 2d at the start of test			
Food	Algae (<i>S. acutus</i>) at 3.0×10^7 cells/well	Algae (S. acutus) at 3.0×10^7 cells/well during the first week, and feeding TetraMin suspension for the remainder of the test.			
Test duration	6 day	Total 26-48 day: ² (plus 14 days for hatching observation periods)			

 I
 I

 1. ISO14371 (ISO, 2012), 2. Total length of test is 50-62 day including the hatching test



End

Figure 4.2 The hatching of ostracod cysts and procedure of 14-day sediment exposure phase, the procedure of reproduction phase and hatching test

Toxicity test	Endpoints	Definition/ References		
6-day ostracod toxicity test	1) 6-d mortality	ISO 14371 (ISO, 2012)		
	2) 6-d growth inhibition			
Chronic ostracod toxicity	1)14-day sediment exposure	Same definition with 6-day		
test	Phase:			
	1.1 14-d mortality			
	1.2 14-d growth inhibition			
	2) Reproduction phase :			
	2.1 Life span	Life span (LS _{<i>i</i>}) is defined as the day of ostracod death observation (for individual i).		
	2.2 Egg-laying ratio	The egg-laying ratio is expressed as $(n_e/n) \times 100$, where n_e is the number of ostracods which produces eggs during the test and <i>n</i> is the total number of ostracod tested.		
	2.3 First day of brooding			
		First day of brooding is the day on which the eggs were observed first for each individual ostracod.		
	2.4 Mean day of egg production	Mean day of egg production $(\Sigma_t t N_{i,t} / \Sigma_t N_{i,t})$ is the average day of egg production from an ostracod (<i>i</i>) which has several broods in a lifetime.		
		Total egg produced for each individual ostracod $(\Sigma_t N_{i,t})$ is the number of egg produced from the individual <i>i</i>		

Table 4.3 Endpoints of the ostracod toxicity test

2.5 Lifetime egg production	Lifetime egg production is
	the average number of egg
	production from an ostracod
	(<i>i</i>) which calculate from the
	total number of eggs produced
	(total number of eggs
	produced is expressed as $\Sigma_i \Sigma_t$
	$N_{i,t}$, where $N_{i,t}$ is defined as
	egg numbers produced by the
	ostracod individual <i>i</i> on day <i>t</i> .)
3) Hatching test:	Hatching ratio (%) is the
3.1 Hatching ratio	proportion of the hatched eggs
	within the test period to all the
	eggs tested; defined as
	$(n_{\rm E2}/\Sigma_{\rm i}\Sigma_{\rm i}N_{\rm i})\times 100$, where $n_{\rm E2}$ is
	the number of hatched eggs
	(neonates).
3.2 F2 generation rate	F2 generation rate is an
	index of the species
	continuation defined as $n_{\rm F2}/n$;
	where <i>n</i> is the total number of
	ostracod tested.

4.4. Summary

In this chapter, the methodology of a new chronic sediment toxicity test using *H*. *incongruens* is given and the test procedure is proposed from the intensive literature surveys.

• The selection of the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* in sediment toxicity test based on their features such as small size, asexual reproduction, and physical contact with sediment. The great advantage is that the test with *H. incongruens* was developed as a cyst-based test to reduce the burden of maintaining and culturing the live stocks. Their life history and reproduction characteristics of ostracod such as life span, first day of brooding, lifetime egg production, and hatching ratio e.g. can be used as reproductive endpoints for chronic sediment bioassays.

• The test is separated into three consecutive phases (1) a 14-day sediment exposure phase (with sediment) (2) a reproduction phase (without sediment), (3) a hatching test (the ostracod eggs produced and laid in the reproduction phase were transferred and observed in the hatching test for 14 d). This design was proposed which allows a quantitative measurement of ostracod reproduction.

• Incubation of the multi-well plates in 24h-darkness at 25°C and feeding the green algae (*S.acutus*) at 3.0×10^7 cells/well in the first week and TetraMin suspensions in the following weeks of test experiments were decided as the test parameters in this study.

• Determination of the mortality and growth inhibition compared with the controls as the effect criteria at the end of the 14-day sediment exposure period. Fecundity (e.g. life span, first day of brooding and egg-laying ratio etc.) are the measurement endpoint in the reproduction phase. Hatching rate and F2 generation rate of ostracod are the endpoint of the hatching test. The test repeatability as the measurement of the variability (coefficient variation) in the test endpoints and the acceptability criteria for control sediment were determined in the following chapter.

CHAPTER 5

EVALUATION OF TEST REPEATABILITY FOR A CHRONIC SEDIMENT TOXICITY TEST USING THE BENTHIC OSTRACOD HETEROCYPRIS INCONGRUENS

5.1. Introduction

To demonstrate the acceptable laboratory performance, intra-laboratory precision (repeatability) expressed as a coefficient of variation (CV) need to be determined (US EPA, 2000). Before conducting the sediment toxicity test with potentially contaminated sediment, the test with control sediment(s) should be performed. It helps to identify the acceptable responses of test organisms and good performance of the test method. In the previous chapter (chapter 4), the chronic sediment toxicity test method was proposed. To establish a new method, the test repeatability and test acceptability criteria for control sediments as test validation are needed to perform. Many factors can have considerable effects on the test result and strongly influence by intralaboratory variability (e.g., changes in test conditions, test duration, organism health and condition and choice of reference toxicant and feeding) (Moore et al., 2000). The repeatability of the test can measure by the intra-laboratory precision. The intralaboratory precision was expressed to quantify the variability of an endpoint for a specific toxicity test in order to interpret toxicity test results correctly and be able to apply it on sediments risk assessment (Bebon R., 2013). Additionally, the data of test repeatability can be used as test acceptability criteria.

This chapter aimed to evaluate the repeatability of the test method based on the coefficient of variation in each endpoint of proposed test. The life history and reproduction characteristics of ostracod *H. incongruens* in reference sediment (supplied from the ostracodtoxkit) were investigated. The seven batches of the control tests (total 500 ostracods) were conducted and the results were used to determine the test acceptability criteria for control sediment which will be necessary for future users of chronic ostracod toxicity test.

5.2. Materials and methods

5.2.1. Test medium

The composition of the test medium showed in chapter 3. Standard freshwater (SFW) was commonly used for ostracod culturing. Green algae *Scenedesmus acutus* N-94 used as food for ostracod in the first week of sediment exposure phase was cultured in C medium. TetraMin suspension was fed to ostracod in the second week of sediment exposure phase and reproduction phase. The details of hatching ostracod cysts prior to the test were also described in chapter 3 (section 3.3).

5.2.2. Test organisms

Freshwater benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* was purchased as dormant eggs (cysts) from MicroBioTests Inc., Belgium. The cysts were hatched before starting the toxicity test in standard freshwater (SFW). The detail procedures are already written in chapter 3.

5.2.3. Test sediment and test preparation

The clean reference sediment (RF) was obtained as a part of the Ostracodtoxkit F (MicroBioTests Inc., Belgium) and used as the control sediment in this study. The clean reference sediment (RF) was mixed with standard fresh water (SFW) at the ratio of 1:2 V/V (RF: SFW) in each well of the six-well microplates (IWAKI) and held in the incubator for 24 h before inoculating the test organisms (ostracod). The 24 h holding time was considered as equilibration time with SFW by storing at 25° C in the 24 h dark conditions prior to the test.

5.2.4. Repeatability of chronic ostracod toxicity test

Seven different batches of the control tests were performed in order to determine test repeatability (intra-laboratory variability) and were expressed as the CV. The chronic ostracod toxicity test method was performed as described above under control conditions. The seven batches of the control tests (total 500 ostracods) were conducted

using clean RF sediment as a part of the Ostracodtoxkit F (MicroBioTests Inc., Belgium). The sample was prepared by mixing the RF with SFW in the ratio of 1:2 v/v (RF: SFW) in each well of the 6-well microplates and held in an incubator for 24 h before inoculating the test organisms. The 24 h holding time was considered as the equilibration time with SFW by storing at 25°C in 24 h darkness prior to the test. The test was started by inoculating 10 freshly hatched ostracod neonates into incubated well plates and the toxicity test was terminated after all of the ostracods used died following the procedure of the chronic ostracod toxicity test.

5.2.5. Statistical analysis

All data and results were reported with standard deviations. The Grubb's test was applied to test outliers of the control data using Minitab 17 (State College, PA: Minitab Inc.). The CV was calculated as $CV = \text{standard deviation/mean} \times 100\%$ for each endpoint to determine test repeatability.

5.3. Results and discussion

5.3.1. Repeatability of the chronic ostracod toxicity test

Seven batches of the control tests were used to determine the CVs for test repeatability. Table 5.1 shows the overlying water quality, 14 d mortality and 14 d body lengths of ostracods in the RF sediment for each batch of the control tests. At the end of the 14 d sediment exposure phase, the reproduction phase was continually performed; the life history and reproduction characteristics of ostracods in RF sediments are shown in Table 5.2. Grubbs' test was then applied to identify the outliers for each endpoint of the control tables. The results showed good repeatability; only the first day of brooding in control_3 was detected as an outlier and was removed from the control dataset. The mean values after identifying outliers are shown in Table 5.3.

Table 5.3 shows the summary of 14 d mortality, 14 d body length, life history, and reproduction characteristics of *H. incongruens* in RF sediments. The CVs for the endpoints were determined to demonstrate and quantify the repeatability of the test. Most of the CV results for each endpoint showed good test repeatability, with CVs below 15%, whereas variability was higher for lifetime egg production, hatching ratio, and F2 generation rate endpoints with CVs ranging from 29.5% to 51.9% (Table 5.3). For the mortality endpoint, the average for 14 d mortality was 6.1%, with a CV of 42.6%. In this case, this should be interpreted with caution as the CV value may be high simply because of low mean; thus CV can be misleading while ascertaining the variability of such a dataset.

Samula	Control_1	Control_2	Control_3	Control_4	Control_5	Control_6	Control_7
Sample	(nw=6)	(nw=8)	(nw=8)	(nw=10)	(nw=6)	(nw=6)	(nw=6)
Date	May, 2014	Sep, 2014	Dec, 2014	May, 2015	July, 2015	Dec, 2015	Mar, 2016
рН	8.1±0.0	8.3±0.1	8.2±0.00	8.2±0.3	7.6±0.30	8.3±0.20	8.2±0.10
Conductivity	1.04±0.05	0.78±0.06	1.16±0.11	1±0.04	1.16±0.06	1.12±0.20	1.30±0.13
(mS/cm)							
Salinity (%)	0.05±0.00	0.03±0.01	0.05±0.00	0.04±0.01	0.05±0.01	0.06±0.01	0.07±0.01
14 d	67+52	8 8+0 0	1 3+3 5	4+0.5	67+87	67+82	8 3+4 1
mortality (%)	0.7±3.2	0.019.9	1.5±5.5	410.0	0.7±0.2	0.7±0.2	0.3±4.1
14 d body	1032+111	980+32	1017+27	996+103	1171+42.3	1230+93 7	1247+36 3
length (µm)	1052-111	700±32	1017-27	JJ0±105	11/127265	12001/0.7	1211-30.3

Table 5.1. The overlying water quality, 14 d mortality and 14 d body lengths of ostracods in the RF sediment for each batch of the control tests.

nw= number of wells

	Control_1		Control_2		Control_3		Control_4		Control_5		Control_6		Control_7	
Parameters	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals
<i>n</i> (ostracod tested)	60	38	80	55	80	48	100	69	60	41	60	38	60	45
Egg-laying ratio (%)	63.3	±12.1	68.8	±23.0	60.0	±11.2	69.0	±21.3	68.3	±13.3	63.3	±15.1	75.0	18.7
Life span (day) mean±SD [range]	27.4±1.8 [25-30] (nw=6)	30.2±1.8 [28-32] (nw=6)	25.9±2.8 [20-30] (nw=8)	30.2±3.2 [25-35] (nw=8)	27.4±2.0 [24-30] (nw=8	32.3±3.1 [26-36] (nw=8)	24.1±2.0 [19-27] (nw=10)	25.0±1.2 [23-27] (nw=10)	21.2±1.0 [20-23] (nw=6)	22.3±0.9 [21-24] (nw=6)	22.8±1.8 [21-26] (nw=6)	24.2±2.4 [21-27] (nw=6)	23.8±2.7 [21-28] (nw=6)	25.8±2.1 [22-28] (nw=6)
First day of brooding (day) mean±SD [range]	-	21.0±1.4 [19-23] (nw=6)	-	22.1±0.9 [21-23] (nw=8)	-	25.5±1.1 [24-27] (nw=8)	-	21.2±0.6 [20-22] (nw=10)	-	20.0±0.9 [19-22] (nw=6)	-	21.4±0.9 [20-23] (nw=6)	-	19.5±0.5 [19-20] (nw=6)
Mean day of egg production mean±SD [range]	-	23.7±1.4 [22-26] (nw=6)	-	24.6±1.8 [23-28] (nw=8)	-	27.8±1.4 [26-30] (nw=8)	-	22.3±0.5 [21-23] (nw=10)	-	20.4±0.8 [20-22] (nw=6)	-	22.8±1.9 [21-25] (nw=6)	-	21.7±1.1 [20-23] (nw=6)
Total no. of eggs produced (egg)	12	221	17	14	13	340	1:	295	6	68	6	45	17	96
Lifetime egg production (egg/ind.) mean±SD [range]	20.4±8.2 [12-33] (nw=6)	32.1±21.9 [2-78] (n=38)	21.4±10.8 [10-43] (nw=8)	31.2±29.9 [1-109] (n=55)	16.8±7.5 [8-28] (nw=8)	27.9±19.8 [1-82] (n=48)	13.0±7.9 [3-27] (nw=10)	18.8±15.6 [1-68] (n=69)	11.1±3.6 [7-16] (nw=6)	16.3±10.7 [1-39] (n=41)	10.8±8.4 [1-23] (nw=6)	17.0±24.7 [1-109] (n=39)	29.9±15.8 [13-53] (nw=6)	32.5±30.0 [1-109] (n=45)
Hatching ratio (%)	Not det	ermined	12	2.8	7	.4	1	8.8	2	8.0	14	4.1	17	.0
F2 generation rate	Not det	ermined	2.	74	1.	.24	0	.62	3.	.12	1.	.52	5.	08

Table 5.2 The life history and reproduction characteristics of ostrac	ods in RF sediments.
---	----------------------

nw = number of wells

5.3.2. Test acceptability criteria

The test acceptability criteria for the chronic ostracod toxicity test are proposed in Table 5.3. These values are presented as the mean and upper and lower control limits (± 2 standard deviations) of each endpoint for *H. incongruens* reproduction except for mortality and body length. Control limits of ± 2 standard deviation were proposed to demonstrate acceptable test performance and establish the control toxicity test charts in the United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) method (US EPA, 2000). However, due to the fact that a high CV of \geq 30% was observed at the endpoints for lifetime egg production, hatching ratio, and F2 generation rate, acceptability criteria were not defined for these parameters.

In terms of setting acceptability criteria for mortality, mortality and growth as a second "sublethal" effect criteria was published in 2002 (Chial B and Persoone G., 2002b). These criteria effects were based on the 6 d ostracod toxicity test. In this study, the responses of ostracods in control sediments after 14 d of exposure were used to set the validity criteria for ostracod mortality and body length. The mean 14 d mortality in the control tests was 6.1% (95% confidence interval 3.7–8.5%); the threshold for mortality criterion could be set at 10%. However, the ISO 14371 method (ISO, 2012) proposed a 20% mortality as a valid threshold for 6 d ostracod mortality and most of the sediment tests were conducted with freshwater invertebrates in the US EPA method (US EPA, 2000) and the minimum mean control survival was set at 80%. Thus, 20% mortality was decided as the acceptability threshold for 14 d ostracod mortality in this new proposed chronic ostracod toxicity test.

For setting ostracod body length, the mean final ostracod length after 14 d of exposure of all seven control test batches was 1096 μ m with a lower confidence interval of 989 μ m (Table 5.3). According to the Chial and Persoone study (Chial B and Persoone G., 2002b); a lower 95% confidence interval of body length was used to set minimum ostracod growth in control sediments. Following that previously mentioned, we decided to impose a 14 d ostracod body length of at least 900 μ m as the acceptability criterion in control sediments. In addition, the further development of ostracod body length criteria is possible, and a growth factor criterion

of 1.5 has been proposed in the ISO 14371 method instructions (ISO, 2012) based on conclusions from inter-laboratory comparisons. The toxicity test was considered valid when the mean ostracod body length in control sediments was at least 1.5 times greater than the mean body length at the start of the test. This criterion was laid instead of a strict mathematical increase of 400 μ m body length as proposed by Chial and Persoone (2002b). The proposed test acceptability criteria for control sediment will be used to determine the validity of the control test and to help interpret the toxicity results correctly in the following chapters.

Table 5.3. The summary of 14 d mortality, 14 d body length, life history, and reproduction characteristics of *H. incongruens* in RF sediments and the test acceptability criteria for the chronic ostracod toxicity test.

	Со	ntrol_ALL(N=7)	Proposed	test acceptability		
Parameters	All Egg-laying individuals		criteria for control sediment			
14 d mortality (%)	6.1:	$\pm 2.6 (CV = 42.6\%)$	≤20	% mortality		
14 d body length (µm)	1096	5±116 (CV = 10.6%)		≥ 900 µm		
Egg-laying ratio (%)	66.	8±5.0 (CV = 7.5%)	5	6.8 – 76.8		
Life span (day) mean±SD [range]	24.7±2.3 [21.2-27.4] (CV = 9.3%)	27.1±3.7 [22.3-32.3] (CV = 13.7%)	20.1 - 29.3	19.7 - 34.5		
First day of brooding (day) mean±SD [range]	-	20.9±1.0 [19.5-22.1] (N=6 [*]) (CV = 4.8%)	-	18.9 – 22.9		
Mean day of egg production mean±SD [range]	-	23.3±2.4 [20.4-27.8] (CV = 10.3%)	-	18.5 – 28.1		
Lifetime egg production (egg/ind.) mean±SD [range]	17.6±6.9 [10.8-29.9] (CV = 39.2%)	25.1±7.4 [16.3-32.5] (CV = 29.5%)	n.d. (not	determined since		
Hatching ratio (%)	16.4±6.9	$(CV = 42.1\%) (N=6^{**})$	the high coe	fficient of variations)		
F2 generation rate	2.7±1.4	(CV = 51.9%) (N=6**)				

Calculation based on 7 batched of experiments in control conditions, *Control_3 was identified as outlier using Grubbs' test and excluded from calculation, CV= coefficient of variation, **Hatching rate, and F₂ generation rate was calculated from all batch of the experiments except for Control_1, 95% confident interval (C.I.) for 14 d body length of ostracod is 989-1203 μ m.

5.3.3. Effect of food on *H. incongruens* reproduction

Havel and Talbott (1995) showed that the average life span of ostracods was 25 d (14–37 d) and that reproduction started from day 19 (day 13–25). These values were not considerably different from this study of a 24.7 d mean life span and the average first day of brooding as day 20.9. The lifetime egg production of ostracods in the Havel and Talbott study (1995) was 36.5 eggs/individual (0-64 eggs), which was considerably different from this study of 17.6 eggs/ individual. The possible explanations could be different conditions of these two studies that included the amount, type, and frequency of feeding. Algae *Selenastrum* sp. at a final cell density of 8 x 10^6 cells/ml were fed to each individual three times a week that was about 2.7 times higher than that of this study. In terms of reproduction characteristics, ostracods and daphnia reproduce by parthenogenesis (Rossi et al., 1996, 2013). Pavlaki et al., (2014) reported that the reproduction of *Daphnia magna* increased as the food level increasing after a 21 d exposure test to different food levels. D. magna was fed every day with Raphidocelis subcapitata at a rate of 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 x 10⁶ cells/ml of medium and the number of offspring gradually increased with increasing food amounts. Future research is needed to quantify ostracod reproduction and the effects of different foods (e.g., different algal species and nonliving food) to optimize the feeding conditions of the proposed test method. These would be useful to identify the variability and possibility that food contained in the control sediment might affect their reproduction rate.

5.3.4. Endpoint variability in the chronic ostracod toxicity test

In this study, a high CV (\geq 30%) was found in lifetime egg production, hatching ratio, and F2 generation rate compare with other endpoints. Havel and Talbott (1995) showed that lifetime fecundity and egg development time of ostracods were variable (CV of 73% and 116%, respectively) under control conditions in contrast to a low variation in body length (CV of 21%). Based on the variability of the endpoints, the CV in control sediment has also been documented in *Chironomus tentans* life-cycle test, survival (<20%), growth weight (<15%), emergence (<30%), reproduction as mean eggs produced/female (<20%), percent hatch

(<10%) (Sibley et al., 1996; Benoit et al., 1997). Ingersoll et al., (1998) showed the reproduction of *Hyalella azteca* more variable than growth. The CVs were typically <10% for growth and >20% for reproduction. These studies indicated that more replicates might be needed for reproductive endpoint in order to determine the statistical differences among treatments (Ingersoll et al., 1998; US EPA, 2000). In general, the variations were dependent on either environmental factors in the test conditions such as overlying water quality or incubation temperature or biological factors such as the age of the test organisms, food quality and quantity, and the experience of those conducting the tests. Given that a high CV may affect the statistical power of the comparisons, increasing the number of test replicates should be considered to minimize test variability; the CV for mortality decreased from around 38% to 8% when the test replicates increased from 3 to 4 to 8 replicates in a 6 d exposure test of *H. incongruens* with a toxic sediment (Chial B and Persoone G., 2002b).

Likewise, the hatching ratio as well as the F2 generation rate was highly variable among the control tests. The hatching characteristics of benthic ostracods may account for the large variation in hatching time. Ostracod species are known to lay both rapidly- and delayed-hatched eggs (Havel and Talbott, 1995; Angell and Hancock, 1989; Rossi et al., 1996; Retrum et al., 2011); hence, the eggs that remain after an observation period may be still viable and may be expected to hatch after some time. Angell and Hancock (1989) showed that *H. incongruens* eggs could be hatched under drying and freezing at different temperatures. Havel and Talbott (1995) reported a highly variable hatching time that ranged from 1 to 157 d for 90 eggs. Further studies are necessary to investigate the hatching characteristics of *H. incongruens* in order to reduce test variations.

5.4. Summary

A new chronic sediment toxicity test using benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* was previously proposed. This chapter showed the repeatability of the test by determining the variability of test endpoints (measured as coefficient of variations) and test acceptability criteria for control sediment. The seven batches (500 in a total of individual ostracods used) of the control tests using reference sediment were conducted. The results are summarized as follows.

• Almost all endpoints in the proposed chronic method showed good test repeatability with CVs below 15%, whereas variability was higher in lifetime egg production, hatching ratio, and F2 generation rate endpoints with CVs ranging from 29.5% to 51.9%.

• The test acceptability criteria of control sediment were first proposed and established in this study. The 20% mortality rate was decided as the acceptability threshold for 14 d mortality and at least 900 μ m for the 14 d body length of *H. incongruens*, and

• The reproduction of *H. incongruens* in control sediment was regarded acceptable if the egg-laying ratio was in the range of 56.8–76.8%. The mean life span of all individuals was 20.1–29.3 d and 19.7–34.5 d for an egg-laying individual. First day of brooding and mean lifetime egg production were 18.9–22.9 d and 18.5–28.1 d, respectively.

• As a results of a high CV of \geq 30% was observed in lifetime egg production both of all individual and egg-laying individual, hatching ratio, and F2 generation rate. Thus, the acceptability criteria of these endpoints were not defined. The results showed the natural variability of the endpoint in the control sediment. The next chapters will conduct the test with reference toxicants and environmental sediment sample to observe the sensitivity and suitability of proposed chronic test. The proposed test acceptability criteria for control sediment will be used to determine the validity of the control test and to help interpret the toxicity results correctly in the following chapters.

CHAPTER 6

TOXICITY ASSESSMENTS OF NICKEL ON REPRODUCTION OF THE BENTHIC OSTRACOD *HETEROCYPRIS INCONGRUENS*

6.1. Introduction

Heavy metals are abundant, persistent and potentially toxic contaminants in aquatic ecosystems (Tang et al., 2014). Heavy metal contamination in the environment can be naturally produced, but mostly by anthropogenic activities such as agriculture, mining, combustion of fuels and vehicles and industrial or manufacturing (Luoma et al., 2008). Throughout releasing into the aquatic environment, heavy metals have persisted in water and accumulated in sediment. Therefore, they cause an adverse effect on aquatic organisms particularly on benthic organisms via direct absorption through water or sediment ingestion (Iwasaki et al., 2009; Stankovic et al., 2014; Magalhães et al., 2015).

Nickel cause disorders of the respiratory system, Mg²⁺ antagonism and kidney lesions in fish and other aquatic animals (Shuhaimi-Othman et al., 2012). Pane et al., (2004) studied the toxic effects of chronic waterborne nickel exposure which caused significantly decreases in survival, growth and reproduction of *Daphnia magna*. Additionally, nickel is defined as one of the priority pollutants in EPA's Aquatic Life Criteria Table. As of that sensitivity and chronic toxicity of nickel has been investigated for a number of invertebrates' species such as larvae of Chironomus riparius (Powlesland and George, 1986), cladoceran Ceriodaphnia Dubia (Kszos et al., 1992; Keithly et al., 2004) and amphipod Hyalella azteca (Borgmann et al., 2001; Keithly et al., 2004). Since the availability of ostracod toxicity test using H. incongruens which were developed and standardized (Chial and Persoone, 2002a, b, c; ISO, 2012), it has been extensive used to test on various metals toxicity studies (Kudlak et al., 2011; Sevilla et al., 2013, 2014). Kudlak et al., (2011) showed toxicity for a variety of metals (Cd, Hg, Cu, Cr, Ni, Mn, Zn, Pb, Li, Fe) spiked in reference sediment by determining median effective concentration (EC50) and the median lethal concentration (LC50) using H. incongruens. Sevilla et al., (2013) reported the sensitivity of H. incongruens to copper (Cu) and zinc (Zn) under different foods and photoperiods. Sevilla et al., (2014) determined the effects of metals on

H. incongruens through aquatic and dietary exposure using cadmium (Cd), copper (Cu) and zinc (Zn). Relative to other metals such as copper (Cu) and zinc (Zn), sensitivity and toxicity of nickel to ostracod has been showed less attention. To date, there is only a study of nickel toxicity to ostracod mortality by Kudlak et al., (2011). Additionally, the toxicity study of nickel was mainly focused based on 6-d mortality and growth inhibition of ostracod. As far as we known, the toxic effects of nickel on the reproduction of ostracod *H. incongruens* have never been reported.

In this chapter, the aim was to assess the toxicity of nickel on the reproduction of benthic ostracod *H. incongruens*. Previous chapters showed the detail methodology and the results of test repeatability for the proposed chronic test. The test was conducted to determine the chronic toxicity of nickel where ostracod was exposed with serial dilutions of nickel by diluting with standard freshwater. The acute to chronic ratio (ACR) of nickel was calculated to compare the sensitivity between the other test species.

(Toxicity assessments using zinc, chromium III, and VI on the ostracod reproduction were also performed. The results are shown in Appendix A. The chronic toxicity of chromium III, and VI were not detected in the tested range concentrations. Zinc showed high 14 d mortality, thus toxicity of zinc on ostracod reproduction was not obtained by this method.)
6.2. Materials and methods

6.2.1. Test chemicals

The preparation of nickel solution was described in chapter 3. The stock solutions of nickel were measured before diluting with standard freshwater (SFW) and test series were prepared in 10 times interval. The exposure concentrations were estimated as half as measured concertation from the stock solutions because of the subsequent dilution by algal food suspension. Exposure concentrations of C0 = SFW, C1 = 0.012, C2 = 0.12, C3 = 1.2, C4 = 12, C5 = 120 and $C6 = 1200 \mu g/l$ of Ni were used for the ostracod toxicity test.

6.2.2. Test organisms

Freshwater benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* was purchased as dormant eggs (cysts) from MicroBioTests Inc., Belgium. The cysts were hatched before starting the toxicity test in standard freshwater (SFW). The detail procedures are already written in chapter 3.

6.2.3. Chronic ostracod toxicity test

A chronic ostracod toxicity test was only performed in this study. The procedures and timeline of each phase in the chronic toxicity test were shown in chapter 4. Ostracod neonates were exposed to different concentrations of the nickel which were spiked in reference sediment prior starting the toxicity test for 24h darkness in 25°C incubator. The experiments were carried out in six replicates in each concentration of nickel and one replicate for 14 d body length measurement of ostracod.

6.2.4. Statistical analysis

The experimental data were analyzed following the description of statistical analysis in chapter 3. The 50% and 20% lethal concentrations (LC50 and LC20) were calculated using Probit analysis while the non- observed effect concentrations (NOE(L)C) and lowest observed effect concentrations (LOEC) were determined using Dunnett's test or Chisquare test. The acute to chronic ratios (ACRs) were calculated as the ratio of the LC50/EC50 to the chronic MATC, NOEC or EC20.

6.3. Results and discussions

Table 6.1 shows the results of 14 d mortality, 14 d body length, the life history and reproduction characteristics of ostracod *H. incongruens* under control condition. All the data set in control tests were evaluated based on the proposed test acceptability criteria for control sediments in chapter 5 (acceptability criteria of lifetime egg production, hatching ratio and F2 generation rate were not defined). The results met all the acceptability criteria for the chronic ostracod toxicity test to be acceptable.

Parameters	Control			
	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals		
14 d mortality (%)		6.7±8.2		
14 d body length (μm)		1171±42.3		
Egg-laying ratio (%)	68.3±13.3			
Life span (day) mean±SD [range]	21.2±1.0 [20-23]	22.3±0.9 [21-24]		
First day of brooding (day) mean±SD [range]	-	20.0±0.9 [19-22]		
Mean day of egg production mean±SD [range]	-	20.4±0.8 [20-22]		
Lifetime egg production (egg/ind.) mean±SD [range]	11.1±3.6 [7-16]	16.3±10.7 [1-39]		
Hatching ratio (%)		28		
F2 generation rate		3.12		

Table 6.1 Test validity: 14 d mortality, 14 d body length and life history reproduction characteristics of ostracod *H. incongruens* under control condition

6.3.1. Toxicity of nickel on reproduction of a benthic ostracod *H. incongruens*

Figures 6.1a shows the dose response relationship between 14 d mortality and different concentrations of nickel. Under the highest nickel exposure concentrations (C6 = 1200 µgNi/l), the mortality of ostracod after 14-day exposure was 41.7% (detailed data are shown in Appendix D). Thus, the estimated 14-d LC50 was 2.95×10^3 µgNi/l with an NOLC of 12 µgNi/l for 14 d mortality. The 14-d LC20 was calculated as 5.03 µgNi/l. There was a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in C5=120 µgNi/l and C6=1200 µgNi/l for 14 d mortality. The only study of nickel toxicity to ostracod *H. incongruens* was reported by Kudlak et al. (2011) showing 6d-LC50 of 2.41 mgNi/l. The difference in cationic concentrations of the test water, because distilled water was used instead of standard freshwater (SFW) in Kudlak et al. (2011) study.

Figure 6.1b shows the dose response relationship between 14 d growth inhibition of ostracod with nickel concentrations. Ostracod growth decreased with increased nickel concentrations. Statistically significant difference was found between the control case (C0) and all diluted nickel concentrations (C1-C6). The growth of ostracod was more sensitive than mortality with LOEC $\leq 0.012 \mu g$ Ni/l for 14-d growth inhibition. In contrast to amphipod *H. azteca*, Keithly et al., (2004) showed survival was more sensitive than growth in the 14-day nickel test with *H. azteca*. The basis for the differences between the two studies may be due to variability of the test species or slight differences in the test methodology (e.g., organism age, or feeding conditions). The ages of amphipod used were 7- to 8-d old at the start of the test (Keithly et al., 2004). In addition, they used a different feeding, a standard mixture of yeast, chlorophyll, and trout chow (YCT) were fed in the amphipod 14-d test. In the present study, the ostracod neonates \leq 52 h old and the fresh algal suspensions *S. acutus* were used.

It has to be kept in mind that the results are presented in exposure concentrations with test series was prepared in 10 times interval. This would have an effect on the accuracy for log scale-wide range of nickel concentrations and the actual concentrations of non-observed effect (lethal) concentration (NOECs or NOLCs). The results of the ostracod reproduction exposure to different concentrations of nickel are shown in Figure 6.2a, b, c, d. and Table

6.2. Figure 6.2a shows the relationship of mean life span by all individual and the egglaying ratio of ostracod with nickel concentrations. The mean life span of all individual was considerably decreased in a high concentration of nickel (C5 and C6). There was a statistically significant difference in these two nickel exposure cases (p<0.05). Egg-laying ratios were varied by nickel concentrations and two highest concentrations of nickel (C5 and C6) caused a statistically significant decreased egg-laying ratio.

The mean life span of egg-laying individuals, first day of brooding and mean day of egg production under nickel exposure cases are shown in Figure 6.2b. The mean life span of egg-laying individuals slightly longer in nickel exposure cases than in control condition. There was a statistically significant difference in C4 and C6. First day of brooding and mean day of egg productions were slightly changed with nickel concentrations, but the only significant difference was observed in C4 in mean day of egg production. The total number of eggs produced in the control case and under different nickel concentrations as shown in Table 6.2. Mean lifetime egg production by all individuals and by egg-laying individuals varied with nickel concentrations, but no significant difference was observed. The results showed the mean lifespan of egg-laying individuals increased nickel concentrations. Thus, lifetime egg production of ostracod egg-laying individuals increased with increase of nickel concentrations though at the highest concentration of nickel (C6) was slightly decreased. Based on the results, mean lifetime egg production was not a reliable endpoint in the current chronic ostracod toxicity test.

Although the two highest concentration of nickel (C5 and C6) was not kill more than 50% of ostracod in 14d-sediment exposure phase; under these concentrations of nickel, it has an impact on ostracod reproduction. Based on this study, the average first day of brooding in the control and by nickel exposure cases is about 20 day whereas the mean life span of all individual less than 20 days in two high concentration of nickel (C5 and C6) (Table 6.2). The results showed that some ostracods died before producing their first brood. As a result, the egg-laying ratio was statistically significantly low in C5 and C6, which implied the toxic effect of nickel on the ostracod reproduction at these two concentrations.

Figure 6.2d and Table 6.2 shows the results of hatching test with nickel concentrations. Under different nickel concentrations, the lowest hatching ratio was in the highest concentrations of nickel (C6) in contrast to higher hatching ratio than control in C1. Statistically significant difference in hatching ratio (p<0.05, Chi-square test) was obtained in C1, C3-C6. F2 generation rate became lowest in the highest concentration of nickel (C6). F2 generation rate is an index of the species continuation, and the value ≤ 1 in C4-C6 indicates the possibility of extinction of the ostracod population.

The 14d-LC20 shows the concentrations of the nickel that kill 20% of ostracod during a 14-day exposure to sediment phase, but it was not evaluated the effect on reproduction or the next generations of ostracod. The hatching ratio and F2 generation rate were highly variable which were also demonstrated in chapter 5. Considering the aspects of the accuracy and repeatability of test endpoints, egg-laying ratio and lifespan for all individual are selected as the reliable and sensitive chronic endpoint. The results of the proposed chronic test demonstrated non observed effect concentration (NOEC) of 12 μ g Ni/l in egg-laying ratio and lifespan for all individual.

The results of chronic nickel effect as waterborne toxicity showed statistically significant difference in term of ostracod life span and egg-laying ratio. However, ostracod is epibenthic species which ostracod contact to toxicants in various pathways such as ingests the contaminated sediment or food-contaminated toxicants. The different of toxicity pathway may affect in different sensitivity to ostracod which showing in the different sensitive endpoint. Previous study of Pane et al. (2004) showed the 21 d chronic Ni waterborne exposure caused significant decrease in survival, reproduction and growth of *Daphnia magna*. In contrast, there is no decisive evidence that dietary pathway of nickel exposure has affected on growth or total reproductive output of *Daphnia magna* (Evens et al., 2009). Further research such as Ni-spiking in sediment, dietary Ni exposure as food-contaminated toxicants is required to test if this could also be the case for ostracod.



Figure 6.1 Dose-response relationships between (a) 14 d mortality of ostracod and (b) 14 d growth inhibition with nickel concentrations. The broken lines show 95% upper and lower confidence limits (95%UCL and LCL). Error bar represents standard error.



Figure 6.2 Relationships between reproduction of ostracod and nickel concentrations (a) mean lifespan for all individual and egg-laying ratio, (b) mean lifespan for egg-laying individual, first day of brooding and mean day of egg production, (c) lifetime egg production for all individual and egg-laying individual, (d) hatching ratio and F2 generation rate. Error bar represents standard error.

	C ()		Exposure concentrations (µgNi/l)											
Parameters	Contro	I (CU)	C1=	0.012	C2	= 0.12	C3 :	= 1.2	C4	= 12	C5 =	120	C6 =	1200
Taranteers	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals
n (ostracod tested)	60	41	60	37	60	44	60	44	60	39	60	10	60	12
Egg-laying ratio (%)	68.3±	13.3	61.7:	±34.9	73.	3±18.6	73.3:	±15.1	65±	±15.2	16.7±	15.1*	20.0±	12.6*
Life span (day) mean±SD [range]	21.2±1.0 [20-23] (nw=6)	22.3±0.9 [21-24] (nw=6)	21.1±1.2 [19-22] (nw=6)	22.3±0.4 [22-23] (nw=5)	22.0±1.6 [20-24] (nw=6)	23.7±1.6 [22-26] (nw=6)	22.6±1.7 [20-25] (nw=6)	24.9±1.6 [22-26] (nw=6)	22.7±1.4 [21-25] (nw=6)	26.1±1.6* [24-29] (nw=6)	17.6±1.2* [16-19] (nw=6)	25.2±2.3 [22-28] (nw=5)	18.3±2.2* [16-21] (nw=6)	25.4±3.3* [20-29] (nw=5)
First day of brooding (day) mean±SD [range]	-	20.0±0.9 [19-22] (nw=6)	-	19.9±0.7 [19-21] (nw=5)	-	20.0±0.7 [19-21] (nw=6)	-	20.4±0.7 [20-22] (nw=6)	-	20.8±0.6 [20-22] (nw=6)	-	20.0±1.9 [18-22] (nw=5)	-	20.9±1.5 [19-23] (nw=5)
Mean day of egg production mean±SD [range]	-	20.4±0.8 [20-22] (nw=6)	-	20.5±0.5 [20-21] (nw=5)	-	21.2±1.2 [20-23] (nw=6)	-	21.9±0.9 [20-23] (nw=6)	-	22.5±0.7* [22-24] (nw=6)	-	21.1±1.7 [18-22] (nw=5)	-	22.3±2.0 [20-25] (nw=5)
Total eggs produced (egg)	668	3	48	82	1	103	10	81	9	73	28	9	32	28
Lifetime egg production (egg/ind.) mean±SD [range]	11.1±3.6 [7-16] (nw=6)	16.3±10.7 [1-39] (n=41)	8.0±5.0 [0-13] [nw=6)	13.0±9.3 [1-37] (n=37)	18.4±9.2 [4-29] (nw=6)	25.1±16.9 [3-62] (n=44)	18.0±9.0 [8-31] (nw=6)	24.6±19.4 [2-83] (n=44)	16.2±6.2 [8-24] (nw=6)	24.9±15.0 [4-74] (n=39)	4.8±6.4 [0-17] (nw=6)	28.9±25.2 [2-75] (n=10)	5.5±4.4 [0-10] (nw=6)	27.3±15.8 [6-62] (n=12)
Hatching ratio (%)	28		36.	7**	2	23.8	20.	8**	6.	2**	2.8	**	0.9	**
F2 generation rate	3.1	2	2.	95	2	4.38	3.	75	1	.00	0.1	13	0.	05

Table 6.2 Life history characteristics of ostracod under control and after exposure to different concentrations of nickel

* p<0.05 in Dunnett' test. ** p<0.05 in Chi-square test. nw= number of wells

6.3.2. Acute to chronic ratio (ACR) of nickel and sensitivity comparison with other test species

Table 6.3 summarizes the toxicity data of nickel to ostracod *H. incongruens* and other invertebrate species. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report on nickel chronic toxicity to ostracod *H. incongruens*. The chronic nickel toxicity to ostracod *H. incongruens* was compared to the previously reports of chronic Ni exposure with other test species. Chronic Ni toxicity in the amphipod *Hyalella azteca* was reported as EC25 for growth of 17 μ gNi/l (Borgmann et al., 2001) and 14d-EC20 of 61 μ g/L (Keithly et al., 2004) at a hardness of 98 mg/L (as CaCO₃) which was comparable with this study. Powlesland and George (1986) reported the chronic toxicity of nickel to larvae of *Chironomus riparius* (Meigen) as MATC of 1.1 mgNi/l for 30 d-growth. The effect of nickel to cladoceran *Ceriodaphnia Dubia* was reported as NOEC (7d-reproduction) of 5 μ gNi/l by Kszos et al., (1992) and 7d-EC20 of 4.7 μ gNi/l by Keithly et al., (2004). Another study showed the nickel NOEC (21d-reproduction) for *Daphnia magna* as 15 μ gNi/l (Biesinger and Christensen, 1972), 13 μ gNi/l (Kszos et al., 1992) and 42 μ gNi/l (Pane et al., 2004). The results show different sensitivity in different endpoint investigated as well as test species.

The mechanism of nickel toxicity to aquatic organisms has been awaited for fully understanding because the difference in physiology among organisms may affect mechanisms of toxicity. Nickel toxicity appears to act more like an ionoregulatory toxicant in aquatic invertebrates. In contrast, nickel has been found to be impaired the respiratory function to fish (Niyogi et al., 2014). Pane et al. (2003, 2004) reported the mechanisms of chronic waterborne nickel toxicity in the freshwater cladoceran, *D. magna.* Toxicity of nickel in both acute and chronic exposures causes disruption of Mg²⁺ uptake and reduction of whole body Mg²⁺ concentrations to *D. magna.* Additionally, chronic nickel exposure impaired respiratory function, as both oxygen consumption and whole-body hemoglobin content of *D. magna* were significantly decreased by 31 and 68%, respectively (Pane et al., 2003).

Species	Acute (mg/l)	Chronic (µg/l)	ACR	Median ACR	References	
Heterocypris incongruens	6d-LC50: 2.41 ^a	NOEC (egg-laying ratio, lifespan for all individual): 12 ^b	201	201	^a Kudlak et al., 2011 and ^b This study	
Hyalella azteca	96 h-LC50: 3.05 ^d	IC25 for growth (4weeks): 17 ^c	179	115	^c Borgmann et al., 2001 ^d Keithly et al.,	
		14d-EC20 (growth): 61 ^d	50	ACR 201 115 72 - 31 34	2004	
Chironomus riparius	48 h-LC50: 79.5 ^e	MATC (30d- growth of larvae):1100 ^e	72	72	^e Powlesland and George 1986	
Chironomus tentans	24h- EC50 (immobilization): 78.1 ^f 48hr- EC50 (immobilization): 69.5 ^f	-	-	-	^f Khangarot and Ray, 1989	
Ceriodaphnia dubia	48 hr-LC50: 0.15 ^d	NOEC (7d- reproduction): 5 ^g	30	31	^g Kszos et al. 1992	
		7d- EC20 (reproduction): 4.7 ^d	32		^d Keithly et al., 2004	
		NOEC (21 d- reproduction): 15 ^h	34		^h Biesinger and Christensen	
Danhnia magna	48 hr-LC50 (immobilization):	NOEC (21 d- reproduction): 13 ⁱ	39	34	ⁱ Kszos et al	
Duprinu mugnu	0.51 ^h	NOEC (21 d- reproduction, and growth of maternal (F ₀ generation)): 42 ^j	12	201 115 72 - 31 34	Kszos et al. 1992 ^j Pane et al., 2004	

Table 6.3 Freshwater toxicity data of nickel and acute to chronic ratio (ACR)

NOEC = no observed effect concentration; EC20, = 20% effect concentrations; IC25= 25% Inhibition concentrations; MATC= maximum acceptable toxic concentration

To facilitate in sensitivity comparison, acute to chronic ratios (ACR, unitless) were calculated based on the available chronic and acute toxicity data for freshwater invertebrates of nickel from Table 6.3. In the United States, ACRs are commonly calculated as an acute LC50/MATC and used for deriving water quality criteria for aquatic life (Raimondo et al. 2007; Mebane et al., 2008). ACRs have also been reported as LC50/EC20s. US EPA (2007) used chronic EC20 values as a

replacement of the MATC in ACRs to derive water quality criteria for copper. In the European Union, Australia and New Zealand, ACRs are usually calculated as LC50/NOEC when used to derive water quality guidelines or to register industrial substances for use. Canada has a national goal for environmental quality of no observable adverse effects on aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems over the long-term, and uses chronic NOECs or EC10 (Mebane et al., 2008). Additionally, ACRs can be calculated as an acute LC50 divided by long-term LC50 in the study of Grosell et al., (2006). Mebane et al., (2008) stated that these calculated ACRs by using the same endpoint over different exposure times is not used to estimate protective concentrations for untested species, but only reflect the influence of duration or acclimation on lethality. Thus, the ACRs in this study were calculated from acute toxicity data (LC50) by the chronic MATC, NOEC, and EC20s on growth and reproduction. The results of ACRs indicated the difference in sensitivity of the species. Median nickel ACR of *H. incongruens* was 201 followed by median ACRs of H. azteca, C. riparius, D. magna and C. dubia. Based on this study, the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* had the highest ACR among other test organisms. The high ACR demonstrated a great difference between the chronic and acute toxicities. From this view point, conducting only the acute toxicity test for *H. incongruens* may mislead to underestimate the nickel toxicity to ostracod. This also indicates the importance of conducting the chronic toxicity test proposed in this study. However, it has to be considered that nickel concentrations were prepared in 10 time interval as the initial range-finding test of this study. This would have a great effect on accuracy of ACRs and discussing the ostracod's sensitivity compared to other species, as well as the evaluation of the risk that environmental concentrations pose to them.

The variability of ACRs among species in Table 6.3 may be partly due to the difference in the endpoint of the chronic toxicity tests. The endpoint for *H. azteca* and *C. riparius* was growth inhibition while that for other species was reproduction. The mode of action is naturally different in different endpoints, and the difference will results in the variability of ACRs. Table 6.3 also shows a great difference in acute toxicity data among test species. In general, the planktonic crustaceans showed high sensitivity in acute toxicity compared with the benthic organisms in Table 6.3.

Although the mechanism of low sensitivity in the benthic organisms is not well understood, the different sensitivity in acute toxicity tests caused the variability of ACRs. Raimondo et al., (2007) reported that ACR variability related to chemical MOA and class, taxa (invertebrates and fish), and ambient media (freshwater and saltwater) and should be considered when applying ACRs in risk assessment.

Shuhaimi-Othman et al., (2012) showed the application of using an acute-to-chronic ratio (ACR) to derive freshwater quality criteria for iron, lead, nickel, and zinc for the protection of aquatic life. The results of this study would be useful for further derive the ACR and criterion continuous concentration of nickel for the protection of benthic community. Further studies are required for test sensitivity of ostracod in different metals, a group of chemicals or their mixture to represent environmental contaminated sediments (usually mixtures of different chemicals). This chapter showed the first report of the chronic nickel toxicity to ostracod *H. incongruens*. The next chapter reported an application example of the proposed chronic test using urban road dust as an environmental sediment sample.

6.4. Summary

In this chapter, the aim was to assess the toxicity of nickel on the reproduction of benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* using the proposed chronic ostracod toxicity test and to compare the sensitivity of other test species using acute to chronic ratios (ACRs).

• The mortality of ostracod after a 14-day exposure to a highest concentration of nickel (C6=1200 μ gNi/l) was 41.7%. Thus, the estimated 14-d LC50 was 2.95x10³ μ gNi/l with an NOLC (14-d mortality) of 12 μ gNi/l and the 14-d LC20 was calculated as 5.03 μ gNi/l.

• Among the endpoint investigated in 14-day sediment exposure phase, the growth of ostracod was more sensitive than mortality with LOEC $\leq 0.012 \ \mu g Ni/l$ for 14-d growth inhibition.

• Under sublethal concentration of nickel, it has an impact on ostracod reproduction. The resulted showed mean life span of all individual was considerably decreased and statistically significant difference (p<0.05) found in 120 and 1200 µgNi/l of nickel exposure cases. The egg-laying ratio was statistically significantly low in these two concentrations with NOEC of 12 µgNi/l for egg-ratio and life span for all individual.

• The statistically significant difference in hatching ratio (p<0.05, Chi-square test) was obtained in 1.2, 12, 120, 1200 µgNi/l. F2 generation rate became lowest in the highest concentration of nickel (C6=1200 µgNi/l) which the value ≤ 1 in 12, 120, 1200 µgNi/l indicates the possibility of extinction of the ostracod population. However, C1 (0.012 µgNi/l) cause the higher hatching ratio and statistically significant difference was obtained. Base on the results of this study, the hatching ratio as well as F2 generation rate showed high variation with nickel concentrations and may not be reliable endpoint. The high variability of these two endpoints was also shown in chapter 5.

• The benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* had the highest ACR among other test organisms. The high ACR demonstrated a great difference between the chronic and acute toxicities. From this view point, conducting only the acute toxicity test for H. incongruens may mislead to underestimate the nickel toxicity to ostracod. This also indicates the importance of conducting the chronic toxicity test proposed in this study. However, it has to be considered about the accuracy of an ACR for nickel concentrations were in 10 time interval as the initial range-finding test of this study.

CHAPTER 7

TOXICITY ASSESSMENTS OF URBAN ROAD DUST ON REPRODUCTION OF THE BENTHIC OSTRACOD HETEROCYPRIS INCONGRUENS

7.1. Introduction

Urban road dust (URD) is one of the potential sources of sediment pollution as solid particles in urban road runoffs. They can potentially be transferred into water bodies by rainfall. Urban road dust in an aquatic ecosystem can deteriorate water quality and show the adverse effect to aquatic organisms particularly on benthic organisms, due to their habitat in sediment. Previous studies reported that urban road dust contained high concentrations of many potentially toxic substances such as hydrophobic organic compounds, heavy metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and perfluorinated surfactants (Fang et al., 2004; Murakami and Takada, 2008; Atiemo et al., 2011).

Since the availability of sediment toxicity test using benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* was standardized as ISO14371 (ISO, 2012), the test has been applied to test the freshwater sediment for various solid samples such as sediment (Torokne and Toro, 2010), soils (Chial et al., 2003; Santorufo et al., 2012) and road dust (Watanabe et al., 2011, 2013; Khanal et al., 2013, 2014). The toxicity assessments of URD to *H. incongruens* were done in term of simulating the runoff process in the aquatic systems such as the amount of rainfall and holding time (Watanabe et al., 2011) and evaluating size-fractioned of URD (Khanal et al., 2014). Watanabe et al. (2013) and Khanal et al. (2015) applied the whole sediment toxicity identification evaluation to characterize the potential toxicants in URD. Previous studies assessed the toxicity of URD to benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* based on the two criteria in ISO as 6 d mortality and 6 d growth inhibition. However, as far as we know, there is no studies report the effect of URD dust on the reproduction of ostracod. From the ecological

point of view, chronic toxicity should be evaluated to represent a long-term exposure of toxic sediments to organisms which affect reproduction.

The objective of this chapter aimed to assess the toxic effect of urban road dust (solid phase of urban road runoff) on the reproduction of ostracod and to provide an application example of the proposed chronic method using URD. In this study, the toxic effect of URD on ostracod reproduction was carried out in comparison with ISO 14371. The present study is expected to serve as the fundamental study on the chronic toxicity of URD to *H. incongruens*.

7.2. Materials and methods

7.2.1. Test organism

H. incongruens were purchased as dormant eggs (cysts) from MicroBioTests Inc., Belgium. The procedure for hatching ostracod cysts is as described in section 3.3 of chapter 3.

7.2.2. Standard ostracod toxicity test (ISO14371)

The method and test materials followed ISO 14371; the method is hereafter referred to as the 6 d ostracod toxicity test in this study. The detailed procedure is shown in chapter 3.

7.2.3. Chronic ostracod toxicity test

The proposed chronic ostracod toxicity test consisted of three consecutive parts: (I) a 14 d sediment exposure phase, (II) a reproduction phase, and (III) a hatching test. The procedures and timelines for the chronic ostracod toxicity test are shown in chapter 4.

7.2.4. Toxicity assessment of URD

After determining test repeatability in the previous chapter, the chronic ostracod toxicity test was applied to assess the toxicity of URD in parallel with the 6 d ostracod toxicity test. An URD (<2000 μ m) sample that was previously collected by Khanal et al., (2014) from a roadside in Tokyo in 2012, was used in this study, and the clean RF sediment was used as the control sediment. The dose-response relationship for ostracod mortality was determined by diluting (v/v) URD with the RF sediment to obtain concentrations of 3.125%, 6.25%, 12.5%, 25%, and 50% (v/v). The sediment sample of both the RF sediment and URD was prepared following the procedure described in the previous section. The chronic and 6 d ostracod toxicity test of control sediment and URD samples were conducted in two

batches. The first RF sediment batch (RF_1) was conducted with 3.125%, 6.25%, and 50% of the URD sample. The second RF sediment batch (RF_2) was conducted with 12.5% and 25% of the URD sample. Nine test replicates were conducted for each concentration in the chronic ostracod toxicity test; one replicate was used for body length measurements on day 14 and the rest were used for reproduction. The 6 d ostracod toxicity tests were performed following the same method of the chronic toxicity test and each concentration of the control and URD samples were conducted in sextuplicate.

7.2.5. Statistical analysis

All data and results were reported with standard deviations. The Grubb's test was applied to test outliers of the control data using Minitab 17 (State College, PA: Minitab Inc.). Dunnett's test was used to determine the significant difference (p < 0.05) between URD samples and control sediment using Minitab 17. Dunnett's test was used in ANOVA to create confidence intervals for differences between the means of control and treatment groups. A chi-square analysis was applied to the hatching ratio. The LC50 of URD was calculated using a Probit analysis.

7.3. Results and discussions

7.3.1. Toxicity assessment of URD on *H. incongruens*

(I). 6-day ostracod toxicity test on the URD sample

Table 7.1 shows the results of the overlying water quality, 6 d mortality, and 6 d growth inhibition. The pH of the overlying water was considered not lethally toxic to ostracods. Previous studies reported that average pH ranges from 5.5 to 8.7 during the 6 d ostracod toxicity test did not have lethal effects on ostracods (Watanabe et al., 2011). The 6 d mortality was in the range of 1.7–72% and increased with higher concentrations of URD. There was a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in 6 d mortality between the control and 25% URD and 50% URD sample. The 6 d growth inhibition also increased with increasing concentrations of URD. We also found a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in 6 d growth inhibition between the control and 12.5% RD sample. Non-observed effect concentrations in 6 d mortality and growth inhibition were 12.5% and 6.25% URD, respectively. Figure 7.1 shows the dose-response relationships between 6 d mortality and different concentrations of URD (v/v) in RF sediments. The calculated LC50 with 95% upper and lower confidence limits (95% UCL and LCL) of URD samples was 30% (26-37%). The LC20 was the mortality threshold in a 6 d toxicity test and was calculated as 14% (11-17%). The LC50 was furthered represented by a toxic unit (TU50 =100/LC50) to help in toxic comparisons. The TU50 for URD was 3.3.

The results of 6 d ostracod toxicity were only determined by a high concentration of URD samples of 12.5% RD, 25% RD, and 50% RD. The 6 d toxicity test was too short to evaluate low to moderate levels of contamination and long-term exposure that may affect ostracod reproduction. Therefore, one of our concerns was to determine whether 3.125% and 6.25% URD samples had any detectable effect in the chronic toxicity test.

Table 7.1. The overlying water quality, 6 d mortality, and 6 d growth inhibition in 6 d ostracod toxicity test with different URD concentrations.

a obtiacoa	contency cose	with anitorent		in an one.		
Parameters	RF ^a	3.125% URD	6.25% URD	12.5% URD	25% URD	50% URD
рН	8.2 ± 0.0	8.3 ± 0.1	8.5 ± 0.0	8.4 ± 0.1	8.5 ± 0.1	8.1 ± 0.1
Conductivity (mS/cm)	1.30 ± 0.32	0.93 ± 0.04	0.91 ± 0.07	1.09 ± 0.03	1.21 ± 0.06	1.16 ± 0.09
6 d mortality (%)	1.7±3.9	1.7 ± 4.1	5.0 ± 8.4	10 ± 16	$45 \pm 23*$	$72 \pm 10^*$
6 d growth inhibition (%)	0.0±9.0	0.9 ± 4.1	1.2 ± 7.3	$15.1 \pm 10.7*$	N/a**	N/a**

Values indicate mean \pm standard deviation.* p < 0.05 in Dunnett's test.** N/a: Not available due to the high mortality (>30%, the criteria in ISO 14371) ^a mean value from RF_1 and RF_2, control conditions with the 1st batch of RF_1 was conducted with 3.125%, 6.25%, and 50%Rsample and RF_2 was conducted with 12.5% and 25%RD sample.



Figure 7.1. Dose-response relationships between 6 d *H. incongruens* mortality with different concentrations of urban road dust (v/v) in reference sediments. The broken lines express 95% upper and lower confidence limits (95% UCL and LCL). Error bars represent standard errors.

(II). Chronic ostracod toxicity test on URD samples

Figure 7.2 shows the dose-response relationships between 14 d mortality and different concentrations of URD (v/v) in RF sediments. The calculated LC50 with 95% UCL and LCL of URD samples was 15% (3–82%) with a TU50 of 6.67. The overlying water quality, 14 d mortality, and 14 d growth inhibition in the chronic toxicity test with different URD concentrations are presented in Table 7.2. The observed 14 d mortality increased with increasing concentrations of URD mixed with RF sediment (v/v), except for 3.125% URD that showed a lower mortality than the control. There was a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in 14 d mortality between the control and 12.5% URD, 25% URD, and 50% URD samples. As shown in Table 7.2, a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in 14 d growth inhibition was found for all concentration of URD.

After 14 d in the sediment exposure phase, *H. incongruens* reproductions were observed under exposure to different URD concentrations. Due to the high 14 d mortality in 25% URD and 50% URD samples where *H. incongruens* died before producing eggs, these two samples were not accounted for reproduction characteristics. Then, data set in each endpoint of control sediments were also evaluated based on the proposed acceptability criteria in chapter 5. The values for the first day of brooding in the control RF_2 test fell outside of the expected range. Thus, this control dataset with 12.5% URD and 25% URD results were excluded.

Table 7.3 shows the life history and reproduction characteristics of *H. incongruens* under control conditions and after exposure to different URD concentrations. The mean life span of all individuals was slightly shorter but was longer for egg-laying individuals when exposed to URD than in the control condition. The first day of brooding changed slightly with different URD concentrations. There was a statistically significant difference between RF_1 and the 6.25% URD sample (p < 0.05) on the first day of brooding. These results showed that a low URD concentration retarded *H. incongruens* reproduction. The mean day of egg production was slightly delayed in URD samples compared with the control but no statistically significant difference was found.

The number of eggs produced was recorded for each individual at each URD concentration until all *H. incongruens* died in order to calculate the lifetime egg production and the egg-laying ratio (Table 7.3). The egg-laying ratio in both of 3.125% URD and 6.25% URD and lifetime egg production in 6.25% URD were lower than that in control sediments although the results were not significantly different. For the hatching test, a statistically significant difference was found in 6.25% URD that had the lowest hatching ratio of 4.4% and an F2 generation rate <1 indicating the possibility of *H. incongruens* extinction.

We found that at 6.25% URD in the chronic test impacted *H. incongruens* reproduction as showing in delayed first day of brooding. The application of chronic sediment toxicity test using *H. incongruens* would help to predict and assess the long term effect of URD on the benthic water environment. Thus, identification of principal toxicants in urban road dust is matter for further investigation. Toxicity Identification and Evaluation (TIE) approach initially developed to identify the cause of toxicity in various sediment samples including URDs. The sediment TIE process involves a series of processes and consisted of three phases: phase I (characterization), phase II (identification), and phase III (confirmation) (US EPA, 2007). Previously, the TIE approach has been applied to identify the major toxicants in URD with the application of benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* (Watanabe et

al., 2013; Khanal et al., 2015). Hydrophobic organic compounds (Watanabe et al., 2013) and heavy metals (Khanal et al., 2015) were estimated as the major toxicants in URD. In addition, Hiki et al. (2016) investigated dissolved nicotine as a causative toxicant in URD by performing sediment TIE with an estuarine amphipod, *Grandidierella japonica*. These previous studies indicated responsible acute-toxicant in urban road dust using TIE. Further collaboration of TIE procedure with the chronic ostracod toxicity test is necessary to identify the causative toxicants in the samples exhibiting chronic toxicity.



Figure 7.2. Dose-response relationships between 14 d *H. incongruens* mortality with different concentrations of urban road dust (v/v) in reference sediments. The broken lines express 95% upper and lower confidence limits (95% UCL and LCL). Error bars represent standard errors.

Table 7.2. The overlying water quality, 14 d mortality, and 14 d growth inhibition in the chronic toxicity test with different URD concentrations.

•						
Parameters	$\mathbf{RF}^{\mathbf{a}}$	3.125%URD	6.25%URD	12.5%URD	25%URD	50%URD
рН	8.2 ± 0.1	8.4 ± 0.1	8.4 ± 0.1	8.3 ± 0.2	8.4 ± 0.1	8.6 ± 0.2
Conductivity (mS/cm)	1.06 ± 0.20	0.87 ± 0.06	0.94 ± 0.12	1.13 ± 0.11	1.21 ± 0.09	1.08 ± 0.01
14 d mortality (%)	5.0 ± 8.2	1.25 ± 3.5	13.8 ± 15	$25 \pm 21*$	$99\pm3.5^*$	$90 \pm 19^*$
14 d growth inhibition (%)	0.0 ± 3.5	$5.5\pm4.3^{*}$	$15.9\pm6.0*$	$7.2 \pm 2.9*$	N/a**	N/a**

^a mean value from RF_1 and RF_2, control conditions with the 1st batch of RF_1 was conducted with 3.125%, 6.25%, and 50%Rsample and RF_2 was conducted with 12.5% and 25%RD sample.

Table 7.3. The life history and reproduction characteristics of *H. incongruens* under control conditions and after exposure to different URD concentrations.

Danamadana	RI	7_1	3.1259	%URD	6.25%	50%URD	
rarameters	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals	All individuals
n (number of ostracod)	80	55	80	43	80	36	80
Egg-laying ratio (%)	68.8	±23.0	54.0:	±22.6	45.0	±25.6	0
Life span (day)	25.9±2.8	30.2±3.2	25.9 ± 3.9	31.6 ± 3.3	24.2±4.1	31.0±2.5	145115
[range]	[20-30]	[25-35]	[21-31]	[27-38]	[19-28]	[29-36] 24.2±2.1 *	14.J±1.J
First day of brooding (day)		22.1±0.9		22.5±1.8		24.2±2.1*	
[range]	-	[21-23]	-	[20-26]	-	[23-28]	-
Mean day of egg production (day)		24.6±1.8		26.0±2.5		26.6±1.4	
[range]	-	[23-28]	-	[24-31]	_	[25-28]	-
Total number of eggs produced (egg)	17	14	17	93	12	264	-
Lifetime egg production	21.4±10.8	31.2±29.9	22.4±13.4	41.7±37.5	15.8±10.8	35.1±29.9	0
(egg/ind.) [range]	[10-43]	[1-109]	[4-48]	[1-154]	[1-31]	[1-122]	0
Hatching ratio (%)	12	2.8	12	2.8	4.	4**	-
F2 generation rate	2	.7	2	.9	0.	69	0

mean \pm standard deviation; values in parenthesis indicate the observed range in min-max. * p<0.05 in Dunnett's test, ** p<0.05 in Chi-square test 3.125%, 6.25%, and 50% URD sample was conducted with control sediment as the batch of RF_1

7.3.2. Toxicity variability in URD

In this study, an URD sample that was previously collected in a study by Khanal et al., (2014) from a roadside in Tokyo in 2012, was analyzed by a 6 d toxicity test after 2 years of storage, and the difference between the toxicity results was compared. In the previous toxicity test by Khanal et al., (2014), ostracod mortalities of less than 50% were observed for all concentrations of the diluted URD. In contrast, 6 d toxicity result from the current study showed highest of 72% ostracod mortality at 50% diluted URD concentration. There are a number of possible reasons for toxicity differences between their and our study. The first possibility might be the different storage times of the sediment sample before toxicity tests were conducted. Dillon et al., (1994) showed that toxicity increased over time for sediment stored at -22°C and 4°C. Another study indicated that sediment storage time could substantially influence toxicity as determined by the results of three toxicity tests that varied significantly by storage time (Becker et al., 1995). Another possible reason is the heterogeneity of URD samples. The bioavailability and leaching characteristics of toxicants in sediment samples are also influenced by the grain size distribution (Simpson et al., 2005). In general, fine fractions have been found to accumulate a higher concentration of toxicants than sandy or coarse grain particles. Thus, fine particles were expected to be more toxic to benthic organisms (Simpson et al., 2005, Murakami et al., 2005, 2008). During the two toxicity tests that were conducted separately, the heterogeneity of sediment samples and the use of sediment stored over some period of time may have caused the variability and difference in the URD toxicity results between these two studies.

Generally, the process of sediment collection, handling, and storage may alter bioavailability and concentration of toxicants. These changes in the physical, chemical, or biological characteristics of the sediment cause the variability of toxicity test results. Therefore, the pre-caution regarding the information about sample transport, collection, storage and handling before conducting the sediment test can refer to US EPA guideline (US EPA, 2001b).

The 6 d and 14 d sediment exposure phase in this study represented the difference in exposure time of *H. incongruens* to URD. The mortality rate under a series of

concentrations of URD after 6 d and 14 d of exposure are shown in Tables 7.1 and 7.2. The toxicity (mortality and growth inhibition) after 14 d (Table 7.2) was greater compared to 6 d (Table 7.1), except for mortality by 3.125% URD and growth inhibition by 12.5% URD. The TU50 was greater for 14 d mortality than that for 6 d mortality. The possible reasons need to explain how toxicity increased with increasing exposure time. Khanal et al., (2013) proposed the hypothesis on changes in toxicity of wet road dust. At the initial exposure time, the toxicity of URD to *H. incongruens* was due to the presence of a labile toxicant. As the exposure time increased, more of the bound toxicants in URD were released and exposed to *H. incongruens*. This led to increasing or changes in toxicity of URD with a prolonged exposure time. In addition, biochemical processes are believed to occur at the latter stage of exposure, including exchangeability of toxicants, change in toxicant speciation, and the formation of new toxicants. The further explanation was proposed in the study of Watanabe et al., (2011) as the toxicity of road dust in a 7 d holding time showed a higher ostracod mortality than at 1 h and 24 h holding times. This phenomenon was due to the more non-labile toxic compounds at the initial stage of exposure that started to dissolve and form new toxic compounds such as hydrogen sulfide by microbial reactions. In addition, the formation of unionized ammonia was also suspected to be one toxicant in URD that enhanced ostracod mortality over long periods of time (Watanabe et al., 2013). The previous studies showed the effect of long holding time on the mortality of the ostracod. This phenomenon should be further tested for the chronic toxicity to ostracod as reproductive output. The proposed future plan can be conducted to observe the effect of various holding time or incubation time of sediment before inoculation of the ostracod.

Toxicity of sediment may vary due to the bioavailability of toxicants in the sediment. The bioavailability would depend on many factors such as pH, organic carbon content, and particle size distribution. And those parameters may change with time as mentioned in the last paragraph. Measuring only pH, conductivity and salinity in the overlying water may not be sufficient to investigate the bioavailability of toxicants. Further study may be proposed to measure the dissolve organic carbon content in the overlying water (UV absorbance is a possible index of organic content in the limited amount of sample). This measurement would help to determine the effect of dissolve organic carbon content during the 14 d sediment exposure phase on the chronic toxicity to ostracod.

7.3.3. Acute to chronic ratio (ACR) of URD

ACR expresses the acute toxicity of an effluent or a toxicant to its chronic toxicity (Raimondo et al., 2007). In this study, the results of URD toxicity were used to predict the threshold concentration at which no negative effect would occur during a chronic exposure in the receiving water. ACRs were calculated as the ratio of the lethal concentration (LC50) and non-observed effect concentrations (NOEC) or maximum acceptable toxicant concentration (MATC) resulting from the most sensitive chronic endpoint. Based on this study, the estimated ACR for URD and *H. incongruens* was 6.8, which was calculated from the LC50 of 6 d mortality (%) and hatching ratio MATC or the first day of brooding in URD.

ACR can be applied to estimate the chronic toxicity or dilution ratio required for a clean RF sediment of URD to become non-toxic. Thus, chronic TUs (TUc = 100/NOEC, MATC, or NOEC) can be calculated to facilitate comparisons with other samples and can be defined as the percentage of URD in a sediment sample. Considering TUs as a safety threshold, this URD could become non-toxic if mixed with 23 times clean sediment (MATC = 4.42) volume of the road dust. This sample was indicated as a non-significant toxicity in the 6 d toxicity tests by Khanal et al., (2014). Using ACR, we can calculate TUs to compare chronic toxicity with those of URD samples. The TUs of URD in Khanal et al., (2014) ranged from a low of 10.1 (LC50 = 67%) to a high of 179 (LC50 = 3.8%), or the dilution required for URD to become non-toxic. To the best of our knowledge, the ACR for URD using *H. incongruens* has never been reported. This approach can be used in the effective management of URD in urban runoff and to estimate chronic thresholds of URD that protect the benthic community.

7.4. Summary

This chapter shows an application example of the proposed chronic test using URD. The toxic effect of URD on ostracod reproduction was carried out in comparison with ISO 14371. The results are summarized as follows.

• The 6d-LC50 and LC20 (with 95% UCL and LCL) of URD sample was 30% (26 - 37%) and 14% (11-17%), respectively. The TU50 was 3.3. Non-observed effect concentrations were 12.5% and 6.25% URD in 6 d mortality and growth inhibition, respectively.

• The 14d-LC50 with 95% CI of URD samples was 15% (3–82%) with a TU50 of 6.67. There was a statistically significant difference (p<0.05) in 14 d mortality between the control and 12.5% URD, 25% URD, and 50% URD samples. A statistically significant difference (p<0.05) in 14 d growth inhibition was found for all concentration of URD.

• In term of the URD toxicity on ostracod reproduction, a 6.25% URD sample in the proposed chronic test impacted *H. incongruens* reproduction. There were statistically significant differences on the first day of brooding and lowest hatching ratio so that the F2 generation rate became lowest (<1 indicating the possibility of extinction).

• Overall results suggest that low concentrations of URD showed a toxic effect on *H*. *incongruens* reproduction, which was not identified as toxic in standard 6 d toxicity tests (ISO 14371).

• ACR of URD in this study can be applied and generalized to use as a factor for estimating chronic toxicity on the basis of acute toxicity to other URDs or dilution ratio required for clean RF sediment of URD to become non-toxic. Considering chronic TUs as a safety threshold, this URD could become non-toxic if mixed with a 23 times clean sediment volume of the road dust.

CHAPTER 8

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1. Conclusions

The main objective of this study was to develop a new chronic sediment toxicity test using the freshwater benthic ostracod *H. incongruens*. The following conclusions were drawn.

A chronic sediment toxicity test using a benthic ostracod was proposed based on a literature survey to identify the suitability of the freshwater benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* as a cosmopolitan and representative test species including the advantage as cyst-based toxicity test.

The detailed procedure and test conditions are outlined in Chapter 4. The proposed chronic test is composed of three consecutive phases of a 14-day sediment exposure phase, a reproductive phase, and a hatching test. The 14-day sediment exposure phase was designed to expose the ostracod in sediment until a few days before release of the first brood. Then, reproduction and hatching were examined and evaluated. The hatching test was conducted simultaneously in parallel with the reproductive phase after the ostracod laid their first brood of eggs. The test and feeding conditions included a 24 h incubation of multi-well plates in the dark at 25°C, feeding the green algae (*Scenedesmus acutus*) at 3.0 $\times 10^7$ cells/well during the first week, and feeding a TetraMin suspension for the remainder of the test.

Mortality and growth inhibition as the endpoints used in the ISO 14371 method. Reproductive parameters of ostracods, such as egg production, the first day of brooding, egg-laying ratio, and hatching ratio, were used as new endpoints for the chronic test proposed in this study. The test was validated by determining repeatability of the method after seven control tests. The results showed good repeatability of most endpoints with coefficients of variation (CVs) < 15%. However, lifetime egg production, hatching ratio, and F2 generation rate were highly variable with CVs of 29.5%–51.9%. Thus, the results of the life history and reproductive characteristics of the ostracod *H. incongruens* under

the reference (control) sediment and the variability in the test endpoints were used to set the test acceptability criteria. However, because the CVs for lifetime egg production, hatching ratio, and F2 generation rate were $\geq 30\%$, no acceptability criteria were defined for those parameters. The test acceptability criteria were used to test the validity of the control sediment.

After validating the test, nickel was used as a reference toxicant to assess the reproductive toxic effect on *H. incongruens* and to compare sensitivity to nickel among the other test species used in the sediment toxicity test. Ostracod mortality after a 14-day exposure to the highest concentration of nickel (1,200 µgNi/l) was 41.7%. Thus, the estimated 14-d LC_{50} was $2.95 \times 10^3 \ \mu gNi/l$ with a no-observed lethal concentration (14-d mortality) of 12 µgNi/l, and a 14-d LC₂₀ of 5.03 µgNi/l. H. incongruens reproduction varied with nickel concentration. Mean life span decreased significantly (p < 0.05) in response to 120 and 1,200 µgNi/l. The egg-laying ratio was also significantly lower at these two concentrations. The no observed effect concentration (NOEC) was 12 µgNi/l for the egglaying ratio and mean lifespan of all individuals. Based on this study, the benthic ostracod H. incongruens had the highest ACR among other test organisms. The high ACR demonstrated a great difference between the chronic and acute toxicities. From this view point, conducting only the acute toxicity test for H. incongruens may mislead to underestimate the nickel toxicity to ostracod. This also indicates the importance of conducting the chronic toxicity test proposed in this study. However, it has to be mentioned for the wide range of exposure nickel concentrations in 10 times interval used in this study; this would effect on accuracy of ACRs and sensitivity comparison of the ostracod among other species. Further research should consider investigating the sensitivity of ostracod to nickel as definitive toxicity test. Moreover, further studies are proposed to determine the sensitivity of the chronic test to other reference chemicals and specific groups of contaminants, such as metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, polychlorinated biphenyls, and pesticides, including their mixtures, which would be more relevant as sediment contaminants.

Urban road dust (URD) was used as an example application of the proposed chronic test. A series of dilutions of URD and reference sediment were tested in a 6-d ostracod toxicity test. The results of 6-d ostracod toxicity test demonstrated a NOEC of 12.5% and 6.25% URD in mortality and growth inhibition, respectively. The proposed chronic toxicity method showed significant differences on the first day of brooding and a hatching ratio of 6.25% URD. These results suggest that low concentrations of URD were toxic to *H. incongruens* reproduction, which was not previously identified as toxic by a standard 6 d toxicity test (ISO 14371).

In this study, the chronic toxicity test results of a URD were used to predict the threshold concentration at which no negative effect would occur during chronic exposure in receiving water. Considering chronic toxicity units (TUc = 100/MATC) as the safety threshold, this URD could become non-toxic when it gets mixed with 23 times more clean sediment (MATC = 4.42). The ACR for URD using *H. incongruens* has never been reported. This approach could be used to effectively manage URD in urban runoff and to estimate chronic thresholds of URD to protect the benthic community.

Most of the endpoints as CV below 15% reflect good repeatability of test method and can be established for routine use in the chronic ostracod toxicity test. The test acceptability criteria can be used to validate the control and correctly interpret the chronic toxicity test results. Although the sensitivity of the ostracods to certain chemicals was limited and more toxicants and studies are required, the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* had the highest ACR among other test organisms. The high ACR demonstrated a great difference between the chronic and acute toxicities. From this view point, only performing acute test may not be sufficient and underestimate the toxicity test proposed in this study. The results of the URD environmental sediment sample demonstrated that low concentrations of URD were toxic to *H. incongruens* reproduction, which was not determined by a standard 6 d toxicity test (ISO 14371). However, the calculated ACR of URD can help to estimate the chronic thresholds that would be protective of the aquatic community and help effectively manage URD in urban runoff pollution.

8.2. Recommendations

Further studies are needed based on the results of this research. The following points are recommended to consider in future studies.

• Hatching ratio and F2 generation rate were highly variable in the control tests as reported in Chapter 5. As the hatching ratio and F2 generation rate are critical indices to evaluate the continuation of a species, a theoretical investigation of hatching characteristics of the benthic ostracod *H. incongruens* is necessary to minimize test variations. Further research is required to determine the effects of abiotic conditions on life history traits of *H. incongruens*, such as the effects of different food or combination of foods.

• *H. incongruens* was the most sensitive to chronic nickel, which showed the highest ACR, compared with the other test species. Further research should identify additional chemicals that ostracods are sensitive to as well as specific groups of pollutants in relevant to sediment contamination. The test can also be used for sediment spiked with certain chemicals to evaluate the sensitivity of benthic ostracods. These further experiments may help to determine the future risks of environmental contaminants before they are released into the environment.

• Future studies should consider conducting the chronic ostracod toxicity test with standard mixtures of metals and/or other inorganic/organics compounds, as these kinds of tests may provide a more accurate assessment and appropriate response by the benthic ostracod to measure interactive toxic effects of complex contaminant mixtures. Mahar and Watzin (2005) observed the effects of mixtures of metals and organophosphates on *Ceriodaphnia dubia* survival and reproduction. The results showed differences in the toxic response, which varied with sensitivity to the chemicals and the specific endpoints evaluated.

• In this study, the chronic toxic effect of metal on the ostracod was first considered using dissolved toxicants. Dietary toxicity from contaminated food should be incorporated when assessing the biological effect of contaminated sediment as diet is a potential exposure routes of benthic species. Different toxicity pathway may change the effect and

sensitive on endpoint investigated. De Schamphelaere et al., (2004) demonstrated a decrease in reproduction in response to dietary Zn (accumulated in green algae) in the cladoceran *Daphnia magna*, but no effects on survival, growth, or feeding rate. Further research such as Ni-spiking in sediment, dietary Ni exposure as food-contaminated toxicants is required.

• Low concentrations of URD showed a toxic effect on *H. incongruens* reproduction, which demonstrated a chronic effect of URD. URD contributes to the toxicity of urban runoff and pollution. Thus, ACR of URD was calculated to estimate chronic thresholds of URD, which could be used to protect the benthic community. This finding would be beneficial for effectively managing URD in urban runoff pollution; however, testing with more types of URD samples is needed to define more reliable ACR criteria.

REFERENCES

- Aguilar-Alberola J.A. and Mesquita-Joanes F. 2014. Breaking the temperature-size rule: thermal effects on growth, development and fecundity of a crustacean from temporary waters. *J. Therm. Biol.* 42: 15–24.
- Ahlers J., Riedhammer C., Vogliano M., Ebert R.U., Kuhne R. and Schuurmann G. 2006. Acute to chronic ratios in aquatic toxicity variation across trophic levels and relationship with chemical structure. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 25:2937–2945.
- Angell R.W. and Hancock J.W. 1989. Response of eggs of *Heterocypris incongruens* (ostracoda) to experimental stress. J. Crustac. Biol 9(3):381-386.
- ASTM. 2000. Test method for measuring the toxicity of sediment-associated contaminants with freshwater invertebrates. E 1706 00. In annual book of ASTM standards.volume 11.05, American Society for Testing Materials, West Conshohocken, PA.
- ASTM. 2005. Standard test method for measuring the toxicity of sediment-associated contaminants with freshwater invertebrates. ASTM E1706 05.
- Atiemo M. S., Ofosu G. F., Tutu a O., Palm N. D. M. L. and Blankson S. A. 2011. Contamination assessment of heavy metals in toad dust from selected roads in Accra, Ghana. *Res. J. Environ. Earth Sci.* 3(5):473–480.
- Barron M.G and Wharton S. 2005. Survey of methodologies for de- veloping media screening values for ecological risk assessment. *Integr. Environ. Assess. Manage.* 1:320–332.
- Bebon Rebecca.2013.Use of the freshwater ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens* for sediment toxicity assessment: Influence of sediment composition and sensitivity to selected organic micropollutants. Diploma thesis, external. Institute of Evolution and Ecology, The University of Tübingen.
- Becker D. S. and Ginn T. C. 1995. Effects of storage time on toxicity of sediments from Puget Sound, Washington. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 14(5): 829-835.
- Belgis Z.C., Persoone G., and Blaise C. 2003. Cyst-based toxicity tests XVI-sensitivity comparison of the solid phase *Heterocypris incongruens* microbiotest with the *Hyalella azteca and Chironomus riparius* contact assays on freshwater sediments from Peninsula Harbour (Ontario, Canada). *Chemosphere*. 52(1):95–101.
- Benoit D.A., Sibley P.K., Juenemann J.L., and Ankley G.T. 1997. *Chironomus tentans* life-cycle test: Design and evaluation for use in assessing toxicity of contaminated sediments. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 16:1165-1176.

- Biesinger K.E and Christensen G.M. 1972. Effects of various metals on survival, growth, reproduction and metabolism of *Daphnia magna*. J. Fish. Res. 29(12): 1691-1700.
- Blaise C., Gagne' F., Chevre N., Harwood M., Lee J., Lappalainen J., Chial B, Persoone G. and Doe K. 2000. Toxicity assessment of oil-contaminated freshwater sediments. *Environ. Toxicol.* 19(4):267–273.
- Bodar C.V.M. 2007. Environmental risk limits for zinc. RIVM letter report 11235/2007. National institute for public health and the environment, The Netherlands.
- Boonyatumanond R., Murakami M., Wattayakorn G., Togo A., and Takada H. 2007. Sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in street dust in a tropical Asian mega-city, Bangkok, Thailand. *Sci. Total. Environ.* 384(1–3):420–32.
- Borgmann U., Neron R. and Norwood W.P. 2001. Quantification of bioavailable nickel in sediments and toxic thresholds to *Hyalella azteca*. *Environ*. *Pollut*. 111:189–198.
- Boxall A. B. A and Maltby L. 1995. The characterization and toxicity of sediment contaminated with road runoff. *Wat. Res.* 29:2043–2050.
- Burton G. A. 1991. Assessing the toxicity of freshwater sediments. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.*10:1585–1627.
- Burton G. A. Jr. 1992. Chapter 10: Freshwater benthic toxicity test edited by Burton G. A. Jr., Nelson M. K., and Ingersoll C. G. s. Sediment toxicity assessment. Lewis Publishers, INC..
- Burton G.A., Ingersoll C.G., Burnett L.C., Henry M., Hinman M.L., Klaine S.J., Landrum P.F., Ross P. and Tuchman M. 1996. A comparison of sediment toxicity test methods at three great Lake areas of concern. J. *Great. Lakes. Res.* 22(3):495-511.
- Burton G.A. and Landrum P.F. 2003. Toxicity of sediments. In Encyclopedia of sediments and sedimentary rocks, Middleton G.V., Church M.J., Corigilo M. and Longstaffe F.J.Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht. 751:748–751.
- Catalan Z. B. 1982. Behavioral responses of *Chironomus tentans* to stress as determined by an optical fiber monitoring system. Ph.D. thesis, University of Michigan.
- Cervantes C., Campos-Garci'a J., Devars S., Gutierrez-Corona F., Loza-Tavera H., Torres Guzman J.C. 2001. Interactions of chromium with microorganisms and plants. *FEMS. Microbiol. Rev.* 25:335–347.
- Chial B.and Persoone G. 2002a. Cyst-based toxicity tests XII-Development of a short chronic sediment toxicity test with the ostracod crustacean *Heterocypris incongruens* : selection of test parameters. *Environ. Toxicol.* 17(6):520-527.

- Chial B. and Persoone G. 2002b. Cyst-based toxicity tests XIII-Development of a short chronic sediment toxicity test with the ostracod crustacean *Heterocypris incongruens*. Methodology and Precision.Wiley Periodicals, Inc. *Env. Toxicol*. 17(6):528–532.
- Chial B. and Persoone G. 2002c. Cyst-based toxicity tests XIV- Application of the ostracod solid-phase microbiotest for toxicity monitoring of river sediments in Flanders (Belgium). *Env. Toxicol.* 17(6):533–537.
- Chial B and Persoone G. 2003. Cyst-based toxicity test XV- Application of ostracod solid phase microbiotest for toxicity monitoring of contaminated soils. *Environ. Toxicol* 18:347–352.
- Chial B., Persoone G. and Blaise C. 2003a. Cyst-based toxicity tests XVI-Sensitivity comparison of the solid phase *Heterocypris incongruens* microbiotest with the *Hyalella azteca* and *Chironomus riparius* contact assays on freshwater sediments from Peninsula Harbour (Ontario, Canada). *Chemosphere* 52(1):95–101.
- Chial B.Z., Persoone G., Blaise C. 2003b. Cyst-based toxicity tests. XVIII. Application of ostracodtoxkit microbiotest in a bioremediation project of oil-contaminated sediments: sensitivity comparison with *Hyalella azteca* solid-phase assay. *Environ Toxicol* 18:279–283
- Chapman P.M., Ho K., Munns W., Solomon K. and Weinstein M.P. 2002. Issues in sediment toxicity and ecological risk assessment. *Mar.Pollut.Bul.l* 44:271–278.
- Chowdhury M.J., Bucking C. and Wood C.M. 2008. Pre-exposure to waterborne nickel downregulates gastrointestinal nickel uptake in rainbow trout:indirect evidence for nickel essentiality. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 42:1359-1364.
- Christensen A.M., Nakajima F. and Baun A. 2006. Toxicity of water and sediment in a small urban river (Store Vejlea, Denmark). *Environ. Pollut.* 144: 621-625.
- Cooman W. De., Blaise C., Janssen C., Detemmerman L., Elst R., and Persoone G. 2015. History and sensitivity comparison of two standard whole-sediment toxicity tests with crustaceans: the amphipod *Hyalella azteca* and the ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens* microbiotest. *Knowl. Manag. Aquat. Ecosyst* 416:15.
- Cui X.,Hunter W.,Yang Y.,Chen Y. and Gan J. 2010. Bioavailability of sorbed phenanthrene and permethrin in sediments to *Chironomus tentans*. Aquat. Toxicol 98(1):83–90.
- Crist R.H.,Oberholser K.,Schwartz D.,Marzoff J.,Ryder D.,Crist D.R. 1988. Interactions of metals and protons with algae. *Environ. Sci. Technol* 22:755-760.
- Czapla M. J. 2015. Arsenic, antimony, chromium, and thallium speciation in water and sediment samples with the LC-ICP-MS technique. *Int. J. Anal. Chem.*2015: 2015.
- Davoren M.N., Shuilleabhain S., Halloran J.O., Hartl M.G.J., Sheehan D.O'Brien N. M., Van Pelt F. N.A.M. and Mothersill C. 2005. A test battery approach for the ecotoxicological evaluation of estuarine sediments. *Ecotoxicology* 14:741–755.
- De Schamphelaere K.A.C, Canli M., Van Lierde V., Forrez I., Vanhaecke F. and Janssen C.R. 2004. Reproductive toxicity of dietary zinc to Daphnia magna. *Aquat. Toxicol*. 70:233–244.
- De Serres., Frederick J. and Bloom Arthur D. 1996. Ecotoxicity and human health: a biological approach to environmental remediation. Boca Raton: CRC Lewis.
- Dekker T., Greve G.D., Ter Laak T.L., Boivin M. E., Veuger B., Gortzak G., Dumfries S., Lücker S. M. G., Kraak M. H. S., Admiraal W. and Van Der Geest H. G. 2006. Development and application of a sediment toxicity test using the benthic cladoceran *Chydorus sphaericus. Environ. Pollut.* 140(2):231–238.
- Diepens N. J., Arts G. H. P., Brock T. C. M., Smidt H., Van Den Brink P. J., Van Den Heuvel Greve M. J and Koelmans A. a. 2014. Sediment toxicity testing of organic chemicals in the context of prospective risk assessment: A Review.Crit.Rev. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 44:255–302.
- Dillon T. M., Moore D. W. and Jarvis a. S. 1994. The effects of storage temperature and time on sediment toxicity. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 27(1):51–53.
- Doe K.G., Burton Jr., G.A. and Ho, K.T. 2001. Pore water toxicity testing: an overview. In Carr, R.S., Nipper, M. (Eds.), Pore Water Toxicity Testing: Biological Chemical and Ecological Considerations. SETAC, Pensacola, FL, USA.
- Eisler R. Nickel hazards to fish, wildlife, and invertebrates: a synoptic review; U.S. Geological Survey, Biological Resources Division, Biological Science Report 1998-0001; 1998.
- EU RAR, 2005 European Union Risk Assessment Report: Chromium trioxide, sodium chromate, sodium dichromate, ammonium dichromate, potassium dichromate. Series: 3rd Priority List, Volume 53. Final Report June 2005. EUR21508EN. European Chemicals Bureau, Institute for Health and Consumer Protection. Luxembourg: Office of Official Publications of the European Communities.
- Evens R. De Schamphelaere K. a C. and Janssen C. R. 2009. The effects of dietary nickel exposure on growth and reproduction of *Daphnia magna*. *Aquat. Toxicol*. 94(2):138–144.
- Fang G., Chang C., Fu Y. Wu, P. P., and Yang I. 2004. Characterization, identification of ambient air and road dust polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in central Taiwan , Taichun. Sci. Total. Environ. 327:135–146.
- Fernandez-Alba A.R, Guil M.D.H., Lopez G.D. and Chisti Y. 2002. Comparative evaluation of the effects of pesticides in acute toxicity luminescence bioassays. *Anal. Chim. Acta.* 451:195–202.

- Gale S.A., King C.K. and Hyne R.V. 2006.Chronic sublethal sediment toxicity testing using the estuarine amphipod, Melita plumulosa (Zeidler): evaluation using metal-spiked and field-contaminated sediments. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 25(7):1887–1898.
- Gillis P.L., Wood C.M., Ranville J.F. and Chow-Fraser P. 2006. Bioavailability of sedimentassociated cu and zn to Daphnia magna. *Aquat.Toxicol*. 77(4):402–411.
- Grant S.B., Rekhi N. V., Pise N. R. and Reeves R.L. 2003. A review of the contaminants and toxicity associated with particles in storm water runoff. California Department of Transportation.
- Grosell M., Gerdes R.M. and Brix K. V. 2006. Influence of Ca, humic acid and pH on lead accumulation and toxicity in the fathead minnow during prolonged water-borne lead exposure. *Comp. Biochem. Phys.* C.143:473–483.
- Guzzella L. 1998. Comparison of test procedures for sediment toxicity evaluation with *Vibrio fischeri bacteria. Chemosphere*. 37(14–15): 2895–2909.
- Haas E. M. De, Paumen M. L., Koelmans A. A., and. Kraak M. H. S. 2004. Combined effects of copper and food on the midge *Chironomus riparius* in whole-sediment bioassays. *Environ. Pollut.* 127(1):99–107.
- Hartl M.G.J, Van Pelt F.N.A.M. and O'hallolarn J. 2005. Development and application of sediment toxicity test for regulatory purposes Environmental Research Institute University College Cork, Ireland:1–5.
- Havel J.E. and Talbott B.L. 1995. Life history characteristics of the freshwater ostracod *Cyprinotus incongruens* and their application to toxicity testing. *Ecotoxicology* 4(3):206-218.
- Hering D., Carvalho L., Argillier C., Beklioglu M., Borja A., Cardoso A.C., Duel H., Ferreira T., Globevnik L., Hanganu J., Hellsten S., Jeppesen E., Kodeš V.,Solheim A.L., Nõges T., Ormerod S., Panagopoulos Y., Schmutz S., Venohr M. and Birk S. 2015. Managing aquatic ecosystems and water resources under multiple stresses-an introduction to the MARS project. *Sci. Total. Environ.* 503–504:10–21.
- Hiki K., 2013. Evaluation of toxicity of road dust using Japanese estuarine amphipod (*Grandidierella japonica*) under different salinity concentration conditions (in Japanese). Master Thesis, Department of Urban Engineering, The University of Tokyo, Japan.
- Hiki K., Nakajima F., and Tobino T. 2016. Causes of highway road dust toxicity to an estuarine amphipod: Evaluating the effects of nicotine. *Chemosphere*.168:1365-1374.
- Hosseini M. S. and Belador F. 2009.Cr (III)/Cr(VI) speciation determination of chromium in water samples by luminescence quenching of quercetin. *J. Hazard. Mate.* 165(1–3):1062–1067.

- Ingersoll C.G. and Nelson M.K. 1990. Testing sediment toxicity with *Hyalella azteca* (Amphipoda) and *Chironomus riparius* (Diptera). pp. 93-100. In: Aquatic Toxicology and Risk Assessment. W. Landis and W.H. van der Schalie (eds). ASTM STP 1096. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA.
- Ingersoll C.G., Brunson E.L., Dwyer F.J. Hardesty, D.K. and Kemble N.E. 1998. Use of sublethal endpoints sediment toxicity tests with the amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem* 17:1508-1523.
- ISO, 2012. Water quality-Determination of fresh water sediment toxicity to *Heterocypris incongruens* (Crustacea,Ostracoda),ISO14371:2012(E),first ed.,The International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Iwasaki Y., Kagaya T., Miyamoto K.I. and Matsuda H. 2009. Effects of heavy metals on riverine benthic macroinvertebrate assemblages with reference to potential food availability for drift-feeding fishes. *Environ. Toxicol.Chem.* 28(2):354–363.
- Jiang X., Wang G., Li S.and He J.2007. Heavy metal exposure reduces hatching success of *Acartia pacifica* resting eggs in the sediment. *J.Environ. Sci.* 19(6):733–777.
- Kalinowski R. and Załęska-radziwiłł M. 2011. Ecotoxicological assessment of freshwater sediments. *Pol. J. Environ. Stud.* 20(5):1181–1191.
- Karlsson J., Sundberg H. and Åkerman G. 2008. Hazard identification of contaminated sites ranking potential toxicity of organic sediment extracts in crustacean and fish. *J Soils. Sediments.* 8:263–274.
- Karuthapandi M, Rao DV and Innocent B. X. 2014. Freshwater Ostracoda (Crustacea) of India A checklist. J. Threat. Taxa. 6(12):6576–6581.
- Kenaga E.E. 1982. Predictability of chronic toxicity from acute toxicity of chemicals in fish and aquatic invertebrates. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 1:347–358
- Keithly J., Brooker a., DeForest D.K., Wu B. K. and Brix K. V. 2004. Acute and chronic toxicity of nickel to a cladoceran (*Ceriodaphnia dubia*) and an amphipod (*Hyalella azteca*). *Environ. Toxicol. Chem* 23(3):691–696.
- Khanal R., 2013. Characterization of toxicants in size-fractioned urban road dust using ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens* direct contact test and toxicity identification evaluation procedure. Doctoral Thesis, Department of Urban Engineering, The University of Tokyo, Japan.
- Khanal R., Furumai H. and Nakajima F. 2014. Toxicity assessment of size-fractioned urban road dust using ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens* direct contact test. *J Hazard. Mater.* 264:53-64.
- Khanal R., Furumai H., Nakajima F. 2015. Characterization of toxicants in urban road dust by Toxicity Identification Evaluation using ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens* direct contact test. *Sci. Total Environ.* 530–531:96–102.

- Khangarot B.S. and P.K. Ray. 1989. Sensitivity of the midge Chironomus tentans Fabricius (Diptera; Chironomidae) to heavy metals. *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol* 42:325–330.
- Khangarot B. S. and Das S. 2009. Acute toxicity of metals and reference toxicants to a freshwater ostracod, *Cypris subglobosa Sowerby*, 1840 and correlation to EC50 values of other test models. *J. Hazard. Mater*.172(2-3):641 649.
- Kim S.D., Park K.S. and Gu M.B. 2002. Toxicity of hexavalent chromium to Daphnia magna: Influence of reduction reaction by ferrous iron. J. Hazard. Mater. 93(2):155-164.
- Koike T., Koike H., Kurumisawa R., Ito M., and Sakurai S. 2012. Distribution, source identification and historical trends of organic micropollutants in coastal sediment in Jakarta Bay, Indonesia.*J. Hazard. Mater.* 217–218: 208–216.
- Kszos L.A, Stewart A.J. and Taylor P.A. 1992. An evaluation of nickel toxicity to *Ceriodaphnia dubia* and *Daphnia magna* in a contaminated stream and in laboratory tests. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 11:1001–1012.
- Kudlak B., Wolska L. and Namiesnik J. 2011. Determination of EC50 toxicity data of selected heavy metals toward *Heterocypris incongruens* and their comparison to "direct-contact"and microbiotests. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 174:509-516.
- Külköylüog O. 2005. Ecological requirements of freshwater Ostracoda (Crustacea) in two limnocrene springs (Bolu,Turkey). *Ann. Limnol. Int. J. Lim.* 41(4):237–246.
- Latimer J. S., Hoffman E.J., Hoffman G., Fasching J.L.and Quinn J.G. 1990. Sources of petroleum hydrocarbons in urban runoff. *Water Air Soil Poll*. 52:1–21.
- Lee B.K. and Dong T.T.T. 2010. Effects of road characteristics on distribution and toxicity of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban road dust of Ulsan, Korea. *J.Hazard.Mater* 175:540-550.
- Liß W. and Ahlf W. 1997. Evidence from whole-sediment, porewater, and elutriate testing in toxicity assessment of contaminated sediments. *Ecotox. Envi. Saf.* 36:140–147.
- Luoma N. and Rainbow P.S. 2008. Metal Contamination in aquatic environment. Science and Lateral Management, Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, USA.
- Magalhães D. de P., Marques M. R. da C., Baptista D. F. and Buss D. F. 2015. Metal bioavailability and toxicity in freshwaters. *Environ. Chem. Lett.* 13(1): 69–87.
- Mann R.M., Hyne R.V., Spadaro D.A. and Simpson S.L. 2009. Development and application of a rapid amphipod reproduction test for sediment-quality assessment. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 28(6):1244–54.

- Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MADEP). 2006. Freshwater Sediment Toxicity Test. Update to: Section 9 of Guidance for Disposal Site Risk Characterization – In Support of the Massachusetts Contingency Plan. Bureau of Waste Site Cleanup and Office of Research and Standards.
- Mahar A.M. and Watzin M. C. 2005. Effects of metal and organophosphate mixtures on *Ceriodaphnia dubia* survival and reproduction. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 24(7):1579–1586.
- Mebane C.A., Hennessy D. P., and Dillon F. S. 2008. Developing acute-to-chronic toxicity ratios for lead, cadmium, and zinc using rainbow trout, a mayfly, and a midge. *Water*. *Air. Soil Pollut.* 188(1–4):41–66.
- Middleton G. V. Church M. J. Corigilo M. Hardie L.A. and Longstaffe F.J.(eds). 2003. Toxicity of sediments. A. Publishers Dordrecht 751:748–751.
- Mulligan C. N., Fukue M. and Sato Y. 2009. Sediments Contamination and Sustainable Remediation, CRC.
- Mummullage S., Egodawatta P., Goonetilleke A., Ayoko G. A. and Sites A. S. 2004. Variability of metal composition and concentrations in road dust in the urban environment. *Int. Scho. Sci. Res. Innov.* 8(2):100-105.
- Murakami M., Nakajima F. and Furumai H. 2004. Modelling of runoff behaviour of particle-bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) from roads and roofs. *Water. Res.* 38, 4475–4483.
- Murakami M. Nakajima, F. and Furumai, H., 2005. Size-and density-distributions and sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban road dust. *Chemosphere* 61:783–791.
- Murakami M. and Takada H. 2008. Perfluorinated surfactants (PFSs) in size-fractionated street dust in Tokyo. *Chemosphere* 73(8):1172–7.
- Muyssen B.T.A. and Janssen C.R. 2001. Multigeneration zinc acclimation and tolerance in *Daphnia magna*: Implications for water-quality guidelines and ecological risk assessment. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 20(9): 2053-2060
- National Institute of Water & Atmospheric Research (NIWA). 2008. Land Transport New Zealand Research Report 345. Contaminant characterization and toxicity of road sweepings and catchpit sediments: Towards more sustainable reuse options.
- Neff J. M., Foster R.S. and Slowey J. F. 1978. Availability of sediment-absorbed heavy metals to benthos with particular emphasis on deposit-feeding infauna.Tech. Rep. D-78-42, U.S. Army Waterways Exp. Sta., Vicksburg, Mississippi.
- Nie X., Fan C., Wang Z., Su T., Liu X., and An T. 2015. Toxic assessment of the leachates of paddy soils and river sediments from e-waste dismantling sites to microalga, Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf*.111:168–176.

- NIES. 2004. List of strains:Microalgae and Protozoa. 7th Ed.Edited by Kasai F,Kawachi M, Erata M and Watanabe MM. Research report from the National Institute for Environmental Studies, Japan No.182, 140p. ISSN 1341-3643.
- Nikinmaa M. 2014. An introduction to aquatic toxicology. J. Chem. Inf. Model. 53(9).
- Niyogi S., Brix K. V., and Grosell M. 2014. Effects of chronic waterborne nickel exposure on growth , ion homeostasis , acid-base balance , and nickel uptake in the freshwater pulmonate snail , *Lymnaea stagnalis*. *Aquat. Toxicol*.150:36–44.
- Oliveira D. D., Souza-Santos L. P., Silva H. K. P. and Macedo S. J. 2014. Toxicity of sediments from a mangrove forest patch in an urban area in Pernambuco (Brazil). *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf* 104:373–378.
- Palma P., Ledo L., and Alvarenga P. 2016. Ecotoxicological endpoints, are they useful tools to support ecological status assessment in strongly modified water bodies. *Sci. Total. Environ.* 541:119–129.
- Pane E.F., Smith C., McGeer J.C. and Wood C.M., 2003. Mechanisms of acute and chronic waterborne nickel toxicity in the freshwater cladoceran, *Daphnia magna*. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 37:4382–4389.
- Pane E.F., McGeer J.C., Wood C.M. 2004. Effects of chronic waterborne nickel exposure on two successive generations of *Daphnia magna*. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 23:1051–1056
- Pavlaki M. D., Ferreira A. L. G., Soares A. M. V. M., and Loureiro S. 2014. Changes of chemical chronic toxicity to *Daphnia magna* under different food regimes. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf*. 109:48–55.
- Pengchai P., Furumai H. and Nakajima F. 2004. Source apportionment of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in road dust in Tokyo. *Polycycl. Aromatic Compd.* 24:773-789.
- Persoone G., Van d.V.A., Van S.M. and Nayer D.B. 1989. Predictive value of laboratory tests with aquatic invertebrates: influence of experimental conditions. *Aquat. Toxicol.*14:149-166.
- Powlesland C. and George J. 1986. Acute and chronic toxicity of nickel to larvae of *Chironomus riparius* (Meigen). *Env. Pollut.* (Ser. A)42: 47–64.
- Radix P. Papantoniou C., Roman G., Saouter E., Gallotti-schmitt S., M. Le, and P. Vasseur. 2000. Comparison of four chronic toxicity tests using algae, bacteria, and invertebrates assessed with sixteen chemicals. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 194:186– 194.
- Raimondo S., Montague B. and Barron M. G. 2007. Determinants of variability in acute- to-chronic toxicity ratios in aquatic invertebrates and fish. *Environ*.

Toxicol. Chem 26:2019–2023.

- Reinier M. M., Ross V.H., David A.S. and Stuart L.S. 2009. Development and application of a rapid amphipod reproduction test for sediment quality assessment. *Environ.Toxicol.Chem.* 28(6):1244–1254.
- Retrum J. B., Hasiotis S. T., Kaesler R. L., Retrum J. B., Hasiotis S. T., and Kaesler R. L. 2011. Neoichnological experiments with the freshwater ostracode *Heterocypris Incongruens*:Implication for reconstructing aquatic settings. *PALAIOS*.26(8), 509–518
- Ringenary M. J., Alan H. M. Tanacredi J. T., Schreibman M. P. and Kostarelos K. 2007. Longterm sediment bioassay of lead toxicity in two generations of the marine amphipod *Elasmopus Laevis*. *Env. tox.chem* 26(8):1700–1710.
- Rossi V, Gandolfi A and Menozzi P. 1996. Egg diapause and clonal structure in partenogenetic populations of *Heterocypris incongruens* (Ostracoda). *Hydrobiologia*. 320:45-54.
- Rossi V., Bartoli M., Bellavere C., Gandolfi A., Salvador E., and Menozzi P. 2004. *Heterocypris* (Crustacea: Ostracoda) from the Isole Pelagie (Sicily, Italy): Hatching phenology of resting eggs. *Ital. J. Zool.* 71(3):223-231.
- Rossi V., Benassi G., Belletti F., Menozzi P. 2011. Colonization, population dynamics, predatory behaviour and cannibalism in *Heterocypris incongruens* (Crustacea:Ostracoda). J. Limnol. 70:102-108.
- Rossi V., Martorella A., and Menozzi P. 2013. Hatching phenology and voltinism of *Heterocypris barbara* (Crustacea: Ostracoda) from Lampedusa (Sicily, Italy). *J. Limnol*. 72(2):227–237.
- Rossi V., Albini D., Pellegri V. and Menozzi P. 2015. Early and late maternal effects on hatching phenology of *Heterocypris incongruens* (crustacea: Ostracoda). *J.Exp.Zool. Part A Ecol. Genet. Physiol.* 9999A:1-10.
- Ruiz F., González-Regalado M. L., Borrego J., Abad M., and Pendón J. G. 2004. ostracoda and foraminifera as short-term tracers of environmental changes in very areas: the Odiel Estuary (SW Spain). *Env. Poll.* 129(1):49-61.
- Sancho E., Villarroel M. J., and Ferrando M. D. 2016. Assessment of chronic effects of tebuconazole on survival, reproduction and growth of *Daphnia magna* after different exposure times. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.*124:10–17.
- Santorufo L., Carotenuto R., Rocco A., De Luca Picione F. and Maisto G. 2012. *Orthonychiurus pseudostachianus* (collembola) as a toxicity test organism and selection of an ecotoxicological test battery to assess soil quality. *Appl. Soil Ecol* 54:49-54.
- Scientific committee on health and environmental risks (SCHER). 2007. Risk assessment report on zinc. European Commission Health & Consumer Protection DG, Brussels.

- Sevilla J. B., Nakajima F. and Yamamoto K. 2013. Effect of Food and Light on the sensitivity of copper and zinc to freshwater benthic ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens. J. Water. Env. Technol.* 11(3):249–261.
- Sevilla J. B., Nakajima F.and Kasuga I. 2014. Comparison of aquatic and dietary exposure of heavy metals Cd, Cu, and Zn to benthic ostracod *Heterocypris* incongruens. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 33(7):1624–1630.
- Shuhaimi-Othman M., Nadzifah Y., Nur-Amalina R., and Umirah N. S. 2012.Deriving Freshwater quality criteria for iron, lead, nickel, and zinc for protection of aquatic life in Malaysia. *Sci. World. J.* 2012:1–7.
- Suhaimi-Othman M., Yakub N. and N. a Ramle. 2014. Sensitivity of freshwater organisms to nickel. *Int. Conf. Biol. Chem. Environ. Sci.* 12–15.
- Sibley P.K., Ankley G.T., Cotter A.M. and Lenoard E.N. 1996. Predicting chronic toxicity of sediments spiked with zinc: An evaluation of the acid-volatile sulfide (AVS) model using a life-cycle test with the midge *Chironomus tentans*. *Environ*. *Toxicol. Chem.* 15:2102-2112.
- Singh H.P., Mahajan P., Kaur S., Batish D.R., Kohli R.K. 2013. Chromium toxicity and tolerance in plants. *Environ. Chem. Lett.* 11:229–254.
- Simpson S.L., Batley G.E., Chariton A.A., Stauber J.L., King C.K., Chapman J.C., Hyne R.V.,Gale S.A., Roach A.C.and Maher W.A. 2005. Handbook for sediment quality assessment. commonwealth scientific and industrial research organisation, Bangor, New South Wales, Australia.
- Soucek D.J., Dickinson A, and Major K.M. 2016. Sediment Ecotoxicology Current research on laboratory methods:selection of food combinations to optimize survival, growth and reproduction of the amphipod *Hyalella azteca* in static renewal water-only laboratory exposures. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 9999(9999):1–9.
- Stankovic S., Jovic M., Stankovic R.A., Katsikas L. 2011. Heavy metals in seafood mussels.Risks for human health. In: Lichtfouse et al (eds) Environmental chemistry for a sustainable world, vol 1, chap 9, 64:311–375, ISBN-10: 9400724411. ISBN-13: 978-94007244119.
- Stankovic S., Kalaba P., and Stankovic A. R. 2014. Biota as toxic metal indicators *Environ. Chem. Lett.* 12(1):63–84.
- Takada H., Onda T., Harada M. and Ogura N. 1991. Distribution and sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in street dust from the Tokyo Metropolitan. *Sci. Total. Environ.* 107:45-69.
- Tang W., Shan B., Zhang W., Zhang H., Wang L. and Ding Y. 2014. Heavy metal pollution characteristics of surface sediments in different aquatic ecosystems in eastern China: A comprehensive understanding. *PLoS. One.* 9(9).

- Taub Frieda B. 2004. Fish 430 lectures (Biological Impacts of Pollutants on Aquatic Organisms), University of Washington College of Ocean and Fishery Sciences, Seattle, WA.
- Torokne A. and Toro K. 2010. Evaluation of the toxicity of river and creek sediments in Hungary with two different methods. *Environ Toxicol*. 25(5): 504–509.
- Tsukahara K., 2012. Development of a chronic sediment toxicity test using the number of eggs of ostracod (in Japanese). Bachelor Thesis, Department of Urban Engineering, The University of Tokyo, Japan.
- Tsukahara K., 2014. Development of a chronic sediment toxicity test using the number of eggs and hatched individuals of ostracod (in Japanese). Master Thesis, Department of Urban Engineering, The University of Tokyo, Japan.
- Tsushima K., Naito W., and Kamo M. 2010. Assessing ecological risk of zinc in Japan using organism- and population-level species sensitivity distributions. *Chemosphere*. 80(5):563–569.
- Turesson E. U., Stiernström S., Minten J., Adolfsson-Erici M., Bengtsson B.E. and Breitholtz M. 2007. Development and reproduction of the freshwater harpacticoid copepod Attheyella crassa for assessing sediment-associated toxicity. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 83(3):180–189.
- US EPA. 1980. Ambient water quality criteria for chromium. U.S. Environ. Protection Agency Rep. 440/5-80-035.
- US EPA. 1982. The U.S. Environmental protection agency. List of priority pollutants. Office of water. Water quality standards database. Office of the federal registration (OFR) Appendix A: priority pollutants. Fed reg. 47: 52309.
- US EPA. 1986. Ambient water quality criteria for nickel—1986. EPA 440/5-86/004. Office of Water, Washington, DC.
- US EPA. 1994a. Assessment guidance document chapter6: assessment and remediation of contaminated sediments (ARCS) program. Final/Technical Report. US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC.
- US EPA.1994b.Using toxicity tests in ecological risk assessment, "ECO Update," Office of emergency remedial response hazardous site evaluation division(5204G) vol. II, pp. 1–12.
- US EPA. 1995. Water quality criteria documents for the protection of aquatic life in ambient water. EPA820/B96/001. Office of Water, Washington, DC.
- US EPA. 1998. EPA's Contaminated Sediment Management Strategy. EPA823/R98/001. Final/Technical Report.US Environmental Protection Agency, office of water,Washington, DC.

- US EPA. 2000. Methods for measuring the toxicity and bioaccumulation of sedimentassociated contaminants with freshwater invertebrates. EPA/600/R-99/064. U.S.Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development.
- US EPA. 2001a. Methods for assessing the chronic toxicity of marine and estuarine sediment-associated contaminants with the amphipod *Leptocheirus plumulosus*, first ed. EPA/600/R-01/020. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances.Washington, DC.
- US. EPA. 2001b. Methods for collection, storage and manipulation of sediments for chemical and toxicological analyses: Technical manual. EPA 823-B-01-002. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC
- US EPA. 2002. Methods for measuring the acute toxicity of effluents and receiving waters to freshwater and marine organisms, 5th ed. EPA/821/R-02/012.Washington, DC. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development.
- US EPA. 2007. Sediment Toxicity Identification Evaluation (TIE) Phase I, II, III Guidance document. Washington D.C., EPA/600/R-07/080.
- Vandekerkhove J., Martens K., Rossetti G., Mesquita-Joanes F. and Namiotko T. 2013. Extreme tolerance to environmental stress of sexual and parthenogenetic resting eggs of Eucypris virens (Crustacea, Ostracoda). *Freshw. Biol.* 58:237–247.
- Wang D.G., Yang M., Jia H.L., Zhou L. and Li Y.F. 2009. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban street dust and surface soil: Comparisons of concentration, profile, and source. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 56:173–180.
- Watanabe H., Nakajima F., Kasuga I. and Furumai H. 2011. Toxicity evaluation of road dust in the runoff process using a benthic ostracod, *Heterocypris* incongruens.Sci. *Total. Environ.* 409:2366-2372.
- Watanabe H., Nakajima F., Kasuga I. and Furumai H. 2013. Application of whole sediment toxicity identification evaluation procedures to road dust using a benthic ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens*. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 89, 245-251.
- Wogram J. and Liess M.M. 2001. Rank ordering of macroinvertebrate species sensitivity to toxic compound by comparison with that of *Daphnia magna*. *Bull. Envi. Cont. Toxic*. 67:360-367.
- Yannopoulos S., Basbas S., and Giannopoulou I. 2013. Water bodies pollution due to highways stormwater runoff: Measures and legislative framework. *Glob.Nest J* 15(1):85–92.

APPENDIX A

Analytical grade of chromium chloride hexahydrate (CrCl₃.6H₂O), potassium dichromate (K₂Cr₂O₇) and zinc chloride (ZnCl₂) were used as the reference toxicants. The 100 mg/l stock solution was prepared by dissolving 10 mg CrCl₃.6H₂O and K₂Cr₂O₇ in 100 ml Milli-Q water, separately. For zinc solution, 21 mg of zinc chloride (ZnCl₂) were dissolved in 100 ml Milli-Q water. The stock solutions of each metal were measured, and the serial dilutions from each measured stock solutions were prepared by diluting with standard freshwater (SFW) in 10 times interval. Exposure concentrations to 0.048, 0.48, 4.8, 48 and 480 µg/l of Cr (III), 0.11, 1.1, 11, 105 and 1050 µg/l of Cr (VI) and 0.26, 2.6, 26, 255, 2550 µg/l of Zn were used for the ostracod toxicity test. The exposure concentrations were half as much as measured values because of the subsequent dilution by algal food suspension.

Table A1. Overlying water quality, 14-d mortality and 14-d growth inhibition after the sediment exposure phase to different concentrations of Cr (III) solution.

Cr (III) (µg/l)	Control	0.048	0.48	4.8	48	480
рН	8.3±0.20	8.3±0.05	8.5±0.08	8.2±0.12	8.3±0.13	8.3±0.05
Conductivity (mS/cm)	1.12±0.20	0.96±0.08	1.11±0.19	1.00±0.09	0.96±0.03	0.95±0.03
Salinity (%)	0.06 ± 0.01	0.05±0.01	0.05±0.01	0.04 ± 0.00	0.04 ± 0.00	0.04 ± 0.00
14-d mortality%	6.7±8.2	21.7±14.7	20.0±6.32	25.0±15.2*	25.0±5.5*	20.0±0.00
14-d body length (µm)	1230±93.7	1191±100	1107±146	1176±72	1214±47	1202±131
Growth Inhibition	0.0±9.0	3.7±9.6	11.8±13.9	5.2±6.9	1.5±4.5	2.7±12.6

Values indicate the mean \pm standard deviation.* p < 0.05 in Dunnett's test

Table A2. Overlying water quality, 14-d mortality and 14-d growth inhibition after the sediment exposure phase to different concentrations of Cr (VI) solution.

Cr(VI) (µg/l)	Control	0.11	1.1	11	105	1050
pH	8.3±0.20	8.5±0.00	8.4±0.12	8.4±0.11	8.4±0.00	8.3±0.07
Conductivity (mS/cm)	1.12±0.20	1.05 ± 0.01	1.05 ± 0.07	1.04 ± 0.06	1.02±0.01	0.98±0.08
Salinity (%)	0.06 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.00	0.05 ± 0.00	0.05±0.01	0.05±0.00
14-d mortality%	6.7±8.2	18.3±13.3	30.0±15.5*	25.0±12.2*	21.7±9.8	26.7±8.2*
14-d body length (µm)	1230±93.7	1221±32	1153±75	1174±67	1134±89	1047±107*
Growth Inhibition	0.0±9.0	0.9±3.1	7.4±7.2	5.4±6.4	9.2±8.5	17.5±10.2*

Values indicate the mean \pm standard deviation.* p < 0.05 in Dunnett's test

Table A3. Overlying water quality, 14-d mortality and 14-d growth inhibition after the sediment exposure phase to different concentrations of Zn solution.

Zn (µg/l)	Control	0.26	2.6	26	255	2550
рН	8.2±0.10	8.6±0.07	8.5±0.07	8.3±0.00	8.6±0.07	8.5±0.00
Conductivity (mS/cm)	1.30±0.13	1.26±0.13	1.29±0.13	1.30±0.09	1.53±0.11	1.38±0.03
Salinity (%)	0.07±0.01	0.06±0.00	0.07±0.01	0.06±0.00	0.08±0.01	0.06±0.01
14-d mortality%	8.3±4.1	66.7±16.3*	86.7±5.2*	86.7±12.1*	81.7±18.3*	63.3±26.6*
14-d body length (µm)	1247±36.3	1157±86	1161±66	1164±77	1107±153*	1129±126*
Growth Inhibition	0.0±3.4	8.4±8.1	8.1±6.2	7.8±7.2	13.1±14.4*	11.1±11.8*

	Cont	rol				Exposure	e concentra	tions (µg C	r(III)/l)			
Parameters			0.0	948	0.	48	4	.8		48	480	
	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals
N (ostracod tested)	60	38	60	6	60	25	60	12	60	18	60	27
Egg-laying ratio (%) (n _w =6)	63.3±15.1		10±12.7*		41.7±27.1		20±11*		30±21*		45±19.7	
Life span (day)	22.8±1.8 [21-26] (nw=6)	24.2±2.4 [21-27] (nw=6)	19.0±1.8* [17-21] (nw=6)	27.9±4.2 [25-33] (nw=3)	20.5±2.7 [16- 24] (nw=6)	24.8.6±0.8 [24-26] (nw=5)	19.5±1.6* [17-22] (nw=6)	24.3±1.5 [22-26] (nw=5)	20.3±2.1 [17-23] (nw=6)	26.3±1.8 [23- 28] (nw=6)	21.8±1.3 [20-23] (nw=6)	26.9±2.4 [24-31] (nw=6)
mean±SD [range]	22.8±5.2 [14-38] (n=60)	24.4±5.3 [14-38] (n=38)	19.0±5.1* [14-38] (n=60)	29.0±6.3 [24- 38] (n=6)	20.5±4.9 [14-32] (n=60)	24.9±2.6 [20- 32] (n=25)	19.5±4.4* [14-28] (n=60)	24.3±2.5 [20-28] (n=12)	20.3±5.4* [14-38] (n=60)	26.2±3.7 [20- 38] (n=18)	21.8±6.0 [14-40] (n=60)	26.7±4.3 [22-40] (n=27)
First day of brooding (day) mean±SD [range]	-	21.4±0.9 [20-23] (nw=6) 21.4±2.2 [18-26] (n=38)	-	23.3±1.2* [22-24] (nw=3) 23.0±1.1 [22- 24] (n=6)	-	22.4±0.8 [22-24] (nw=5) 22.6±2.1 [20-28] (n=25)	-	21.8±0.8 [21-23] (nw=5) 21.8±1.3 [20-24] (n=12)	-	22.4±1.3 [21-24] (nw=6) 22.0±1.5 [20-24] (n=18)	-	22.1±0.8 [21-23] (nw=6) 21.9±1.7 [24-26] (n=27)
		22.8±1.9 [21- 25] (nw=6)		25.2±1.8 [24-28] (nw=3)		22.9±0.9 [22-24] (nw=5)		22.4±1.3 [21-24] (nw=5)		23.8±1.4 [22-26] (nw=6)		23.3±1.1 [22-25] (nw=6)
Mean day of egg production mean±SD [range]	-	23.0±3.3 [18-31] (n=38)	-	25.7±3.4 [22-31] (n=6)	-	23.1±2.2 [20-29] (n=25)	-	22.4±1.7 [20-26] (n=12)	-	23.5±2.6 [20-31] (n=18)	-	23.1±2.6 [20-31] (n=27)
Total eggs produced (egg)	645	5	2	16	2	65	1:	33	249		49 341	
Lifetime egg production	10.8±8.4 [1-23] (nw=6)	15.9±10.8 [3-32] (nw=6)	3.6±8.2 [0-20] (nw=6)	24.9±36.8 [1-67] (nw=3)	4.4±4.2 [0-12] (nw=6)	9.5±4.3 [5-16] (nw=5)	2.2±2.4 [0-6] (nw=6)	10.9±8.8 [2-21] (nw=5)	4.2±3.9 [0-11] (nw=6)	13.0±5.5 [6-19] (nw=6)	5.7±3.3 [2-10] (nw=6)	12.6±6.2 [8-24] (nw=6)
(egg/ind.) mean±SD [range]	10.8±21.2 [0-109] (n=60)	17.0±24.7 [1-109] (n=38)	3.6±17.8* [0-126] (n=60)	36.0±48.4 [1-126] (n=6)	4.4±9.4* [0-50] (n=60)	10.6±12.2 [1-50] (n=25)	2.2±6.6* [0-37] (n=60)	11.1±11.2 [1-37] (n=12)	4.2±9.7* [0-63] (n=60)	13.8±13.5 [4-63] (n=18)	5.7±11.1 [0-71] (n=60)	12.6±13.7 [1-71] (n=27)
Hatching ratio (%)	14.	1	15	5.7	5.3	3**	12	2.8	8.4**		4.7**	
F2 generation rate	rate 1.52 0.57 0.23 0.28 0.35).35	0.	27							

Table A4. Life history and reproduction characteristics of ostracod under control condition and after the exposure to the different concentrations of chromium (III)

Values indicate the mean \pm standard deviation.* p < 0.05 in Dunnett' test, ** p < 0.05 in Chi-square' test, n= calculated based on individual basis, nw=number of well (10 individual each) those endpoint were evaluated based on well replicates, not individual basis.

	Cor	atrol			E	Exposure co	oncentratio	ons (µg Cr(VI)/l)			
Parameters	Cor	III OI	0.11		1.1		1	1	10)5	10	50
	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals
N (ostracod tested)	60	38	60	9	60	16	60	14	60	24	60	24
Egg-laying ratio (%) (nw=6)	63.3±15.1		15±16	.4*	26.7±2	6.6*	23.3±	±17.5*	40±	25.3	40±	14.1
Life snan (dav)	22.8±1.8 [21-26] (nw=6)	24.2±2.4 [21-27] (nw=6)	18.5±2.8 [16-24] (nw=6)	22.6±4.3 [18-27] (nw=4)	19.4±4.0 [16-26] (nw=6)	26.3±4.2 [20-29] (nw=4)	18.9±2.1 [17-22] (nw=6)	25.5±4.9[18- 32] (nw=6)	21.4±3.8 [17-28] (nw=6)	27.5±3.3 [22-31] (nw=6)	20.4±1.6 [18-23] (nw=6)	27.2±2.3 [24-30] (nw=6)
mean±SD [range]	22.8±5.2 [14-38] (n=60)	24.4±5.3 [14-38] (n=38)	18.5±4.2* [14-36] (n=60)	24.7±5.7 [18-36] (n=9)	19.4±6.1* [14-42] (n=60)	27.4±5.8 [18-42] (n=16)	18.9±4.9* [14-32] (n=60)	26.0±3.6 [18-32] (n=14)	21.4±7.3 [14-38] (n=60)	29.0±5.0* [22-38] (n=24)	20.4±6.5 [14-42] (n=60)	26.8±5.3 [18-42] (n=24)
First day of brooding (day) mean±SD [range]	-	21.4±0.9 [20-23] (nw=6) 21.4±2.2 [18-26] (n=38)	-	$ \begin{array}{c} 20.4\pm2.1 \\ [18-23] \\ (nw=4) \\ 21.3\pm2.2 \\ [18-26] \\ (n=9) \\ \end{array} $	-	21.6±1.3 [20-23] (nw=4) 21.9±1.7 [18-26] (n=16)	-	21.7±1.9 [18-23] (nw=6) 22.1±1.8 [18-24] (n=14)	-	$\begin{array}{c} 21.9\pm1.0\\ [21-24]\\ (nw=6)\\ 21.8\pm1.6\\ [20-26]\\ (n=24) \end{array}$	-	21.7±0.5 [21-23] (nw=6) 21.8±1.6 [18-26] (n=24)
Mean day of egg production mean±SD [range]	-	22.8±1.9 [21-25] (nw=6) 23.0±3.3 [18-31] (n=38)	-	(n = 4) 21.2±2.7 [18-24] (nw=4) 22.5±3.1 [18-27] (n=9)	-	23.2±2.2 [20-25] (nw=4) 23.9±2.5 [18-29] (n=16)	-	(n 1 2 2 3.1 ± 2.7 [18-25] (nw=6) 23.9 ± 2.4 [18-27] (n=14)	-	(n 21) 24.2±1.9 [22-27] (nw=6) 24.8±2.4 [22-30] (n=24)	-	(n 2 1) 23.6±1.2 [22-25] (nw=6) 23.4±2.7 [18-30] (n=24)
Total eggs produced (egg)	64	45	189		548	3	2	68	80	50	73	34
Lifetime egg production	10.8±8.4 [1-23] (nw=6)	15.9±10.8 [3-32] (nw=6)	3.2±5.5 [0-14] (nw=6)	15.8±19.9 [1-44] (nw=4)	9.1±11.3 [0-29] (nw=6)	30.0±16.5 [7-42] (nw=4)	4.5±4.0 [0-9] (nw=6)	17.2±12.9 [2-38] (nw=6)	14.3±15.6 [1-43] (nw=6)	27.2±17.4 [7-54] (nw=6)	12.2±5.8 [6-23] (nw=6)	32.1±13.1 [16-53] (nw=6)
(egg/ind.) mean±SD [range]	10.8±21.2 [0-109] (n=60)	17.0±24.7 [1-109] (n=38)	3.2±15.6 [0-116] (n=60)	21.0±37.0 [1-116] (n=9)	9.1±22.2 [0-101] (n=60)	34.3±32.1 [1-101] (n=16)	4.5±10.4 [0-40] (n=60)	19.1±13.7 [2-40] (n=14)	14.3±28.0 [0-155] (n=60)	35.8±34.7 [5-155] (n=24)	12.2±22.0 [0-112] (n=60)	30.6±25.7 [2-112] (n=24)
Hatching ratio (%)	14	4.1	3.7*	*	14.5	8	23.1**		16.6**		12.5**	
F2 generation rate	F2 generation rate 1.52		0.12		1.35		1.03		2.38		1.53	

Table A5. Life history and reproduction characteristics of ostracod under control condition and after the exposure to the different concentrations of chromium (VI)

Values indicate the mean ± standard deviation.* p<0.05 in Dunnett' test, ** p<0.05 in Chi-square' test, n= calculated based on individual basis, nw=number of well (10 individual each) those endpoint were evaluated based on well replicates, not individual basis.

	Cor	trol				Expos	sure concen	trations (µ	g Zn/l)			
Parameters	Con		0.2	26	2	2.6	2	26	25	55	2550	
	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals	All individ uals	Egg- laying individ uals
n (ostracod tested)	60	45	60	11	60	6	60	8	60	9	60	13
Egg-laying ratio (%) (nw=6)	75±	75±18.7		18.3*	10.0	±6.3*	13.3±	12.1*	15.0±	18.7*	21.7±	19.4*
Life span (day) mean±SD [range]	23.8±2.7 [21-28] (nw=6)	25.8±2.1 [22-28] (nw=6)	17.3±2.7* [15-22] (nw=6)	27.1±3.4 [24-32] (nw=4)	15.3±0.6 * [14-16] (nw=6)	26.2±3.5 [23-32] (nw=5)	15.2±1.2* [14-17] (nw=6)	23.0±1.2 [22-24] (nw=4)	15.7±1.7* [14-19] (nw=6)	23.6±2.4 [22-27] (nw=4)	16.3±1.8* [15-20] (nw=6)	20.9±2.6* [18-24] (nw=6)
First day of brooding (day) mean±SD [range]	-	19.5±0.5 [19-20] (nw=6)	-	19.3±1.6 [18-22] (nw=4)	-	21.0±1.0 [20-22] (nw=5)	_	19.3±1.0 [18-20] (nw=4)	-	18.5±1.0 [18-20] (nw=4)	_	18.4±0.5 [18-19] (nw=6)
Mean day of egg production mean±SD [range]	-	21.7±1.1 [20-23] (nw=6)	-	22.4±2.2 [20-25] (nw=4)	-	22.3±1.5 [21-25] (nw=5)	-	20.4±1.0 [19-22] (nw=4)	-	20.4±1.1 [19-22] (nw=4)	_	19.0±1.0* [18-20] (nw=5)
Total eggs produced (egg)	17	96	59	7	1	46	2	34	32	27	17	70
Lifetime egg production (egg/ind.) mean±SD [range]	29.9±15.8 [13-53] (nw=6)	36.9±12.4 [26-53] (nw=6)	11.9±11.5* [1-26] (nw=5)	38.5±24.1 [6-65] (nw=5)	2.9±2.3* [1-7] (nw=5)	27.8±24.6 [7-66] (nw=5)	5.9±4.8* [2-13] (nw=4)	26.8±12.1 [14-42] (nw=4)	8.2±8.2* [1-18] (nw=4)	29.5±22.1 [6-57] (nw=4)	2.8±3.2* [1-9] (nw=6)	11.0±5.2 [6-20] (nw=6)
Hatching ratio (%)	ng ratio (%) 17		23.6**		8.2**		26.9**		16.2		35.9**	
F2 generation rate	5.	08	2.35		0.20		1.05		0.88		1.02	

Table A6. Life history characteristics of ostracod under control condition and after the exposure to the different concentrations of zinc

Values indicate the mean \pm standard deviation.* p<0.05 in Dunnett' test, ** p<0.05 in Chi-square' test, n= calculated based on individual basis, nw=number of well (10 individual each) those endpoint were evaluated based on well replicates, not individual basis.

APPENDIX B

SAMPLING AND SAMPLE DETAILS OF URBAN ROAD DUST

Road dust (<2000 μ m) used in this study was collected from road side in Tokyo in 2012 (described in Khanal et al, 2014 as sample#St.6). Samples were sieved through 2000 μ m nylon mesh. Then, first air dried at room temperature before freeze drying and stored in refrigerator till analysis. The dried samples were then sieved from respective cut of size (250 μ m and 63 μ m). The <2000 μ m fraction defined as the total fraction, which represents the portion carried away by road runoff (Watanabe et al., 2011; Khanal et al., 2014), 250 to 63 μ m cut off size represents the dominant fraction in road runoff (Aryal et al., 2005) and 63 μ m is the fraction separating the sand (>63 μ m) and fine fraction (silt and clay, <63 μ m) (Tsakovski et al., 2011) represents the dominant fraction contained the pollutants carried from runoff suspension in sediment (De-Groot et al., 1982). Table B1shows the sampling details and Table B2 shows the sample details.

Sample Collector	Highway sweeping vehicles
Road Type	Urban highway
Location	Tama river to Chidori cho
Coordinates	N35° 31'01"44, E 139° 47' 30''11
	N35° 40'23"00, E 139° 55' 38''22
Sampling Length	30 km
Sampling Date	September 6, 2012
Antecedent dry weather period ^a	64 hour/(0.5mm)
Vehicles frequency ^b	$64 - 171 \times 10^3$ vehicles/day

Table. B1 Sampling details of the urban road dust (Khanal et al., 2014).

^a Japan Weather Association, 2013.

^b Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism, Japan, 2013.

The figure in parentheses indicates rainfall (mm) in the last 24 h

Particle size distribution (by weight)	Organic matter content (as ignition loss)	Heavy metal concentration (mg/kg dry wt.)	PAH concentration (mg/kg dry wt.)
250–2000 μm:98.8% 63–250μm:0.8% <63 μm:0.4%	4.1%	Cr:51 Ni:28 Cu:74 Zn:264 Cd:0.33 Pb:11	PHE:0.14 ANT:0.03 FLT:0.07 PYR:0.11 BaA:0.02 CHR:0.05 BbF:0.17 BkF:0.04 BaP:0.05 IPY:0.10 DBA:0.02 BPE:0.15 ∑ 12-PAHs:1.0

Table B2 Sample details of the urban road dust (Khanal et al., 2014).

PHE: phenanthrene, ANT:anthracene, FLT: Fluoranthene, PYR: pyrene, BaA:Benzo(a)anthracene, CHR:chrysene, BbF:Benzo(b)fluoranthene, BkF:Benzo(k)fluoranthene, BaP: Benzo(a)pyrene, IPY:Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene, DBA: Dibenzene(a,h) antracene, BPE: Benzo(g,h,i)perylene.

APPENDIX C

	рі	7 1	р	Е Э	2 1 25	20/ DD	6.25	0/ DD	12.5	0/ DD	25%	50%
Danamatana	, NI	2_ 1	ĸ	Ki _2		970 KD	0.25	70KD	12.5	70 ND	RD	RD
Parameters	All individu als	Egg- laying individu als	All individu als	Egg- laying individu als	All individu als	Egg- laying individu als	All individu als	Egg- laying individu als	All individu als	Egg- laying individu als	All individu als	All individu als
n (number of ostracod)	80	55	80	48	80	43	80	36	80	36	80	80
Egg-laying ratio (%)	68.8	±23.0	60.0)±11.2	54.0	±22.6	45.0	±25.6	45.0	±29.8	0	0
Life span (day) [range]	25.9±2.8 [20-30]	30.2±3.2 [25-35]	27.4±2.0 [24-30]	32.3±3.1 [26-36]	25.9 ± 3.9 [21-31]	31.6 ± 3.3 [27-38]	24.2±4.1 [19-28]	31.0±2.5 [29-36]	24.5±4.0 [19-30]	32.5±1.8 [30-35]	14.1±0.1	14.5±1.5
First day of brooding (day) [range]	-	22.1±0.9 [21-23]	-	25.5±1.1 [24-27]	-	22.5±1.8 [20-26]	-	24.2±2.1 ^{a*} [23-28]	-	25.2±1.6 [23-28]	-	-
Mean day of egg production (day) [range]	-	24.6±1.8 [23-28]	-	27.8±1.4 [26-30]	-	26.0±2.5 [24-31]	-	26.6±1.4 [25-28]	-	27.6±1.2 [26-30]	-	-
Total number of eggs produced (egg)	17	/14	1	340	17	793	12	264	9	74	-	-
Mean lifetime egg production (egg/ind.) [range]	21.4±10.8 [10-43]	31.2±29.9 [1-109]	16.8±7.5 [8-28]	27.9±19.8 [1-82]	22.4±13.4 [4-48]	41.7±37.5 [1-154]	15.8±10.8 [1-31]	35.1±29.9 [1-122]	12.2±9.80 [3-29]	27.1±21.4 [3-82]	0	0
Hatching ratio (%)	12	2.8	,	7.4	1:	2.8	4.4	4 ^{a**}	16.8 ^{b**}		-	-
F2 generation rate	2	.7	1	.24	2	2.9	0.	0.69 2.1		0	0	

Table	C1. L	ife history	characteristic	s of ostracoo	d under contr	ol condition	and after the	e exposure to	the different	concentrations	of road d	lust.
-------	--------------	-------------	----------------	---------------	---------------	--------------	---------------	---------------	---------------	----------------	-----------	-------

mean \pm standard deviation; values in parenthesis indicate the observed range in min-max. * p<0.05 in Dunnett's test, ** p<0.05 in Chi-square test ^a The 1st batch of RF_1 was conducted with 3.125%, 6.25%, and 50% RD sample. The 2nd batch of the test (RF_2) was conducted with 12.5% and 25% RD sample.

APPENDIX D

Effect of pre-incubation conditions on hatching success of ostracod *H*. *incongruens*

1. Introductions

Hatching ratio is one of the key parameters to evaluate species continuation. *H. incongruens* is known to lay both rapidly- and delayed-hatching eggs (Havel and Talbott, 1995; Rossi et al., 1996; Retrum et al., 2011; Rossi et al., 2011, 2013); hence, the remaining eggs after the hatching observation may be still viable as resting eggs which are expected to be hatched after some time. Rossi et al. (2004) reported that the hatching time of the ostracod was related to water chemistry, in particular to oxygen concentration and pH. It has also been proposed that variability in hatching might be linked to its genetic variability or to the so-called "mother effect" (i.e., age, feeding history and environmental condition of the mother) (Rossi et al., 1996). Temperature is also an important abiotic factor influencing survival, reproduction and hatching success of organisms. The various combinations effects of freezing, drying, high temperatures on the eggs of ostracod, *H. incongruens* were studied. The experiments showed that some ostracod eggs were capable of hatch despite being wet, or dried under different temperature (Angel and Hancock, 1989).

Virtually all the chronic toxicity test required the long time to conduct in addition to the hatching test. Hatching test in this study is required to do in parallel with the reproduction phase. In order to reduce these kinds of burden, it is necessary to develop a feasible procedure to determine hatching rate of the eggs produced. We presumed that it may be possible either to keep the produced eggs dry, wet or frozen (-20°C) for a period of time and subsequently to hatch them in an appropriate situation. The initial idea of this study is pre-incubation the ostracod egg to preserve them and perform the hatching test in the later time.

The objectives of this chapter is to determine the hatching success of ostracod egg *H*. *incongruens* under different pre-incubation conditions and temperature in order to further develop feasibility procedures on hatching test in the chronic ostracod toxicity test.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Reagents and Test organisms

Reagents used in this chapter were reported in details in chapter 3. Standard freshwater (SFW) was commonly used for ostracod culturing and preparation for TetraMin suspension. Culture medium: green algae *Scenedesmus acutus* N-94, used as food for ostracod, were cultured by culture medium. Freshwater benthic ostracod *Heterocypris incongruens* was purchased as dormant eggs (cysts) from MicroBioTests Inc. (www.microbiotests.be). A detail of hatching of ostracod cysts prior to the toxicity test was also described in chapter 3 (section 3.3).

2.2 Effect of pre-incubation conditions on hatching response of ostracod, *H. incongruens*

To determine the hatching success of ostracod egg under different pre-incubation conditions and temperature, the ostracod neonates were exposed to reference sediment provide in the Ostracodtoxkit following the procedure in the 14d-sediment exposure phase. After the reproduction phase was started, continually counted the ostracod egg produced and separately transferred the ostracod eggs in the following four diffrent treatments (Table G1) until all ostracod used death. The produced eggs were collected and separated in different treatments, then further observed the hatching ratio for 14 days after all ostracod tested death (Table G2). The hatching ratio for each concentrations was defined as the number of hatched eggs (neonates) within 14 days divided by the total number of egg produced.

2.3 Statistical analysis

All data and results were reported with standard deviation. Chi-square analysis was applied to determine the significant difference (p<0.05) between samples and control using Minitab 17 software.

T 11	$\mathbf{D}^{\mathbf{I}}$	n	•	1	1	C		1 1	C	4 1
Table	1 1/1	Pre.	.1ncu	ination	conditions	OT	eaa	nroduced	trom	ostracod
raute	$\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}$	110	meu	ioanon	contantions	UI.	UZZ	produced	mom	Usuacou

Treatment	Pre-incubation conditions	Medium	Tempt.	Photo period	Well plate
1	Control condition*	old SFW	25°C		6 well
2	Wet Condition	old SFW	4°C	24D	microplat
3	Dry Condition**	No SFW	4°C		e
4	Frozen wet	old SFW	-20°C		

* hatching test procedures as described in chapter 3 ** remove SFW from the eggs and kept the well plate in the desiccator for at least 1 h to confirm the dryness

Table D5 Determination the hatching success of ostracod eggs under different treatments

Treatment	Medium	Tempt.	photoperiod	Hatching determination		
1	Old SFW			Conducting in parallel with reproduction phase Every other day for 14 days (+2, 4, 6,, 14 days).		
2-4*	Immerse in 4 ml of new SFW	25°C	24D	Start after all ostracod death, Every day for first three days and after that conducting every other day (total is 14 days) (+1,2,3,5,7,9,, 14 days)		

*for frozen wet, thaw at 4°C for 24h-Dark before immerse in SFW

3. Results and discussion

3.1 Overlying water quality, culturing conditions and reproduction characteristics of ostracod

Overlying water quality, 14 d mortality, 14 d body length and reproduction characteristics of ostracod were reported in Table G3 and Table G4.

Table D6. Overlying water quality, mortality and body length of ostracod in sediment exposure test phase for 14 days (reference sediment).

Parameters					
рН	8.2±0.3				
Conductivity	1 ± 0.04				
Salinity	0.04 ± 0.01				
14-d mortality (%)	4±0.5				
14-d body length (µm)	996±103				

Parameters	Control				
	All individuals	Egg-laying individuals			
N (ostracod tested)	100	69			
Egg-laying ratio (%)	69				
Life span (day)	24.1±2.0	25.0±1.2			
mean±SD [range]	[19-27]	[23-27]			
	(n _w =10)	(n _w =10)			
First day of broading (day)		21.2±0.6			
First day of brooding (day)	-	[20-22]			
mean±5D [range]		(n _w =10)			
M		22.3±0.5			
Mean day of egg production	-	[21-23]			
mean±SD [range]		(n _w =10)			
Total eggs produced (egg)	1295				
Lifetime egg production (egg/ind.)	13.0±7.9	18.8 ± 15.6			
mean+SD [range]	[3-27]	[1-68]			
incan±0D [range]	(n _w =10)	(n=69)			
Total eggs produced (egg) Lifetime egg production (egg/ind.) mean±SD [range]	13.0±7.9 [3-27] (n _w =10)	1295 18.8±15.6 [1-68] (n=69)			

Table D7. Life history and reproduction characteristics of ostracod *H. incongruens* under control conditions.

nw = Calculation based on well replicates

Total egg produced of ostracod was 1295 eggs and distributed into following four treatments as shown in Table G5. After that the hatching test was done to determine the hatching ratio in each treatment.

	Pre-incubation	No. of egg distributed							
Treatment		in each day of egg production							
		Day	Day	Day	Day	Day	Day	Day	Total
		18	20	22	24	26	28	30	eggs
1	Control condition 25°C	6	56	118	109	29	7	5	330
2	Wet Condition 4°C	6	56	118	109	29	7	-	325
3	Dry Condition 4°C	5	55	117	108	29	7	-	321
4	Frozen wet -20°C	5	55	116	108	28	7	-	319

Table D8. Distribution number of eggs in each treatment

3.2 Effect of pre-incubation conditions on hatching success of ostracod *H*. *incongruens*

The hatching determination in the treatments 2 - 4 was performed after all ostracod death. For the treatment 4, the well plates were thaw at 4° c overnight before conducting the hatching test. Observation in hatching response was done every day for first three days and after that checking in every other day. Table G6 showed the hatching ratio of ostracod under different pre-incubation conditions. Statistically significance was found in the wet 4° C condition (*p*<0.05). Egg produced in dry 4° C and WET -20 °C were not hatched during observation periods.

	1	2	3	4		
Treatment	(Control 25°C)	(WET 4°C)	(DRY 4°C)	(Frozen wet -20°C)		
No.of egg	330	325	321	319		
Individual Hatched	62	108	0	0		
Hatching rate (%)	18.8	33.2**	0	0		

Table D9 Hatching ratio of ostracod under pre-incubation conditions

** p<0.05 in Chi-square test